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REGARDING THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

The information set forth herein has been obtained from the Issuer, the Institution and other sources 
which are believed to be reliable. As to information from the Institution, it is to be construed as a 
representation by the Institution and not by the Issuer. The information contained in this Official Statement 
is subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale hereunder 
shall under any circumstances create any implication that there has been no change in the information or 
opinions stated herein or in the affairs of the Issuer or the Institution since the date hereof. 

The Issuer has provided the information set forth under the headings “THE ISSUER” and 
“ABSENCE OF LITIGATION—The Issuer” and makes no representation, warranty or certification as to 
the adequacy or accuracy of the information set forth anywhere else in this Official Statement. 

The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. The 
Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, its 
responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of 
this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information 
and this Official Statement is not to be construed as the promise or guarantee of the Underwriter. 

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVERALLOT 
OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF 
THE BONDS AT LEVELS ABOVE THOSE WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE 
OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY 
TIME. THE UNDERWRITER AND ITS AFFILIATES MAY ALSO COMMUNICATE 
INDEPENDENT INVESTMENT RECOMMENDATIONS, MARKET COLOR OR TRADING 
IDEAS AND/OR PUBLISH OR EXPRESS INDEPENDENT RESEARCH VIEWS IN RESPECT 
OF THE BONDS AND MAY AT ANY TIME HOLD, OR RECOMMEND TO CLIENTS THAT 
THEY SHOULD ACQUIRE, LONG AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SUCH BONDS. 

The order and placement of material in this Official Statement, including its appendices, are not to 
be deemed a determination of relevance, materiality or importance, and all material in this Official 
Statement, including the appendices, must be considered in its entirety. 

The contents of this Official Statement are not to be construed as legal, business or tax advice. 
Prospective investors should consult their own attorneys and business and tax advisors as to legal, 
business and tax advice. In making an investment decision, prospective investors must rely on their own 
examination of the terms of the offering of the Bonds, including the merits and risks involved. This 
Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the Issuer and the 
purchasers or holders of any Bonds. 

THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS 
AMENDED, AND THE INDENTURE HAS NOT BEEN QUALIFIED UNDER THE TRUST 
INDENTURE ACT OF 1939, AS AMENDED, IN RELIANCE UPON EXEMPTIONS CONTAINED IN 
SUCH ACTS. THE REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION OF THE BONDS IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF SECURITIES LAWS OF THE STATES IN WHICH THE 
BONDS HAVE BEEN REGISTERED OR QUALIFIED AND THE EXEMPTION FROM 
REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION IN OTHER STATES CANNOT BE REGARDED AS A 
RECOMMENDATION THEREOF. 



 

This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy nor 
shall there be any sale of the Bonds in any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale is not qualified 
under applicable law or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer, solicitation or sale. 

THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION, 
NOR HAS THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES 
COMMISSION PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFICIAL 
STATEMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY MAY BE A CRIMINAL 
OFFENSE. 

Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement constitute 
“forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act of 1995, Section 21E of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 
27A of the Securities Act. Such statements are generally identifiable by the terminology used, such as 
“plan,” “expect,” “estimate,” “budget,” “intend,” “projection” or other similar words. Such forward-looking 
statements include, but are not limited to, certain statements contained in the information in APPENDIX A 
— “INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CHAPIN SCHOOL.” Such forward-looking statements speak 
only as of the date of this Official Statement. 

Forward-looking statements inherently are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties that could 
cause actual results to differ materially from those projected. Such risks and uncertainties include, among 
others, general economic and business conditions, changes in political, social and economic conditions, 
regulatory initiatives and compliance with governmental regulations, litigation and various other events, 
conditions and circumstances, many of which are beyond the control of the Institution. THE 
INSTITUTION DISCLAIMS ANY OBLIGATION OR UNDERTAKING TO RELEASE PUBLICLY 
ANY UPDATES OR REVISIONS TO ANY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT CONTAINED 
HEREIN TO REFLECT ANY CHANGE IN THE INSTITUTION’S EXPECTATIONS WITH REGARD 
THERETO OR ANY CHANGE IN EVENTS, CONDITIONS OR CIRCUMSTANCES ON WHICH 
ANY SUCH STATEMENT IS BASED. 
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
RELATING TO 

$25,000,000 
BUILD NYC RESOURCE CORPORATION  

REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS  
(THE CHAPIN SCHOOL, LTD. PROJECT), SERIES 2017 

See APPENDIX C for definitions of certain of the words and terms used in this Official Statement. 

INTRODUCTION 

This Official Statement (including the front cover page, the inside front cover page and the 
Appendices) is being distributed in connection with the offering and sale of $25,000,000 in aggregate 
principal amount of Build NYC Resource Corporation Revenue Refunding Bonds (The Chapin School, 
LTD. Project), Series 2017 (the “Bonds”) of Build NYC Resource Corporation (the “Issuer”). The Issuer 
is a local development corporation created pursuant to the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law of the State of 
New York at the direction of the Mayor of The City of New York. 

The Bonds are authorized to be issued under and pursuant to a resolution of the Issuer adopted on 
December 12, 2017, authorizing the issuance and sale of the Bonds, and an Indenture of Trust dated as of 
December 1, 2017 (the “Indenture”) between the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (the 
“Trustee”). The Trustee also will serve as Paying Agent and Bond Registrar for the Bonds. 

The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds are being loaned to The Chapin School, LTD., a not-for-
profit education corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York (the 
“Institution”), pursuant to a Loan Agreement dated as of December 1, 2017 (the “Loan Agreement”) 
between the Issuer and the Institution, for the purposes described below. The Institution will be obligated 
under the Loan Agreement and the Promissory Note from the Institution to the Issuer (the “Promissory 
Note”) to make payments sufficient to pay the principal or Redemption Price of, and interest on, the Bonds, 
as and when the same become due. The obligations of the Institution to make payments pursuant to the 
Loan Agreement and the Promissory Note will be unconditional obligations of the Institution, but will not 
be secured by a mortgage or any other lien or security interest on property of the Institution. See 
APPENDIX D—“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT.” 

Pursuant to the Indenture, the Issuer will assign to the Trustee substantially all of its right, title and 
interest in and to the Promissory Note and in and to the Loan Agreement (except for the Issuer’s Reserved 
Rights), including all rights to receive the payments of principal or Redemption Price of, and interest on, 
the Bonds to be made by the Institution pursuant to the Loan Agreement and the Promissory Note. 

The Bonds are special limited revenue obligations of the Issuer payable solely from the payments 
made by the Institution under the Loan Agreement and the Promissory Note and from the Trust Estate as 
described in the Indenture. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS.” 

The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be loaned to the Institution and used, together with 
other available funds of the Institution, to advance refund a portion of the Issuer’s outstanding Revenue 
Bonds (The Chapin School, LTD. Project), Series 2016 (the “Prior Bonds”), to finance and refinance costs 
of a certain capital project and to pay certain costs of issuing the Bonds.  The Prior Bonds were issued in 
the aggregate principal amount of $75,000,000 on August 24, 2016 to finance and refinance the costs of 
such capital project and to pay certain costs of issuing the Prior Bonds.  The portion of the Prior Bonds in 
the principal amount of $25,000,000 maturing on November 1, 2019 will be refunded by the Bonds and is 
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referred to in this Official Statement as the “Refunded Prior Bonds.”  See “PLAN OF REFUNDING” and 
“THE PROJECT.”  

The front portion of this Official Statement contains brief descriptions of the Issuer, the Institution, 
the Bonds, the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Continuing Disclosure Agreement to be executed by 
the Institution on the date of issuance of the Bonds (the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”). Additional 
information about the Institution is set forth in APPENDIX A. The audited financial statements of the 
Institution as of and for the two fiscal years ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016 are included in 
APPENDIX B. Certain of the defined terms used herein are set forth in APPENDIX C. Summaries of 
certain provisions of the Loan Agreement and the Indenture are included as APPENDICES D and E, 
respectively. The proposed form of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement is included in APPENDIX F. 
The proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel is included in APPENDIX G. 

All references in this Official Statement to the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Promissory 
Note, the Tax Regulatory Agreement from the Issuer and the Institution to the Trustee (the “Tax Regulatory 
Agreement”) and the Continuing Disclosure Agreement are qualified in their entirety by reference to such 
documents, and the description of the Bonds is qualified in its entirety by reference to the terms thereof and 
the information with respect thereto included in the Indenture and the Loan Agreement. All such 
descriptions are further qualified in their entirety by reference to laws relating to or affecting the 
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally. Copies of the Indenture and the Loan Agreement may be 
obtained prior to the date of issuance of the Bonds from Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC (the “Underwriter”) 
at its offices at 1585 Broadway, 16th floor, New York, New York 10036, and, on and after the date of 
issuance of the Bonds, from the Trustee at its offices at 101 Barclay Street, New York, New York 10286. 

This introduction is subject in all respects to the additional information contained in this Official 
Statement, including APPENDICES A through G. 

THE ISSUER 

Build NYC Resource Corporation (the “Issuer”) is a not-for-profit local development corporation 
created pursuant to the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law of the State of New York (the “State”), as amended, 
at the direction of the Mayor of the City of New York (the “City”). The Issuer is not an agency of State or 
City government. The Issuer is authorized by the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law of the State and the 
Issuer’s Certificate of Incorporation (i) to promote community and economic development and the creation 
of jobs in the non-profit and for-profit sectors for the citizens of the City by developing and providing 
programs for not-for-profit institutions, manufacturing and industrial businesses and other entities to access 
tax-exempt and taxable financing for their eligible projects; (ii) to issue and sell one or more series or 
classes of bonds, notes and other obligations through private placement, negotiated underwriting or 
competitive underwriting to finance such activities above, on a secured or unsecured basis; and (iii) to 
undertake other eligible projects that are appropriate functions for a non-profit local development 
corporation for the purpose of relieving and reducing unemployment, promoting and providing for 
additional and maximum employment, bettering and maintaining job opportunities, carrying on scientific 
research for the purpose of aiding the City by attracting new industry to the City or by encouraging the 
development of or retention of an industry in the City, and lessening the burdens of government and acting 
in the public interest. The Issuer’s Certificate of Incorporation further provides that the activities referred 
to in clause (i) above will achieve the lawful public purposes of lessening the burdens of government, the 
carrying out of such objective and the exercise of the powers conferred on the Issuer being the performance 
of an essential governmental function, and the performance of such activities will assist the City in reducing 
unemployment and promoting additional job growth and economic development. 
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The Issuer has offered and plans to offer other obligations from time to time to finance eligible 
projects for other eligible entities. Such obligations have been and will be issued pursuant to and secured 
by instruments separate and apart from the Indenture. 

 The Bonds are special, limited revenue obligations of the Issuer payable solely out of certain 
funds pledged therefor. Nothing in the Bonds or the Indenture shall be considered as pledging or 
committing any other funds or assets of the Issuer to the payment of the Bonds or the satisfaction of 
any other obligation of the Issuer under the Bonds or the Indenture. Neither the Issuer nor its 
members, directors, officers, agents, servants or employees, nor any person executing the Bonds, shall 
be liable personally with respect to the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability 
by reason of the issuance thereof. Accordingly, no financial information regarding the Issuer or its 
members, directors, officers, employees or agents has been included herein. 

 Neither the State of New York nor any political subdivision of the State including, without 
limitation, The City of New York, is or shall be obligated to pay the principal or redemption price of 
or interest on the Bonds, and neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State of New 
York or The City of New York is pledged to such payment. The Issuer has no taxing power. 

 The Issuer has not prepared or assisted in the preparation of this Official Statement, except for 
statements under the sections captioned “THE ISSUER” and “ABSENCE OF LITIGATION—The Issuer”, and 
except as aforesaid, the Issuer is not responsible for any statements made in this Official Statement. Except 
for the execution and delivery of documents required to effect the issuance of the Bonds, the Issuer has not 
otherwise assisted in the offer, sale or distribution of the Bonds. Accordingly, except as aforesaid, the Issuer 
disclaims responsibility for the disclosures set forth in this Official Statement or otherwise made in 
connection with the offer, sale or distribution of the Bonds.  The Institution has agreed to indemnify the 
Issuer against certain liabilities relating to this Official Statement. 

THE INSTITUTION 

The Institution is a not-for-profit education corporation organized under the laws of the State and 
has been determined to be exempt from taxation by the Internal Revenue Service under Section 501(c)(3) 
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  The Institution began operation in 1901.  
The Institution is located in New York, New York, and enrolled 793 students in Fall 2017.  The Institution’s 
consolidated financial statements for the two fiscal years ending June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016 are 
included as APPENDIX B to this Official Statement.  Further information regarding the Institution is set 
forth in APPENDIX A to this Official Statement. 

The Institution has provided the information in APPENDICES A and B attached hereto for use 
herein. While such information is believed to be reliable, none of the Issuer, the Underwriter or any of their 
respective counsel (including Bond Counsel), members, directors, officers or employees makes any 
representation as to the accuracy or sufficiency of such information. 

PLAN OF REFUNDING 

A portion of the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be applied to advance refund the Refunded 
Prior Bonds to their maturity date of November 1, 2019, as described in more detail below.  Upon such 
application of the proceeds of the Bonds, the Refunded Prior Bonds will be deemed to have been paid and 
will no longer be outstanding under the indenture securing the Prior Bonds.  

The portion of the proceeds of the Bonds to be applied to advance refund the Refunded Prior Bonds 
will be deposited in an escrow relating to the Refunded Prior Bonds with The Bank of New York Mellon 
(the “Prior Trustee”), pursuant to the Letter of Instructions (the “Letter of Instructions”), to be dated as of 
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the date of issuance of the Bonds among the Prior Trustee, the Institution and the Issuer.  Under the Letter 
of Instructions, the Prior Trustee will deposit in an irrevocable escrow fund, designated as the Escrow 
Account, a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds and other funds available, which will be used to purchase 
United States Treasury Securities, the principal of which, when due, along with the cash amounts, will 
provide amounts sufficient to pay the principal and interest payments on the Refunded Prior Bonds on their 
maturity date.  All investment income on and maturing principal of the United States Treasury Securities 
held in the Escrow Account and needed to pay the principal of and interest on the Refunded Prior Bonds 
will be irrevocably deposited by the Prior Trustee for payment of such bonds. See “VERIFICATION OF 
MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS.” 

THE PROJECT  

The proceeds of the Prior Bonds are being used by the Institution to finance and/or refinance 
improvements to, and renovation, equipping and/or furnishing of, the Institution’s existing eight-story 
facility located at 100 East End Avenue, New York, New York 10028, including: (a) a three-story vertical 
addition to accommodate a new gymnasium and an expanded space for performing arts programs and (b) 
the reconfiguration of space therein to provide more classrooms, gathering space, an additional cafeteria, a 
maker/design studio for the robotics program and other S.T.E.M. curriculum, and a new nursing facility for 
the care of students.  The Prior Bonds also financed certain costs of issuance of the Prior Bonds. 

A portion of the proceeds of the Bonds will be used to finance and/or refinance improvements to, 
and the renovation, equipping and/or furnishing of the Institution’s facility, including additional costs 
described in the preceding paragraph, and to finance certain costs of issuance of the Bonds.  

Further information regarding the Project is set forth in APPENDIX A to this Official Statement. 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds are expected be applied as follows: 

SOURCES OF FUNDS  

Bond Par Amount $25,000,000.00 
Premium      7,018,250.00 

TOTAL SOURCES $32,018,250.00 
  

USES OF FUNDS   

Deposit to Escrow Account $26,619,079.45 
Deposit to Project Fund 4,758,947.75     
Costs of Issuance(1)         640,222.80 

TOTAL USES $32,018,250.00    
(1) Includes Underwriter’s discount/premium, rating agency fees, legal fees, Issuer fees and expenses, Trustee fees, costs 
of printing and other fees and expenses. 
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THE BONDS 

The information under this heading is subject in its entirety to the information set forth below 
under the heading “BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM” while the Bonds are held in DTC’s book-entry 
only system. 

General 

The Bonds will be dated their date of delivery and will bear interest from such date, payable initially 
on May 1, 2018 and semiannually thereafter on each May 1 and November 1 (each an “Interest Payment 
Date”) computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. The Bonds will mature (subject 
to prior redemption) in the principal amounts and on the dates set forth on the front cover page of this 
Official Statement. The Bonds will be issuable only in fully registered, book-entry only form in a minimum 
denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof (the “Authorized 
Denomination”). See “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM” herein. 

Each Bond will be transferable only upon compliance with the restrictions on transfer set forth on 
such Bond and only upon the books of the Issuer, which will be kept for that purpose at the designated 
corporate trust office of the Trustee, by the registered owner thereof in person or by his duly authorized 
attorney-in-fact, upon surrender of such Bond together with a written instrument of transfer in the form 
appearing on such Bond duly executed by the registered owner or his duly authorized attorney-in-fact with 
a guaranty of the signature thereon. Upon the transfer of any Bond, the Trustee will prepare and issue in the 
name of the transferee one or more new Bonds of the same aggregate principal amount, maturity and interest 
rate as the surrendered Bond. 

Any Bond, upon surrender thereof at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee with a 
written instrument of transfer in the form appearing on such Bond, duly executed by the registered owner or 
his duly authorized attorney-in-fact, with a guaranty of the signature thereon, may, at the option of the owner 
thereof, be exchanged for an equal aggregate principal amount of Bonds of the same maturity and interest 
rate of any other Authorized Denominations. However, the Trustee will not be required to transfer or 
exchange any Bonds during the period between a Record Date and the following Interest Payment Date or 
during the period of fifteen (15) calendar days next preceding any day for the selection of Bonds to be 
redeemed, or (ii) transfer or exchange any Bonds selected, called or being called for redemption in whole 
or in part. 

The Issuer, the Bond Registrar, the Trustee and any Paying Agent may deem and treat the Person 
in whose name any Bond is registered as the absolute owner of such Bond, whether such Bond is overdue 
or not, for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal and Redemption Price, if 
any, of, and interest on such Bond and for all other purposes, and all payments made to any such registered 
owner or upon his order will be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Bond to 
the extent of the sum or sums so paid, and none of the Issuer, the Institution, the Bond Registrar, the Trustee 
or any Paying Agent will be affected by any notice to the contrary. 

Payment of Principal and Interest 

The principal of, and the Redemption Price, if applicable, on all Bonds will be payable by check or 
draft or wire transfer of immediately available funds at maturity or upon earlier redemption to the Persons 
in whose names such Bonds are registered on the bond registration books maintained by the Trustee as 
Bond Registrar at the maturity or redemption date thereof, provided, however, that the payment in full of 
any Bond either at final maturity or upon redemption in whole will only be payable upon the presentation 
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and surrender of such Bonds at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee or of The Bank of New 
York Mellon in New York, New York, as paying agent (the “Paying Agent”), or at the corporate trust office 
of any successor Paying Agent. 

The interest payable on each Bond on any Interest Payment Date will be paid by the Trustee to the 
registered owner of such Bond as shown on the bond registration books of the Trustee as Bond Registrar at 
the close of business on the Record Date for such interest, (1) by check or draft mailed to such registered 
owner at his address as it appears on the bond registration books or at such other address as is furnished to 
the Trustee in writing by such owner, or (2) if such Bonds are held by a Securities Depository or, at the 
written request addressed to the Trustee by any registered owner of Bonds in the aggregate principal amount 
of at least $1,000,000 that all such payments be made by wire transfer, by electronic transfer in immediately 
available funds to the bank for credit to the ABA routing number and account number filed with the Trustee 
no later than five (5) Business Days before a Record Date for any interest payment.   

Interest on any Bond that is due and payable but not paid on the date due (“Defaulted Interest”) 
will cease to be payable to the owner of such Bond on the relevant Record Date and will be payable to the 
owner in whose name such Bond is registered at the close of business on a special record date (the “Special 
Record Date”) for the payment of such Defaulted Interest, which Special Record Date will be fixed as 
provided in the Indenture. 

Redemption Provisions  

Optional Redemption 

The Bonds are subject to optional redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Issuer exercised 
at the direction of the Institution (which option will be exercised only upon the giving of notice by the 
Institution of its intention to prepay loan payments due under the Loan Agreement), as a whole or in part 
on any date, at a redemption price (the “Make-Whole Redemption Price”) equal to the greater of: 

(i)  one hundred percent (100%) of the Amortized Value (as defined below) of the Bonds to be 
redeemed; and 

(ii)  an amount equal to the sum of the present values of the remaining unpaid payments of principal 
and interest to be paid on the Bonds to be redeemed, not including any portion of those payments of interest 
accrued and unpaid as of the date on which the Bonds are to be redeemed, from and including the date of 
redemption to the stated maturity date of the Bonds, discounted to the date of redemption on a semiannual 
basis at a discount rate equal to the Applicable Tax-Exempt Municipal Bond Rate (as described below) for 
such Bonds,   

plus, in each case, accrued interest to the date of redemption.   

The “Applicable Tax-Exempt Municipal Bond Rate” for such Bonds will be the Comparable AAA 
General Obligations yield curve rate for the stated maturity date of such Bonds as published by Municipal 
Market Data five Business Days prior to the date of redemption.  If no such yield curve rate is established 
for the applicable year, the Comparable AAA General Obligations yield curve rate for the two published 
maturities most closely corresponding to the applicable year will be determined, and the Applicable Tax-
Exempt Municipal Bond Rate will be interpolated or extrapolated from those yield curve rates on a straight-
line basis. 

In calculating the Applicable Tax-Exempt Municipal Bond Rate, should Municipal Market Data 
no longer publish the Comparable AAA General Obligations yield curve rate, then the Applicable Tax-
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Exempt Municipal Bond Rate will equal the Consensus Scale yield curve rate for the applicable year 
(published by Municipal Market Advisors). 

In the further event that Municipal Market Advisors no longer publishes the Consensus Scale, the 
Applicable Tax-Exempt Municipal Bond Rate will be determined by Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC or a 
successor determined by the Institution, as the quotation agent, based upon the rate per annum equal to the 
semiannual equivalent yield to maturity of those tax-exempt general obligation bonds rated in the highest 
rating category by Moody’s and S&P with a maturity date equal to the stated maturity date of such Bonds 
having characteristics (other than the ratings) most comparable to those of such Bonds in the judgment of 
the quotation agent.  The quotation agent’s determination of the Applicable Tax-Exempt Municipal Bond 
Rate is final and binding in the absence of manifest error. 

The “Amortized Value” will equal the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed multiplied by 
the price of such Bonds expressed as a percentage, calculated based on the industry standard method of 
calculating bond prices, with a delivery date equal to the date of redemption, a maturity date equal to the 
stated maturity date of such Bonds, an interest rate equal to the stated interest rate on such Bonds and a 
yield equal to the original offering yield of such Bonds, as set forth on the cover of this Official Statement. 

The Make-Whole Redemption Price will be determined by an independent accounting firm, 
investment banking firm or financial advisor (which accounting firm, investment banking firm or financial 
advisor will be retained by the Institution at the expense of the Institution) in order to calculate such 
redemption price.  Each of the Trustee, the Issuer and the Institution may conclusively rely on such 
accounting firm’s, investment banking firm’s or financial advisor’s determination of such redemption price 
and will bear no liability for such reliance. 

Extraordinary Redemption 

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the Issuer exercised at the 
direction of the Institution (which option will be exercised only upon the giving of notice by the Institution 
of its intention to prepay loan payments due under the Loan Agreement), as a whole on any date, upon 
notice or waiver of notice as provided in the Indenture, at a Redemption Price of 100% of the unpaid 
principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, if one or more of the following 
events has occurred: 

(i) The Facility has been damaged or destroyed to such extent that, as evidenced by a 
certificate of an Independent Engineer filed with the Issuer and the Trustee, (A) the Facility cannot 
be reasonably restored within a period of one year from the date of such damage or destruction to 
the condition thereof immediately preceding such damage or destruction, (B) the Institution is 
thereby prevented or likely to be prevented from carrying on its normal operation at the Facility for 
a period of one year from the date of such damage or destruction, or (C) the restoration cost of the 
Facility would exceed the total amount of all insurance proceeds, including any deductible amount, 
in respect of such damage or destruction; or 

(ii) Title to, or the temporary use of, all or substantially all of the Facility has been taken or 
condemned by a competent authority which taking or condemnation results, or is likely to result, 
in the Institution being thereby prevented or likely to be prevented from carrying on its normal 
operation at the Facility for a period of one year from the date of such taking or condemnation, as 
evidenced by a certificate of an Independent Engineer filed with the Issuer and the Trustee; or 

(iii) As a result of changes in the Constitution of the United States of America or of the State 
or of legislative or executive action of the State or any political subdivision thereof or of the United 
States of America or by final decree or judgment of any court after the contest thereof by the 
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Institution, the Loan Agreement becomes void or unenforceable or impossible of performance in 
accordance with the intent and purpose of the parties as expressed therein or unreasonable burdens 
or excessive liabilities are imposed upon the Institution by reason of the operation of the Facility. 

If the Bonds are to be redeemed in whole as a result of the occurrence of any of the events described 
above, the Institution must deliver to the Issuer and the Trustee a certificate of an Authorized Representative 
of the Institution stating that, as a result of the occurrence of the event giving rise to such redemption, the 
Institution has discontinued, or at the earliest practicable date will discontinue, its operation of the Facility 
for its intended purposes.  

Mandatory Redemption from Excess Proceeds and Certain Other Amounts 

The Bonds will be redeemed at any time in whole or in part by lot prior to maturity in the event and 
to the extent: 

(i) excess Bond proceeds remain after the completion of the Project, 

(ii) excess property insurance proceeds or condemnation awards remain after the 
application thereof pursuant to the Loan Agreement and the Indenture, or 

(iii) excess proceeds remain after the release or substitution of Facility Realty or 
Facility Personalty,   

in each case at a Redemption Price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed, 
together with interest accrued thereon to the date of redemption. 

Mandatory Redemption Upon Occurrence of Certain Other Events 

The Bonds are also subject to mandatory redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the Issuer, 
as a whole only, in the event (i) the Issuer determines that (w) the Institution is operating the Facility or any 
portion thereof, or is allowing the Facility or any portion thereof to be operated, not for the Approved 
Project Operations, (x) the Institution, any Principal of the Institution or any Person that directly or 
indirectly Controls, is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Institution has committed a 
material violation of a material Legal Requirement, (y) any Conduct Representation is false, misleading or 
incorrect in any material respect at any date, as if made on such date, or (z) a Required Disclosure Statement 
delivered to the Issuer under any Project Document is not acceptable to the Issuer acting in its sole 
discretion, or (ii) the Institution fails to obtain or maintain the liability insurance with respect to the Facility 
required under the Loan Agreement, and, in the case of clause (i) or (ii) above, the Institution fails to cure 
any such default or failure within the applicable time periods set forth in the Loan Agreement following the 
receipt by the Institution of written notice of such default or failure from the Issuer and a demand by the 
Issuer on the Institution to cure the same.  Any such redemption will be made upon notice or waiver of 
notice to the Bondholders as provided in the Indenture, at the Redemption Price of 100% of the unpaid 
principal amount of the Bonds, together with interest accrued thereon to the date of redemption. 

Purchase in Lieu of Optional Redemption 

In lieu of calling the Bonds for optional redemption, the Bonds will be subject to mandatory tender 
for purchase at the direction of the Issuer, upon the direction of the Institution, in whole or in part (and, if 
in part, in such manner as determined by the Institution) on any date, at a Purchase Price equal to the 
applicable Redemption Price for any optional redemption of such Bonds as provided above, plus accrued 
interest to the purchase date.  Purchases of tendered Bonds may be made without regard to any provision 
of the Indenture relating to the selection of Bonds in a partial optional redemption.  The Bonds purchased 
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pursuant to any mandatory tender(s) are not required to be cancelled, and if not so cancelled (subject to the 
Loan Agreement), will, prior to any resale by or on behalf of the Institution, not be deemed Outstanding in 
connection with any subsequent partial optional redemption solely for purposes of those provisions of the 
Indenture relating to the selection of the Bonds in a partial redemption. 

Purchases in lieu of an optional redemption will be permitted, with the consent of the Issuer, upon 
the delivery to the Issuer and the Trustee of (i) an opinion of Nationally Recognized Bond Counsel 
addressed to the Issuer and the Trustee substantially to the effect that (A) such purchases in lieu of optional 
redemption comply with the provisions of the Indenture and (B) neither such purchases in lieu of an optional 
redemption nor any transaction directly related thereto will adversely affect the exclusion from gross 
income of interest on the Bonds for purposes of federal income taxation, and (ii) such other opinions, 
certificates or documentation as the Issuer may require. 

General Redemption Provisions 

In the event of redemption of less than all the Outstanding Bonds of the same maturity, the 
particular Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed will be selected by the Trustee in such manner as the 
Trustee in its discretion may deem fair, except that to the extent practicable, the Trustee will select Bonds 
for redemption such that no Bond will be of a denomination of less than the Authorized Denomination for 
the Bonds.  In the event of redemption of less than all the Outstanding Bonds stated to mature on different 
dates, the principal amount of such Bonds to be redeemed will be applied as the Institution shall direct the 
Trustee in writing or, in the absence of the receipt by the Trustee of such direction, in inverse order of 
maturity of the Outstanding Bonds to be redeemed and by lot within a maturity.  The portion of Bonds to 
be redeemed in part will be in the principal amount of the minimum Authorized Denomination thereof or 
some integral multiple thereof and, in selecting Bonds for redemption, the Trustee will treat each such Bond 
as representing that number of Bonds which is obtained by dividing the principal amount of such registered 
Bond by the minimum Authorized Denomination thereof (referred to below as a “unit”) then issuable 
rounded down to the integral multiple of such minimum Authorized Denomination.  If it is determined that 
one or more, but not all, of the units of principal amount represented by any such Bond are to be called for 
redemption, then, upon notice of intention to redeem such unit or units, the Holder of such Bond will 
forthwith surrender such Bond to the Trustee for (a) payment to such Holder of the Redemption Price of 
the unit or units of principal amount called for redemption and (b) delivery to such Holder of a new Bond 
or Bonds in the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the unredeemed balance of the principal amount of 
such Bond.  New Bonds of the same maturity representing the unredeemed balance of the principal amount 
of such Bond will be issued to the registered Holder thereof, without charge therefor.  If the Holder of any 
such Bond of a denomination greater than a unit fails to present such Bond to the Trustee for payment and 
exchange as aforesaid, such Bond will, nevertheless, become due and payable on the date fixed for 
redemption to the extent of the unit or units of principal amount called for redemption (and to that extent 
only). 

When redemption of any Bond is requested or required pursuant to the Indenture, the Trustee will 
give notice of such redemption in the name of the Issuer, specifying the name of the Series, CUSIP number, 
Bond numbers, the date of original issue of such Series, the date of mailing of the notice of redemption, 
maturities, interest rates and principal amounts of the Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed, the 
redemption date, the Redemption Price (or the manner of determining the Redemption Price), and the place 
or places where amounts due upon such redemption will be payable (including the name, address and 
telephone number of a contact person at the Trustee) and specifying the principal amounts of the Bonds or 
portions thereof to be payable and, if less than all of the Bonds of any maturity are to be redeemed, the 
numbers of such Bonds or portions thereof to be so redeemed.  Such notice will further state that on such 
date there will become due and payable upon each Bond or portion thereof to be redeemed the Redemption 
Price thereof together with interest accrued to the redemption date, and that from and after such date interest 
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thereon will cease to accrue and be payable.  Such notice may set forth any additional information relating 
to such redemption.  The Trustee, in the name and on behalf of the Issuer, (i) will mail a copy of such notice 
by first class mail, postage prepaid, not more than 60 nor less than 30 days prior to the date fixed for 
redemption, to the registered owners of any Bonds which are to be redeemed, at their last addresses, if any, 
appearing upon the registration books, but any defect in such notice will not affect the validity of the 
proceedings for the redemption of Bonds with respect to which proper mailing was effected; and (ii) cause 
notice of such redemption to be sent to the national information service that disseminates redemption 
notices.  Any notice mailed as provided in the Indenture will be conclusively presumed to have been duly 
given, whether or not the registered owner receives the notice.  In the event of a postal strike, the Trustee 
will give notice by other appropriate means selected by the Trustee in its discretion.  If any Bond is not 
presented for payment of the Redemption Price within 60 days of the redemption date, the Trustee will mail 
a second notice of redemption to such Holder by first class mail, postage prepaid.  Any amounts held by 
the Trustee due to non-presentment of Bonds for payments on or after any redemption date will be retained 
by the Trustee for a period of at least one year after the final maturity date of such Bonds.  Further, if any 
Holders of Bonds constitute registered depositories, the notice of redemption described in the first sentence 
of this paragraph will be mailed to such Holders at least two days prior to the mailing of such notice to all 
Holders. 

If notice of redemption has been given as aforesaid, the Bonds called for redemption will become 
due and payable on the redemption date, provided, however, that with respect to any optional redemption 
of the Bonds, such notice must state that such redemption will be conditional upon the receipt by the Trustee 
on or prior to the date fixed for such redemption of moneys sufficient to pay the principal of, redemption 
premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds to be redeemed, and that if such moneys has not been so received 
said notice will be of no force and effect and the Issuer will not be required to redeem the Bonds. In the 
event that such notice of optional redemption contains such a condition and such moneys are not so 
received, the redemption will not be made and the Trustee will within a reasonable time thereafter give 
notice, in the manner in which the notice of redemption was given, that such moneys were not so received.  
If a notice of optional redemption is unconditional, or if the conditions of a conditional notice of optional 
redemption have been satisfied, then upon presentation and surrender of the Bonds so called for redemption 
at the place or places of payment, such Bonds will be redeemed. 

SO LONG AS CEDE & CO. IS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF THE BONDS, ALL 
PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF, PURCHASE PRICE, AND INTEREST 
ON THE BONDS WILL BE MADE DIRECTLY TO DTC. DISBURSEMENT OF SUCH PAYMENTS 
TO DIRECT PARTICIPANTS (AS HEREINAFTER DEFINED) WILL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF 
DTC, AND DISBURSEMENT OF SUCH PAYMENTS TO BENEFICIAL OWNERS (AS 
HEREINAFTER DEFINED) WILL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE DIRECT PARTICIPANTS 
AND INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS (AS HEREINAFTER DEFINED). SEE “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY 
SYSTEM” HEREIN.  

BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM 

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities depository 
for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully registered bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co. 
(DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of 
DTC. One fully registered certificate will be issued for  the Bonds and will be deposited with DTC. 

DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking 
organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, 
a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing 
agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC 
holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate 
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and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants 
(“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct 
Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic 
computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the 
need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. 
securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other 
organizations. DTC is a wholly owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation 
(“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed 
Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users 
of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and 
non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through 
or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect 
Participants”). The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.  

Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which 
will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of 
each Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. 
Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners 
are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as 
periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial 
Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished 
by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. 
Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Bonds, except in 
the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested 
by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name 
of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no 
knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the 
Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial 
Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings 
on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements 
as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment 
the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as redemptions, 
defaults and proposed amendments to bond documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Bonds may 
wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit 
notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and 
addresses to the Trustee and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them. 

Redemption notices will be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds within a maturity are being 
redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in 
such maturity to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 
the Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures. Under its 
usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Trustee as soon as possible after the record date. 
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The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose 
accounts Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Payments of principal, interest and Redemption Prices on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., 
or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to 
credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from 
the Trustee on a payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. 
Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary 
practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in 
“street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Trustee or the Issuer, 
subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of 
principal, interest and Redemption Prices to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an 
authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Trustee, disbursement of such payments to 
Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial 
Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by 
giving reasonable notice to the Issuer or the Trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor 
depository is not obtained, bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered. 

The Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry only transfers through DTC 
(or a successor securities depository). In that event, bond certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC. 

THE INFORMATION UNDER THIS HEADING HAS BEEN OBTAINED FROM SOURCES 
BELIEVED TO BE RELIABLE. HOWEVER, NO REPRESENTATION IS MADE BY THE ISSUER, 
THE TRUSTEE, THE INSTITUTION OR THE UNDERWRITER AS TO THE ACCURACY OR 
ADEQUACY OF THE INFORMATION SET FORTH ABOVE UNDER THIS HEADING OR AS TO 
THE ABSENCE OF MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGES IN SUCH INFORMATION SUBSEQUENT 
TO THE DATE HEREOF.  

Under the Indenture, payments made by the Trustee to DTC or its nominee will satisfy the Issuer’s 
obligations under the Indenture and the Institution’s obligations under the Loan Agreement and the 
Promissory Note, to the extent of the payments so made. 

Prior to any discontinuation of the book-entry only system described above, the Trustee and the 
Issuer may treat DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., as, and deem DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., to be, 
the absolute owner of the Bonds for all purposes whatsoever, including, without limitation, (i) the payment 
of principal of, Purchase Price and Redemption Price of, and interest on the Bonds, (ii) giving notices of 
redemption and other matters with respect to the Bonds, (iii) registering transfers with respect to the Bonds 
and (iv) the selection of Bonds for redemption. 

NONE OF THE ISSUER, THE TRUSTEE, THE INSTITUTION OR THE UNDERWRITER 
WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION WITH RESPECT TO (I) THE ACCURACY 
OF THE RECORDS OF DTC, ITS NOMINEE OR ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT 
PARTICIPANT WITH RESPECT TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN ANY  BOND, 
(II) THE DELIVERY TO ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OR ANY OTHER 
PERSON, OTHER THAN AN OWNER, AS SHOWN IN THE BOND REGISTER, OF ANY NOTICE 
WITH RESPECT TO ANY BOND, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY NOTICE OF 
REDEMPTION OR ANY EVENT WHICH WOULD OR COULD GIVE RISE TO AN OPTION WITH 
RESPECT TO ANY BOND, (III) THE PAYMENT OF ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT 
PARTICIPANT OR ANY OTHER PERSON, OTHER THAN AN OWNER, AS SHOWN IN THE BOND 
REGISTER, OF ANY AMOUNT WITH RESPECT TO THE PRINCIPAL OF, PURCHASE PRICE OR 
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REDEMPTION PRICE OF, OR INTEREST ON, ANY BOND OR (IV) ANY CONSENT GIVEN BY 
DTC AS REGISTERED OWNER. 

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS 

General 

Concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds, the Issuer will enter into the Loan Agreement with 
the Institution pursuant to which the Issuer will loan the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to the 
Institution. The Institution will be unconditionally obligated under the Loan Agreement and the Promissory 
Note to make semiannual payments to the Trustee sufficient to pay the principal, Redemption Price of, and 
interest on, the Bonds, as the same become due. See “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE 
LOAN AGREEMENT” in APPENDIX D herein. Pursuant to the Indenture, the Issuer will assign to the 
Trustee all of its right, title and interest in and to the Loan Agreement (except for the Issuer’s Reserved 
Rights) and the Promissory Note, including all amounts payable thereunder with respect to the principal, 
Redemption Price of, and interest on, the Bonds. The Bonds will be unsecured obligations of the Institution 
on a parity with  the Prior Bonds to remain outstanding (except, for so long as the Prior Bonds remain 
outstanding, for Net Proceeds resulting from any Loss Event with respect to the Facility, as described 
herein). 

For so long as the Prior Bonds remain outstanding, Net Proceeds resulting from any Loss Event 
with respect to the Facility will be deposited in the renewal fund established under the indenture securing 
the Prior Bonds and applied to pay the costs of repairing, rebuilding, restoring or replacing the damaged 
property or applied to redeem the Prior Bonds in accordance with such indenture.  If the Prior Bonds are 
no longer outstanding, then the Net Proceeds resulting from any Loss Event with respect to the Facility 
(including any Net Proceeds as had been on deposit in the renewal fund under the indenture securing the 
Prior Bonds) will be deposited in the Renewal Fund and applied as set forth in the Loan Agreement.  See 
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Loss Proceeds” and “—
Election to Rebuild or Terminate” in APPENDIX D herein.    

THE BONDS, THE PRIOR BONDS AND THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE INSTITUTION 
UNDER THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND THE PROMISSORY NOTE ARE NOT SECURED BY 
A MORTGAGE OF OR ANY OTHER INTEREST IN ANY FACILITY OR ANY OTHER 
PROPERTY OF THE INSTITUTION. THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE INSTITUTION UNDER 
THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND THE PROMISSORY NOTE TO PAY AMOUNTS SUFFICIENT 
TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF, AND INTEREST ON, THE BONDS 
ARE UNSECURED OBLIGATIONS OF THE INSTITUTION. 

Special Limited Obligations 

THE BONDS ARE SPECIAL LIMITED REVENUE OBLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER, 
PAYABLE AS TO PRINCIPAL, PURCHASE PRICE, REDEMPTION PRICE AND INTEREST, 
SOLELY FROM THE PAYMENTS MADE BY THE INSTITUTION UNDER THE LOAN 
AGREEMENT AND THE PROMISSORY NOTE AND FROM THE TRUST ESTATE AS DESCRIBED 
IN THE INDENTURE. NEITHER THE STATE NOR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, 
INCLUDING THE CITY, WILL BE OBLIGATED TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL, PURCHASE PRICE, 
REDEMPTION PRICE OF, OR INTEREST ON, THE BONDS. NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT 
NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE STATE OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, 
INCLUDING THE CITY, IS PLEDGED TO SUCH PAYMENT OF THE BONDS. THE BONDS WILL 
NOT BE PAYABLE OUT OF ANY FUNDS OF THE ISSUER OTHER THAN THOSE PLEDGED 
THEREFOR PURSUANT TO THE INDENTURE. THE BONDS WILL NOT GIVE RISE TO A 
PECUNIARY LIABILITY OR CHARGE AGAINST THE CREDIT OR TAXING POWERS OF THE 
STATE OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, INCLUDING THE CITY. NO RECOURSE 
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WILL BE HAD FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF, 
PURCHASE PRICE, OR INTEREST ON, THE BONDS AGAINST ANY MEMBER, OFFICER, 
DIRECTOR, EMPLOYEE OR AGENT OF THE ISSUER. THE ISSUER HAS NO TAXING POWER. 

ANNUAL BOND DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

The following table sets forth, for each 12-month period ending June 30 of the years shown, the 
amounts, rounded to the nearest dollar, required to be made available in such period for the payment of 
the principal of and interest on the Bonds and the debt service on the Prior Bonds to remain outstanding: 

 
12-Month Period Ending 

June 30 Principal Interest 
Debt Service on the 

Prior Bonds Total 

2018 -- $    427,083 $ 1,125,000 $  1,552,083 
2019 -- 1,250,000 2,250,000 3,500,000 
2020 -- 1,250,000 2,250,000 3,500,000 
2021 -- 1,250,000 2,250,000 3,500,000 
2022 -- 1,250,000 2,250,000 3,500,000 
2023 -- 1,250,000 2,250,000 3,500,000 
2024 -- 1,250,000 2,250,000 3,500,000 
2025 -- 1,250,000 2,250,000 3,500,000 
2026 -- 1,250,000 2,250,000 3,500,000 
2027 -- 1,250,000 51,125,000 52,375,000 
2028 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2029 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2030 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2031 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2032 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2033 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2034 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2035 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2036 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2037 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2038 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2039 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2040 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2041 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2042 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2043 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2044 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2045 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2046 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2047 -- 1,250,000 -- 1,250,000 
2048 $25,000,000        625,000                   --     25,625,000 
Total $25,000,000 $37,302,083 $70,250,000 $132,552,083 
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BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS 

The following is a discussion of certain risks that could affect payments to be made by the Institution 
with respect to the Bonds. Such discussion is not, and is not intended to be, exhaustive and should be read in 
conjunction with all other parts of this Official Statement, and such discussion should not be considered to be 
a complete description of all risks that could affect such payments. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds 
should carefully analyze the information contained in this Official Statement, including the Appendices hereto, 
and in the documents summarized herein, copies of which are available as described herein. 

General 

The Bonds are payable solely from the payments to be made by the Institution pursuant to the Loan 
Agreement and the Promissory Note on a parity with the Prior Bonds to remain outstanding, except as 
otherwise described under “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS – General.” Such payments will be made from 
the revenues derived by the Institution from its operations and from other non-operating revenues received 
by the Institution, including income from the investment of funds held on behalf of the Institution. No 
representation or assurance is made that revenues will be realized by the Institution in the amounts necessary 
to permit it to fund its current and anticipated operations and to make payments due under the Loan 
Agreement and the Promissory Note and with respect to debt service on the Prior Bonds. The amount of 
the Institution’s future revenues and expenses are subject to, among other things: (a) the continuation of 
support from private contributions, grants and various federal and State programs; (b) endowment and 
investment performance; (c) the capabilities of management of the Institution; (d) increased operating costs; 
(e) competition for students from other educational organizations; (f) government regulation and licensing 
requirements; and (g) future economic and other conditions, all of which are unpredictable and which may 
affect the Institution’s revenues that are available to fund the payment of the principal of, Redemption Price 
of, and interest on, the Bonds and debt service on the Prior Bonds.  

Matters Relating to Security 

None of the facilities (including the Facility), property or revenues of the Institution is pledged as 
security for the Bonds. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and the exercise by the Trustee of 
remedies available to it, the Trustee would be an unsecured creditor with no rights to any specific facilities, 
property or revenues of the Institution. 

Matters Relating to Enforceability of Remedies 

The remedies available under the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Promissory Note upon 
the occurrence of an Event of Default are in many respects dependent upon judicial actions which are often 
subject to discretion and delay. Under existing constitutional and statutory law and judicial decisions, 
including, specifically, Title 11 of the United States Code (the Federal Bankruptcy Code), the remedies 
provided in the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Promissory Note may not be readily available or 
may be limited. The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds will 
be qualified as to the enforceability of the various legal instruments by limitations imposed by bankruptcy, 
reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and by judicial 
principles of equity. 

Amendments to Indenture and Loan Agreement 

Certain amendments to the Indenture and the Loan Agreement may be made without notice to or the 
consent of the owners of the Bonds and other amendments may be made with the consent of the owners of 
not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds Outstanding under the Indenture. Such 
amendments may affect the security for the Bonds and will be binding on all Bondholders, whether or not 
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they have consented to the amendment. See “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE 
INDENTURE OF TRUST—Supplemental Indentures Without Bondholders’ Consent,” “—Supplemental 
Indentures With Bondholders’ Consent,” “— Amendments of Related Security Documents Not Requiring 
Consent of Bondholders” and “— Amendments of Related Security Documents Requiring Consent of 
Bondholders” in APPENDIX E. 

Tax-Exempt Status of the Institution 

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) has determined that the Institution is a tax-exempt 
organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. In order to maintain its tax-exempt status, the 
Institution must comply with a number of requirements affecting its operations. The possible modification 
or repeal of certain existing federal income tax laws, a change of IRS policies or positions, a change in the 
Institution’s operations, purposes or other factors could result in the loss of its tax-exempt status. The 
Institution will covenant in the Loan Agreement and the Tax Regulatory Agreement that it will maintain its 
existence as a tax-exempt organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. See also “Tax-Exempt 
Status of the Bonds” below. 

Construction-related Risks 

Completion of the Project involves many risks common to construction projects, such as shortages 
of materials and labor, work stoppages, labor disputes, litigation, including litigation relating to 
environmental law compliance, errors and omissions by architects, engineers and contractors, significant 
increases in material costs for steel, lumber and other key commodities, weather interferences, terrorism, 
construction accidents, subcontractor defaults, defective workmanship, unforeseen engineering, 
geotechnical or environmental problems, land use permitting problems and unanticipated cost increases, 
any of which could give rise to significant delays or cost overruns. Any such delays and overruns may 
materially and adversely affect the construction budget and could prevent the Project from being available 
as scheduled. See “The Project” in APPENDIX A. 

Tax-Exempt Status of the Bonds 

Because the excludability of interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes is dependent in part upon events occurring after the date of issuance of the Bonds, the opinion of 
Bond Counsel described under “TAX MATTERS” assumes the compliance by the Issuer and the Institution 
with certain provisions of the Code and the regulations relating thereto. No opinion is expressed by Bond 
Counsel with respect to the excludability of interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes in the event of noncompliance with such provisions. 

The failure of the Institution to maintain its existence as an organization described in Section 
501(c)(3) of the Code or to comply with certain provisions of the Code and the regulations thereunder may 
cause interest on the Bonds to become includable in the gross income of the owners thereof for federal 
income tax purposes as of the date of issue. The Indenture does not provide for the payment of additional 
interest or a penalty on the Bonds or the mandatory redemption thereof in the event that the interest thereon 
becomes includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. Also, Bondholders of the Bonds are 
not indemnified for any costs or losses (e.g., tax deficiencies, interest and penalties, loss of market value) 
that may be incurred as a result of a loss in federal tax exemption. 

Changes in Federal Tax Law 

From time to time the United States Congress has considered and can be expected in the future to 
consider tax reform and other legislative proposals, including some that carry retroactive effective dates, 
which, if enacted, could alter or amend the federal tax exempt status, or adversely affect the market value, 
of the Bonds. It cannot be predicted whether or in what form any such proposal might be enacted or whether, 
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if enacted, it would apply to bonds issued prior to enactment. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should 
consult their own tax advisors regarding any pending or proposed federal tax legislation. Bond Counsel 
expresses no opinion regarding any pending or proposed federal tax legislation. In the event any such 
legislation which amends the federal tax exempt status or adversely affects the market value of the Bonds 
become law, the Indenture does not provide for the increase in interest rate on the Bonds or the mandatory 
redemption of the Bonds. Also, Bondholders of the Bonds are not indemnified for any costs or losses (e.g., 
tax deficiencies, interest and penalties, loss of market value) that may be incurred as a result of a change 
in law. 

Legislation has been passed by both houses of Congress and is awaiting signature by the President 
that would significantly change individual and corporate income tax rates and repeal the corporate 
alternative minimum tax for tax years after 2017. If signed into law, such legislation may materially impact 
the market price or marketability of the Bonds.   

Risk of IRS Audit 

The IRS has an ongoing program of auditing tax-exempt obligations to determine whether, in the 
view of the IRS, interest on such obligations is includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. 
It cannot be predicted whether or not the IRS will commence an audit of the Bonds. If an audit is 
commenced, under current procedures the IRS may treat the Issuer as the party under audit and the 
Bondholders may have no right to participate in the proceedings. The commencement of an audit could 
adversely affect the market price for, and marketability of, the Bonds until the audit is concluded, 
regardless of the ultimate outcome. 

Investment Performance 

The Institution invests its endowment in various types of investment securities. Investment 
securities are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, market, and credit risks. Due to the level of risk 
associated with certain investment securities, it is possible that changes in the values of investment 
securities will occur in the near term and such changes could materially affect the value of the Institution’s 
endowment and other amounts reported in the audited financial statements annexed hereto. 

Additional Indebtedness 

Neither the Indenture nor the Loan Agreement place any limitation on the amount of additional 
indebtedness that the Institution may incur in the future. 

Bond Rating 

There is no assurance that the rating assigned to the Bonds on the date of issue will not be lowered 
or withdrawn at any time, the effect of which could adversely affect the market price for, and marketability 
of, the Bonds. See “RATING.” 

Acceleration 

Upon the occurrence of certain events of default under the Indenture or the Loan Agreement, the 
Bonds may become subject to acceleration. If Bonds are accelerated prior to their stated maturity, the 
owners of such Bonds will no longer continue to receive interest. 
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Secondary Market and Prices 

No assurance can be given that there will be a secondary market for the Bonds at any time. Even if 
a secondary market exists, there can be no assurance as to the price for which the Bonds may be sold. Such 
price may be lower than the price paid by the then-current owner of the Bonds, depending on existing 
market conditions and other factors. 

Other Considerations 

Endowment Income 

The Institution plans its budget to include some spending from endowment income each year. The 
earnings and returns on investments in the endowment fund are subject to market volatility and are 
dependent upon a variety of economic conditions that cannot be predicted and that could have an adverse 
effect on such investment income. 

Reduced Giving 

The Institution derives a portion of its revenue and support from gifts, bequests and donations 
which are used to finance certain costs of operations and capital needs. There can be no assurance that the 
amount of gifts, donations and bequests will not decrease, adversely affecting the financial condition of the 
Institution. 

Changes in Leadership 

Future changes in the composition of the directors, officers or key staff could affect the ability of 
the Institution’s leadership to effectively manage it. 

Financial Aid 

The Institution provides financial aid to students in Kindergarten through Grade 12. For the 2017-
2018 school year, 20% of the Institution’s students receive financial aid, which represents approximately 
17% of the Institution’s gross tuition revenue, or $6.2 million. If there are changes in the number of students 
who need financial aid or if there is a decrease in funds available to provide such financial aid, the 
Institution’s enrollment could be adversely affected. 

Other Risk Factors 

In the future, the following factors, among others, may adversely affect the operations of the 
Institution to an extent that cannot be determined at this time: 

 Increased unemployment or other adverse economic conditions in the region. 

 Decreases in student enrollment. 

 Inflation or other adverse economic conditions. 

 The attempted imposition of, or the increase in, taxes related to the property and operations of 
not-for-profit organizations. 

 The occurrence of natural or other disasters, including floods and earthquakes, which may 
damage the Facility and other properties of the Institution, interrupt utility service to the 



 

19 

Facility and other properties of the Institution or otherwise impair the operation and generation 
of revenues therefrom. 

ABSENCE OF LITIGATION 

The Issuer 

There is no action, suit or proceeding or investigation at law or in equity by or before any court, 
public board or body pending against the Issuer of which the Issuer has notice, or, to the Issuer’s knowledge, 
overtly threatened against the Issuer, wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely 
affect the transactions contemplated by the Indenture or the Loan Agreement.  

The Institution 

There is no litigation of any nature now pending, or to the knowledge of the Institution’s officers 
threatened, against the Institution restraining or enjoining the execution, sale or delivery of the Bonds or in 
any way contesting or affecting the validity of the Bonds, the Loan Agreement, the Promissory Note or the 
Indenture, any proceedings of the Institution taken concerning the execution, sale or delivery of the Loan 
Agreement or the Promissory Note, the application of any moneys or security provided for the payment of 
the Bonds or wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the transactions 
contemplated by the Loan Agreement.   

LEGAL MATTERS 

Legal matters in connection with the authorization, issuance and sale of the Bonds are subject to 
the approving opinion of Nixon Peabody LLP, New York, New York, Bond Counsel to the Issuer, which 
opinion will be substantially in the form attached hereto as APPENDIX G. Certain legal matters will be 
passed upon for the Issuer by its General Counsel, and for the Institution by its special counsel, Orrick, 
Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, New York, New York. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the 
Underwriter by its counsel, Squire Patton Boggs (US) LLP, New York, New York. 

TAX MATTERS 

Federal Income Taxes 

 The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), imposes certain requirements that 
must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds for interest thereon to be and remain 
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Noncompliance with such requirements could 
cause the interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactive 
to the date of issue of the Bonds.  Pursuant to the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Tax Regulatory 
Agreement, the Issuer and the Institution have covenanted to comply with the applicable requirements of 
the Code in order to maintain the exclusion of the interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Code.  In addition, the Issuer and the Institution have 
made certain representations and certifications in the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Tax 
Regulatory Agreement.  Bond Counsel will also rely on the opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP 
as to all matters concerning the status of the Institution as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of 
the Code and exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(a) of the Code.  Bond Counsel will not 
independently verify the accuracy of those representations and certifications or that opinion. 

 In the opinion of Nixon Peabody LLP, Bond Counsel, under existing law and assuming compliance 
with the aforementioned covenants, and the accuracy of certain representations and certifications made by 
the Issuer and the Institution described above, interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for 
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federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Code.  Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that such 
interest is not treated as a preference item in calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed under the 
Code with respect to individuals and corporations.  Interest on the Bonds is, however, included in the 
adjusted current earnings of certain corporations for purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax 
imposed on such corporations. 

State Taxes 

 Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that interest on the Bonds is exempt from personal income 
taxes imposed by the State of New York or any political subdivision of the State of New York including 
The City of New York, assuming compliance with the tax covenants and the accuracy of the representations 
and certifications described above under “Federal Income Taxes.”  Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as 
to other state or local tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds nor as to the taxability of the 
Bonds or the income therefrom under the laws of any state other than the State of New York. 
 

Original Issue Premium 

 Bonds sold at prices in excess of their principal amounts are “Premium Bonds.”  An initial 
purchaser with an initial adjusted basis in a Premium Bond in excess of its principal amount will have 
amortizable bond premium which is not deductible from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  
The amount of amortizable bond premium for a taxable year is determined actuarially on a constant interest 
rate basis over the term of each Premium Bond based on the purchaser’s yield to maturity (or, in the case 
of Premium Bonds callable prior to their maturity, over the period to the call date, based on the purchaser’s 
yield to the call date and giving effect to any call premium).  For purposes of determining gain or loss on 
the sale or other disposition of a Premium Bond, an initial purchaser who acquires such obligation with an 
amortizable bond premium is required to decrease such purchaser’s adjusted basis in such Premium Bond 
annually by the amount of amortizable bond premium for the taxable year.  The amortization of bond 
premium may be taken into account as a reduction in the amount of tax-exempt income for purposes of 
determining various other tax consequences of owning such Bonds.  Owners of the Premium Bonds are 
advised that they should consult with their own advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences 
of owning such Premium Bonds. 

Ancillary Tax Matters 

 Ownership of the Bonds may result in other federal tax consequences to certain taxpayers, 
including, without limitation, certain S corporations, foreign corporations with branches in the United 
States, property and casualty insurance companies, individuals receiving Social Security or Railroad 
Retirement benefits, and individuals seeking to claim the earned income credit.  Ownership of the Bonds 
may also result in other federal tax consequences to taxpayers (including banks, thrift institutions and other 
financial institutions) who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or to 
carry the Bonds.  Prospective investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding these rules. 

 Interest paid on tax-exempt obligations such as the Bonds is subject to information reporting to the 
IRS in a manner similar to interest paid on taxable obligations.  In addition, interest on the Bonds may be 
subject to backup withholding if such interest is paid to a registered owner that (a) fails to provide certain 
identifying information (such as the registered owner’s taxpayer identification number) in the manner 
required by the IRS, or (b) has been identified by the IRS as being subject to backup withholding. 

 Bond Counsel is not rendering any opinion as to any federal tax matters other than those described 
in the opinion attached as APPENDIX G.  Prospective investors, particularly those who may be subject to 
special rules described above, are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding the federal tax 
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consequences of owning and disposing of the Bonds, as well as any tax consequences arising under the 
laws of any state or other taxing jurisdiction. 

Changes in Law and Post Issuance Events 

 Legislative or administrative actions and court decisions, at either the federal or state level, could 
have an adverse impact on the potential benefits of the exclusion from gross income of the interest on the 
Bonds for federal or state income tax purposes, and thus on the value or marketability of the Bonds.  This 
could result from changes to federal or state income tax rates, changes in the structure of federal or state 
income taxes (including replacement with another type of tax), repeal of the exclusion of the interest on the 
Bonds from gross income for federal or state income tax purposes, or otherwise. In this regard, there have 
been various proposals in recent years that would limit the extent of the exclusion from gross income of 
interest on obligations of states and political subdivisions under Section 103 of the Code for taxpayers 
whose income exceeds certain thresholds.  In addition, there is legislation that has been passed by both 
houses of the U.S. Congress which, if signed into law, would significantly change the individual and 
corporate income tax rates and eliminate the alternative minimum tax for corporations effective for tax 
years beginning after 2017.  It is not possible to predict whether any such legislative or administrative 
actions or court decisions will occur or have an adverse impact on the federal or state income tax treatment 
of holders of the Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their own tax advisors 
regarding the impact of any change in law or proposed change in law on the Bonds. 
 
 Bond Counsel has not undertaken to advise in the future whether any events after the date of 
issuance and delivery of the Bonds may affect the tax status of interest on the Bonds.  Bond Counsel 
expresses no opinion as to any federal, state or local tax law consequences with respect to the Bonds, or the 
interest thereon, if any action is taken with respect to the Bonds or the proceeds thereof upon the advice or 
approval of other counsel. 

VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS 

 The arithmetical accuracy of certain computations included in the schedules provided by the 
Underwriter relating to: (a) computation of forecasted receipts of principal and interest on the cash and 
securities deposited with the Prior Trustee and the forecasted payments of principal and interest to the 
maturity date of the Refunded Prior Bonds and (b) computation of the yields on the Refunded Prior Bonds 
and the securities deposited with the Prior Trustee was examined by Causey Demgen & Moore P.C. (the 
“Verification Agent”).  Such computations were based solely upon assumptions and information supplied 
by the Underwriter on behalf of the Issuer.  The Verification Agent has restricted its procedures to 
examining the arithmetical accuracy of certain computations and has not made any study or evaluation of 
the assumptions and information upon which the computations are based and, accordingly, has not 
expressed an opinion on the data used, the reasonableness of the assumptions, or the achievability of the 
forecasted outcome. 

RATING 

S&P Global Ratings has assigned the Bonds a long-term rating of “AA-”. Such rating reflects only 
the view of such rating agency, and an explanation of the significance of such rating must be obtained from 
the rating agency furnishing such rating. Such rating is not a recommendation to buy, hold or sell the Bonds. 

There is no assurance that the rating will continue for any given period of time or that any such rating 
will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely if, in the judgment of the agency furnishing the rating, 
circumstances so warrant. A downward revision or withdrawal of such rating may have an effect on the 
market price for, and marketability of, the Bonds. 
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UNDERWRITING 

Pursuant to the terms of a Bond Purchase Agreement (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”) between 
the Issuer and Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC (the “Underwriter”), and as accepted and agreed to by the 
Institution, the Underwriter has agreed to purchase the Bonds at a purchase price of $31,859,277.20, which 
is equal to the par amount of the Bonds less an underwriting discount of $158,972.80, plus a premium of 
$7,018,250.00.  The Institution has also agreed to reimburse the Underwriter for its reasonable expenses. 
The Bond Purchase Agreement provides that the obligations of the Underwriter are subject to certain 
conditions precedent and that the Underwriter will be obligated to purchase all of the Bonds if any of the 
Bonds are purchased. The Institution has agreed to indemnify the Underwriter and the Issuer against 
certain liabilities or to contribute to any payments required to be made by the Underwriter relating to such 
liabilities, including liabilities under the federal securities laws. 

The Bonds may be offered and sold to certain dealers (including dealers depositing such Bonds 
into investment trusts, accounts or funds) and others at prices lower than the initial public offering price. 
After the initial public offering, the public offering price of the Bonds may be changed from time to time 
by the Underwriter.  

The Bonds are a new issue of securities with no established trading market.  The Institution has 
been advised by the Underwriter that the Underwriter reserves the right to make a market in the Bonds, but 
is not obligated to do so and may discontinue market making at any time without notice.  No assurance can 
be given as to the liquidity of the trading market for the Bonds.  

The Underwriter and its affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various activities, 
which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, financial advisory, investment 
management, principal investment, hedging, financing and brokerage activities. The Underwriter and 
certain of its affiliates have from time to time performed, and may in the future perform, various investment 
banking services for the Institution for which they received or will receive customary fees and expenses. 

In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the Underwriter and its affiliates may 
make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative 
securities) and financial instruments (which may include bank loans and/or credit default swaps) for their 
own account and for the accounts of their customers, and may at any time hold long and short positions in 
such securities and instruments. Such investment and securities activities may involve securities and 
instruments of the Issuer and/or the Institution.  

Morgan Stanley, the parent company of Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, the Underwriter of the Bonds, 
has entered into a retail distribution arrangement with Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC. As part of the 
distribution arrangement, Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC may distribute municipal securities to retail investors 
through the financial advisor network of Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC. As part of this arrangement, 
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC may compensate Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC for its selling efforts with 
respect to the Bonds. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

The consolidated financial statements of the Institution as of and for the two years ended June 30, 
2017 and June 30, 2016, included in APPENDIX B to this Official Statement, have been audited by Eisner 
Amper LLP, independent auditors, as stated in their report appearing in APPENDIX B. 



 

23 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

The Bonds 

On the date of issuance of the Bonds, the Institution will enter into the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as APPENDIX F for the benefit of the beneficial 
owners of the Bonds. Under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the Institution is required to file certain 
information annually with, and to provide notice of certain events to, the Municipal Securities Rulemaking 
Board (the “MSRB”) using its Electronic Municipal Market Access system (“EMMA”), pursuant to Rule 
15c2-12, as amended (the “Rule”), of the Securities and Exchange Commission. The information to be 
provided on an annual basis and the events that are required to be noticed on an occurrence basis are set 
forth in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement. Failure of the Institution to provide such information will 
not constitute a default under the Loan Agreement. See APPENDIX F hereto. 

Prior Disclosure Agreements 

In connection with the issuance of the Prior Bonds and certain other bonds, the Institution entered 
into separate continuing disclosure agreements (the “Prior Disclosure Agreements”) which required the 
Institution to provide certain annual financial information and notices of material events.  

MISCELLANEOUS 

The foregoing summaries or descriptions of provisions in the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the 
Promissory Note, the Tax Regulatory Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement and the other 
agreements and documents referred to herein, and all references to other materials not purporting to be 
quoted in full, are only brief outlines of certain provisions thereof and do not constitute complete statements 
of such provisions or purport to summarize all of the pertinent provisions thereof. Reference is made to the 
complete Indenture and the Loan Agreement, copies of which may be obtained prior to the date of issuance 
of the Bonds from the Underwriter and thereafter from the Trustee. 

The information contained in this Official Statement is the responsibility of the Institution, except 
for the information contained under the heading “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM,” which has been 
provided by DTC to the extent described therein, the information under the heading “THE ISSUER” and 
“ABSENCE OF LITIGATION—The Issuer,” which has been provided by the Issuer, and the information 
under the heading “UNDERWRITING,” which has been provided by the Underwriter. The Issuer makes 
no representation, warranty or certification as to the adequacy or accuracy of the information set forth in 
this Official Statement, other than the information set forth under the headings “THE ISSUER” and 
“ABSENCE OF LITIGATION—The Issuer.” This Official Statement is not intended to be construed as a 
contract or agreement between the Issuer and the purchasers or holders of the Bonds. 

Any statements made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or estimates, whether 
or not expressly stated, are set forth as such, and not as representations of facts. No representation is made 
that any of the opinions or estimates will be realized. 
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The distribution of this Official Statement has been duly authorized by the Issuer and the Institution. 

BUILD NYC RESOURCE CORPORATION 

By:   /s/ Anne Shutkin   
Executive Director 

 

THE CHAPIN SCHOOL, LTD.  

By:  /s/  Marc Bogursky  
Chief Financial Officer 
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APPENDIX A 

INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CHAPIN SCHOOL 

 

General Overview 

The Chapin School, LTD. (“Chapin” or the “School”) is a not-for-profit independent day school for 
young women from kindergarten through grade 12 located at a campus on the Upper East Side of 
Manhattan in New York City.  The School is organized and exists under the laws of the State of New 
York. 

The School was founded in 1901, incorporated in 1925, and later received its charter from the Board of 
Regents of the New York State Education Department as an independent, elementary and secondary day 
school for young women.  The School has been continuously located at its campus on the Upper East Side 
of New York City since 1928, expanding over time through the purchase of the adjoining building in 
1969 and the construction of two additional floors in 2006. The current expansion is described below 
under “The Project”. 

The School, which began with an enrollment of 78 students in 1901, has grown over the years to serve a 
Fall 2017 enrollment of 793 students, divided amongst the School’s three (3) divisions. The Lower 
School enrolls 237 students in kindergarten through grade 3; the Middle School enrolls 241 students in 
grades 4 through 7, and the Upper School enrolls 316 students in grades 8 through 12. There are 
approximately 200 faculty and staff members. The School’s student-to-teacher ratio is 7 to 1. Over 75% 
of faculty members hold advanced degrees, and on average, they have over 16 years teaching experience. 
Enrolled students come from Manhattan, the Bronx, Brooklyn, Queens, Long Island, Westchester County, 
Connecticut, and New Jersey. 

Mission and Culture 

The Chapin School’s mission is to prepare “a diverse and talented community of young women to thrive 
and lead in a global society through its dedication to academic excellence, personal integrity and 
community responsibility.” The School seeks to “cultivate in each student a love of learning, independent 
thinking, emotional resilience and a dedication to serving others.” The wheel on The Chapin School seal 
was chosen by School founder Maria Bowen Chapin because it is the symbol of St. Catherine of 
Alexandria, the patron saint of philosophers, thinkers and educated women. Chapin’s motto is “Fortiter et 
Recte,” Bravely and Rightly. 

Education Philosophy 

Chapin’s curriculum focuses on the total development of each girl, from her academic progress to her 
social and emotional health.  At the core of the educational philosophy of the School is a belief in forging 
a close relationship between (i) student and teacher, and (ii) the students themselves.  Under the guidance 
of the faculty, students are encouraged to explore a broad range of subjects, while pursuing in-depth study 
of the subjects and topics which are to their particular interest, while also experiencing the positive 
benefits of collaborative work with their fellow students to complement their more individualized studies. 

Chapin recognizes that educating the whole child is essential, and the School provides students with a 
variety of opportunities to explore the world outside of academics. Student opportunities include the 
following: 
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• Athletics 
• Life skills and creative expression workshops 
• Community engagement opportunities 
• Performing arts 
• After-school programs 
• Summer program 
• Inter-Grade collaboration 
• Interschool collaboration 
• Field Trips 
• Internships 

Divisions and Curricula 

• Lower School (Kindergarten – Class 3):  Through the Lower School curriculum, girls begin to 
explore the world around them. They acquire reading and writing skills, encounter the basic concepts 
of science and math, begin foreign language study in Spanish and express themselves through art, 
dance, drama and music.  Each Lower School girl is a member of a small multi-age group with other 
students from all grades in the division. In that setting, girls participate in community service projects 
and collaborative activities that foster responsible and caring behavior. 

• Middle School (Classes 4 to 7):  The Middle School curriculum stresses a core of language, 
literature, mathematics, history and science, enriched by art, dance, drama, music, physical education 
and computer science. The Middle School academic program incorporates interactive classes, 
independent and collaborative projects and skills development. The fourth and fifth grade programs 
are designed to allow for a gradual transition from the self-contained lower school environment to a 
departmentalized Upper School. This includes an interdisciplinary humanities program that focuses 
on developing reading, writing and study skills, and a homeroom program that provides students with 
both support and structure.  As the girls move up to the sixth and seventh grades, they remain active 
both inside and outside the classroom: through school trips to Cape Cod and Boston, LIP (Laptop 
Immersion Program), arts, athletics and service opportunities, to name just a few.  The advisory 
program is a central component of the Middle School experience, with advisors meeting regularly 
with their advisees in small group settings. 

• Upper School (Classes 8 to 12):  In the Upper School, students individualize their academic 
experiences through course selection. The college preparatory curriculum provides a rigorous 
academic program. Course offerings are further enriched by off-campus trimester programs, 
individual studies, study-abroad opportunities and an academic and extracurricular exchange through 
the Interschool Program. Partnerships with other schools, institutes, universities and learning centers 
provide girls with opportunities to learn and to gain practical experience outside of the classroom. 

Accreditation and Affiliations 

The Chapin School is accredited by the New York State Association of Independent Schools. The 10-year 
accreditation was last performed in the 2012-2013 academic year. The School and/or its employees are 
affiliated with many organizations, including the following: 

• Interschool, a non-profit, tax-exempt consortium of eight Manhattan independent schools, 
including The Brearley School, The Browning School, Collegiate School, Dalton School, The 
Nightingale-Bamford School, The Spence School and Trinity School 

• New York State Association of Independent Schools 
• National Association of Independent Schools 
• Prep for Prep 
• Early Steps 
• Oliver Scholar 
• The TEAK Fellowship 
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Facilities 

The Chapin  School is currently located in an approximately 135,000 square foot, eight-story building at 
100 East End Avenue in New York City.  The school building features 49 classrooms, the Annenberg 
Center for Learning and Research, a two-story library with a multimedia room and a video-editing room, 
eight science laboratories, four art studios, including a photography darkroom and ceramics studio, two 
music studios, a black box theater, a dance studio, two computer laboratories, four gymnasiums and a 
greenhouse. In addition to housing the Lower, Middle and Upper School divisions, the facility features a 
connecting interior section that includes common gathering spaces. 

In 2008, the School successfully completed a renovation that included the addition of two floors, a new 
arts center, new science center and new world language lab. In addition, the renovation and building 
project incorporated an energy curtailment program, an energy-efficient roofing system, occupancy 
lighting sensors, sustainable flooring, and energy-efficient lighting. 

The Project 

Chapin’s Board approved a capital project (the “Project”) on January 27, 2014, which includes the 
following: 

i. Construction of a three-story vertical addition to the School’s existing eight-story facility to 
accommodate 

a. A new regulation-size gymnasium that will feature an 84’ by 50’ hardwood basketball 
court, 7,500 square feet of functional space, seating for 300 spectators and a suspended 
indoor track. The gymnasium will be a flexible, multi-purpose space, for events 
including all-school assemblies, athletic contests, physical education, and special events. 

b. An expanded space for the performing arts programs. 

ii. Reconfiguration of space within the expanded facility to provide 
a. additional classrooms, 
b. gathering space, 
c. an additional cafeteria (completed in 2016), 
d. a maker space/design studio for the robotics program and other S.T.E.A.M. (Science, 

Technology, Engineering, the Arts and Math) curriculum, and 
e. a new School nurse area. 

The Project will be financed with a portion of the proceeds of the Prior Bonds, the Bonds and other funds 
of the School, expected to be predominantly gifts.  The total cost of the Project is estimated to be $220 
million. The School began construction of the Project in March 2015. The School expects the Project to 
be completed during the 2020-21 academic year. Classes have continued without interruption during 
construction of the Project. 

The Project was originally expected to be completed prior to the commencement of the 2018-19 academic 
year at an estimated cost of $135 million.  The cost of and timetable for completion of construction of the 
Project have been greater than originally projected, including additional structural reinforcement work 
which was underestimated by the general contractor.  The School replaced the original contractor (IBEX 
Construction Company, LLC) in June 2016.  The new contractor for the Project is JRM Construction 
Management, LLC (“JRM”). The incremental structural reinforcement work was largely completed by 
JRM during the summer of 2017. The project is proceeding consistent with the revised timeline and cost 
estimate and School operations remain uninterrupted. 

Governance 

The property, business and affairs of The Chapin School are managed by the Board of Trustees (the 
“Board”). Pursuant to the School’s by-laws, there may be no fewer than five (5) nor no more than twenty-
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eight (28) trustees. Chapin’s Board of Trustees currently consists of twenty-four (24) elective Trustees 
and three (3) ex officio Trustees who are the Head, the President of the Alumnae Association, and the 
Chair of the Parents’ Association. The elective Trustees serve for a term of five years and can be reelected 
for a second term; exceptions to the two-term limit may be made for up to ten (10) Trustees. The Board 
also includes a seat for a Trustee representing alumnae, which is filled by a recent alumna for one five-
year term. Much of the Board’s work is accomplished through its committee structure, which consists of 
seven standing committees focused on ongoing areas of oversight and planning and ad hoc committees as 
needed. The standing committees are set forth in the following table. 

Standing Board Committees 

• Audit 
• Buildings/Grounds 
• Committee on Trustees 
• Culture, Community, and Global Awareness 
• Development 
• Executive 
• Finance/Investment 

Set forth below is a list that identifies Chapin’s board members as of November 30, 2017: 

Board of Trustees 

 
Trustee Name 

Trustee Class  
(Year Term Ends) 

 
Affiliation 

 
LeeAnn Black*, Chair 

 
2020 

 
Latham & Watkins 
COO 
 

Linda Beard Brandi ‘65,  
Vice Chair 

2020 Chapin Trustee 

 
Robert Baynard*, Vice Chair, 
Finance 
 

 
2019 

 
J.P. Morgan Securities L.L.C. 
Vice Chair 

Clarence Mitchell*,  Secretary 2020 C3 Ventures Group 
Managing Partner 
 

Alexa Bator Chae ‘90*, Assistant 
Secretary 

2018 The Metropolitan Opera 
Managing Director 

 
Denise Bailey-Castro ‘05 
 
 
Melinda Cheng* 

 
2020 

 
 

2018 

 
Viacom 
Director, Distribution & Development 
 
The Children’s Museum 
Board Member 
 

Rodney S. Cohen* 2018 The Carlyle Group 
Managing Director & Co Head, U.S. 
Equity Opportunity 
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James Clark* 2019 Silicon Graphics, Netscape, Healtheon, 
myCFO, and Shutterfly 
Founder 
 

Stephanie Coleman ‘95* 2019 New York Presbyterian Hospital 
Trustee 
 

Christina S. Diggs ‘03 
 
 
Claudio Garcia 
 
 
Bettina Goldstein Decker ‘88 
 
Brian J. Higgins* 

2018 
 
 

2020 
 
 

2019 
 

2019 

Fashion Institute of Technology 
Director of Residential Life 
 
Anheuser-Busch InBev 
Chief People Officer 
 
Chapin Trustee 
 
King Street Capital Management 
Managing Member  
 

Mona Aboelnaga Kanaan* 2020 Yola Colon, L.L.C. 
Managing Member, K6 Investments 
 

Beth Kojima* 2018 TPG-Axon Capital 
Partner 
 

Eric Lane* 2019 Goldman Sachs 
Global Co-Head, Investment 
Management Division 
 

William S. Macklowe 2019 William Macklowe Company 
CEO 
 

Lawrence Neubauer* 2020 Quilvest Private Equity 
Managing Partner 
 

Nicholas Potter* 2018 Debevoise & Plimpton L.L.P 
Partner 
 

Linda Gosden Robinson* 2020 BlackRock 
Global Head of Marketing & 
Communications 
 

Dr. Samantha Boardman 
Rosen ‘90* 

2018 Positive Prescription 
Founder 
 

Carolyn Rowan 2019 Carolyn Rowan Associates 
Creative Director 
 

Burwell Espy Schorr ‘88* 2018 Museum of the City of New York 
Trustee 
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Patricia T. Hayot, Ph.D., ex 
officio 
 
Kim Karetsky Krinsky ’95, ex 
officio* 

 Head of School 
 
 
President, Alumnae Association 

 

Farida Khan Singh, ex officio*  Chair, The Chapin School Parents 
Association 

 

*Parent of a current Chapin student or Chapin graduate within the last five years 

Management and Administration 

The School is led by the Head of School who reports to the Board of Trustees. The Head of School is 
supported by an experienced management team. 

The principal administrative personnel of The Chapin School are as follows: 

• Patricia Hayot, Ph.D., Head of School: Dr. Patricia Hayot was appointed as the sixth Head of 
School and began her work at Chapin in 2003. She has more than 30 years of experience in 
education. She has taught in the United States, Geneva, Switzerland and Paris, France. She served 
as head at both the International School Paris, a K-12 school offering the International 
Baccalaureate, and The Columbus School for Girls. A former Klingenstein Fellow at Teachers 
College, Columbia University, Dr. Hayot has held leadership positions in many independent 
schools associations, including the National Coalition of Girls Schools (NCGS), Independent 
Schools Admissions Association of Greater New York (ISAAGNY), and the Country Day Schools 
Headmasters Association (CDSHA).  She earned a Ph.D. in educational psychology from the 
University of Michigan and bachelor’s and master’s degree from Marquette University. 

• M.J. Quigley, Associate Head of School: M.J. Quigley joined Chapin in 1982 and serves as the 
Associate Head of School. Ms. Quigley was selected to participate in “Learning Environments for 
Tomorrow,” a program co-sponsored by The Harvard Graduate School of Education and The 
Graduate School of Design. Themes from that work focused on architecture and design, emerging 
technologies, progressive pedagogies, environmental sustainability, and collaboration. She earned 
a master’s degree in curriculum and teaching from Teachers College, Columbia University, and 
was a Klingenstein Fellow in independent school education in addition to her undergraduate 
degree in physical education from Springfield College. 

• Marc Bogursky, Chief Financial Officer: Marc Bogursky joined Chapin in 2017.  After a 
twenty-five career in various academic roles (math teacher, Director of Student Activities, Upper 
School Director) at several independent schools (Governor’s Academy, McBurney School, Dalton 
School, Blake School) across three states (MA, NY, MN), Mr. Bogursky served as the Director of 
Business and Finance at The Blake School in the Minneapolis area for five years.  Mr. Bogursky 
worked as the Chief Financial Officer of Blue School in lower Manhattan for two years before 
joining the Chapin professional community. He earned his bachelor's degree from Columbia 
College and he completed his Master’s Degree coursework in Educational Administration at 
Teachers College (Columbia University.)   

• Karey Boals, Director of College Guidance: Karey Boals earned her bachelor's degree in 
psychology at Ohio University and two master's degrees in psychological counseling at Teachers 
College at Columbia University. Ms. Boals served as chair of an Upper School task force focused 
on resilience and mental well-being. She has also taught Adolescent Psychology and Neuroscience 
of Social Behavior in the Upper School for many years. Ms. Boals came to Chapin in 1998. 
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• Anne Borland, Director of Advancement: Anne Borland joined Chapin in 2011. Prior to her 
appointment, she was the senior fundraiser and manager at the Morgan Library & Museum after 
working in London as Director of Development at the English National Opera.  She also served as 
Director of Major Gifts at the Metropolitan Opera and the Environmental Defense Fund. In all 
these positions, she has managed substantial funding areas and worked chiefly with high level 
individual donors on annual giving, capital campaigns and a wide variety of special projects. She 
began her career as a financial analyst at the Morgan Guaranty Trust Company.  Ms. Borland 
graduated from the University of California at Berkeley. 

• Erica Corbin, Director of Community Life and Diversity: Erica Corbin has worked in K-8, K-
12, single-gender, co-ed and higher education institutions for over 12 years. Prior to joining 
Chapin, she worked for seven years at Collegiate, a New York City boys independent school and 
Interschool member. Ms. Corbin also serves as chair of the New York State Association of 
Independent Schools (“NYSAIS”) Diversity Committee, co-chair of POCIS (People of Color in 
Independent Schools) and faculty for the Interschool Leadership Institute. Ms. Corbin received her 
bachelor of science degree from the University of Evansville and her master of science degree 
from Boston University. 

• Thérèse Cruite, Head of Lower School: Thérèse Cruite taught kindergarten, first, second and 
third grade levels for over 18 years. Before joining Chapin in 2002, she worked with the Brooklyn 
Heights Montessori School where she served as the Dean of the Lower Elementary division with 
responsibilities for admissions and curriculum development and design. Ms. Cruite became 
Director of Chapin Lower School Admissions in 2005. She became the Head of Lower School in 
2013. Ms. Cruite earned her bachelor’s degree in educational studies at the State University of 
New York (SUNY) Empire State College and her master’s degree in curriculum and teaching from 
Teachers College, Columbia University. 

• Brittany Dávila, Director of College Guidance: Prior to Chapin joining Chapin in 2017, Brittany 
Dávila worked as an associate director of admissions at Barnard College. Ms. Dávila also served 
as an assistant director of admission at Fordham University and a financial aid advisor at the 
University of La Verne in California. Ms. Dávila earned her B.A. with a combined major in 
English and world literature and gender and feminist studies from Pitzer College in Claremont, 
California, and her MS.Ed. in educational leadership and administration from Fordham University. 

• Xiomara Hall, Director of Middle and Upper School Admissions: Ms. Hall has worked for 
over 15 years in independent schools. Before joining Chapin in July 2016, Ms. Hall held the 
position of Director of Financial Aid and Associate Director of Admissions at the George School 
in Newtown, Pennsylvania. Prior to that role, Ms. Hall served as Director of Admission and 
Financial Aid at the St. Patrick’s Episcopal School in Washington, D.C.  Prior to that role, Ms. 
Hall taught for nine years at The Episcopal School in the City of New York after a year spent as 
Assistant Director of Admissions at Hobart & William Smith Colleges. Ms. Hall earned her 
bachelor of arts degree in English Literature from Hobart & William Smith Colleges and her 
master’s degree in Independent School Leadership from the Klingenstein Program at Teachers 
College, Columbia University. 

• Michael Maloy, Head of Upper School: Michael Maloy joined Chapin in 2011 after 10 years at 
The Dalton School, a New York City independent school and Interschool member, where he 
taught Spanish for three years before becoming Assistant High School Director and Chair of the 
department of modern and classical languages. He earned his bachelor’s degree in international 
economics from Florida State University. In addition to being a Fulbright fellow, Mr. Maloy holds 
a master’s degree in comparative literature from the University of Georgia, in Spanish literature 
from New York University, and in applied linguistics from the University of Salamanca in 
Salamanca, Spain. 
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• Jonathan Mamelok, Director of Technology: Jonathan Mamelok joined Chapin in 2006. Prior to 
joining Chapin, Mr. Mamelok served as the Director of Technology at the French-American 
School of New York in Westchester County, New York. He has more than 20 years of experience 
working with technology in business and education. Mr. Mamelok earned a bachelor of arts degree 
in political science from Columbia College of Columbia University. 

• Tom Palermo, Director of Physical Plant: Tom Palermo joined Chapin in 1981. Mr. Palermo 
has coordinated many major construction projects at Chapin including the 2008 23,000-square-
foot renovation and expansion project that added two new floors to the School. Numerous schools 
throughout the country have called upon Mr. Palermo for consulting services in the area of school 
safety and security, as well as accreditation preparation, evacuation plans and crisis management. 
Mr. Palermo also serves as the coordinator for the Consortium of Independent Schools Liaison for 
The Office of Emergency Management of the City of New York. 

• Mary Rafferty, Head of Middle School: Mary Rafferty joined Chapin in 2005 as Head of Middle 
School and as a Class 7 English teacher. Ms. Rafferty’s prior experience includes teaching in 
middle and upper schools and serving as a Department Chair, Dean and Middle School Head. Ms. 
Rafferty earned her bachelor’s degree in English from College of New Rochelle and her master’s 
degree in education and English from Adelphi University. 

• Dianne Williams, Director of Lower School Admissions: Dianne Williams joined Chapin in 
2013. Ms. Williams earned her bachelor’s degree in communications at Temple University in 
Philadelphia and received her master’s degree in special education at Hunter College in New York. 
Ms. Williams is a dually certified teacher for early childhood through sixth grade in both general 
and special education, and has over 10 years teaching experience at the early childhood and lower 
school levels. Ms. Williams began her administrative career at Claremont Children’s School (now 
Montclare) as the Assistant Director of the pre-k program, and then held the position as Director 
from 2010-2013. 

Faculty and Staff 

As of December 1, 2017, Chapin employed 124 faculty members (122 full time equivalents (“FTEs”)). 
Of the faculty members, 75% have advanced degrees and 85% are women. On average, Chapin teachers 
have 16 years of teaching experience and an average of 8 years at the School.  The student-teacher ratio 
is approximately 7:1. 

The median salary for faculty for the 2017-2018 academic year is $93,485.  In addition, the School 
employs 49 administrative staff. The School’s food service and maintenance are provided in part by 
outside contractors. No School employees are unionized. 

Tuition and Financial Aid 

Tuition and Peer Comparison.  Chapin believes its annual tuition and required fees remain competitive 
in comparison to its peer institutions. The 2017-2018 tuition and required fee rates for all three divisions 
are $48,487. Additionally, families pay for uniforms, books, supplies and certain other expenses related 
to their courses and activities. Members of the Interschool group, along with certain independent schools 
located in the Bronx, form a peer group of selective New York City independent schools. The average 
2017-2018 academic year tuition and required fees for the peer school group are listed below. The 
Chapin School 2017-2018 academic year tuition (not including fees) is $44,950, 4.5% higher than the 
School’s 2016-2017 academic year tuition. Peer school 2017-2018 academic year tuition increases 
ranged from 3.2% to 5.0% over the previous year.  
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School 2017-2018 Tuition and Required Fees 
(All grades) 

Riverdale Country School $52,125* 

Horace Mann School $50,615 

Trinity School 

The Spence School 

Collegiate School 

$50,497 

$49,895 

$49,800 

Ethical Culture Fieldston School $48,794 

The Browning School $48,766 

The Nightingale-Bamford School $48,600 

The Chapin School $48,487 

The Brearley School $47,650 

The Dalton School $46,150 
Note: Data set forth in this table was compiled based on publicly available information and the annual Interschool tuition survey. 
* Riverdale Country School “total educational costs” of $52,125 include books, supplies and certain fees. 

Financial Aid. Chapin provides need-based tuition assistance, or financial aid, to many qualified 
families. Chapin uses School &  Student Services by NAIS (SSS) to  help  determine  what  a  family  is  
capable  of  contributing  toward educational expenses. Families complete the SSS’ Parents Financial 
Statement (PFS) application form, and SSS generates a Family Report on each applicant based on the 
information submitted by parents or guardians.  Grant size per applicant is then determined based on the 
report and other factors including the family’s number of children in tuition-charging schools and all 
sources of income, savings, investments and assets. 

For the 2017-2018 school year, approximately 20% of Chapin students received financial aid. Aggregate 
financial aid totaled $6.2 million (approximately 17% of the School’s gross tuition revenue.) 

Enrollment Trends 

Chapin’s enrollment increased by approximately 10% from the 2013-2014 school year to the 2017-2018 
school year. Enrollment, total and by division, is included in the table below. 

Chapin Division 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 

Lower School 235 237 237 238 237 
Middle School 232 234 234 239 240 
Upper School 279 286 298 306 316 
Total Enrollment 746 757 769 783 793 

 
Applications and Admission Trends 

Each year, the School receives approximately 850 applications for approximately 95 enrollment spaces. 
Applicants to kindergarten come from over 120 different nursery schools. For the 2017-2018 academic 
year, Middle and Upper School applicants came from more than 60 public schools in New York City, 75 
non-public schools and over 30 schools outside of the State of New York. 
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The applications, admission and enrollment statistics for the School are listed in the tables below. Chapin 
received 825 applications for 89 enrollment spaces for the 2017-2018 school year. 

The Chapin School (All Divisions) 

Academic % Newly % Total 
Year  Applications Admitted Admitted Enrolled Yield Enrollment 
2013-14  882 134 15% 96 72% 746 
2014-15  857 144 17% 96 67% 755 
2015-16  849 138 16% 98 71% 769 
2016-17  885 126 14% 86 68% 783 
2017-18  825 122 15% 89 73% 793 
        

Kindergarten Class 

Academic % Newly % Total 
Year  Applications Admitted Admitted Enrolled Yield Enrollment
2013-14  496 74 15% 60 81% 60 
2014-15  460 82 18% 60 73% 60 
2015-16  469 89 19% 60 67% 60 
2016-17  439 86 20% 60 70% 60 
2017-18  425 84 20% 60 71% 60 

Lower School (Kindergarten to Class 3) 

Academic % Newly % Total 
Year  Applications Admitted Admitted Enrolled Yield Enrollment
2013-14  572 81 14% 65 80% 235 
2014-15  509 86 17% 64 74% 237 
2015-16  522 93 18% 65 70% 237 
2016-17  502 88 18% 62 70% 238 
2017-18  467 90 19% 65 72% 237 

Middle School (Classes 4 to 7) 

Academic % Newly % Total 
Year  Applications Admitted Admitted Enrolled Yield Enrollment
2013-14  171 17 10% 13 76% 232 
2014-15  182 17 9% 13 76% 234 
2015-16  157 15 10% 12 80% 234 
2016-17  169 19 11% 12 63% 239 
2017-18  143 14 10% 8 57% 240 
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Upper School (Classes 8 to 12) 

Academic % Newly % Total 
Year  Applications Admitted Admitted Enrolled Yield Enrollment
2013-14  139 36 26% 18 50% 279 
2014-15  166 41 25% 19 46% 284 
2015-16  170 30 18% 21 70% 298 
2016-17  214 19 9% 12 63% 306 
2017-18  215 18 8% 16 89% 316 

Historical Attrition 

Student attrition for the five most recently completed academic years is set forth in the following table. 

Academic  
Year 

All Students Class 8 Class 9 
Withdrawals % Withdrawals % Withdrawals % 

       
2012-13 30 4.10% 12 20% 5 9% 
2013-14 32 4.30% 11 18% 2 3% 
2014-15 30 4.00% 12 18% 3 5% 
2015-16 20 2.80% 5 8% 2 3% 
2016-17 25 3.50% 9 15% 5 8% 
       

Diversity 

In May of 2012, the Board unanimously revised Chapin’s Commitment to Diversity Statement as follows: 
Chapin is committed to diversity in its culture, curriculum and program. Believing that an equitable, 
inclusive community is essential to learning, Chapin actively seeks families, faculty and staff who bring a 
range of experiences to the school. Chapin embraces and respects differences in age, ethnicity, gender, 
learning style, physical ability, race, religion, sexual orientation and socioeconomic class. Expecting and 
requiring respect for others are hallmarks of our educational process. 

In the 2017-2018 academic year, based on the self-identification information, 49% of Chapin students 
were people of color, including those identifying as African-American, Asian, Latino/Hispanic, Multi-
racial and Middle Eastern. 

College Enrollment 

In Chapin School’s graduating Classes of 2013-2017, 27% of students attended Ivy League colleges and 
universities, 27% of students attended Top 10 National Universities per US News and World Report, and 
6% of students attended Top 10 National Liberal Arts Colleges per US News and World Report. 



A-12

 

 
 

College and University Matriculation- Classes 2013-2017 

The table below includes the eleven colleges and universities with the highest matriculation by student 
(2013 to 2017 Classes).  40% of Chapin students matriculated to these schools. 

College / University # of Matriculating Chapin Students 
Harvard University 14 

University of Pennsylvania  14 

New York University 11 

Georgetown University 9 

Brown University 8 

University of Chicago 8 

Columbia University 8 

Cornell University 8 

Princeton University 8 

Colgate University 7 

Duke University 7 

The table below includes all colleges and universities attended by Chapin’s recent graduates (2013 to 
2017 Classes). 

College / University 
# of 
Students College / University 

# of 
Students 

American University of Paris 1 Carleton College 1 

Amherst College 2 Carnegie Mellon University 1 

Babson College 1 Chapman University 1 

Bard College 1 University of Chicago 8 

Barnard College 4 Claremont McKenna College 1 

Bates College 3 Colby College 2 

Boston University 3 Colgate University 7 

Bowdoin College 2 College of Charleston 1 

Brown University 8 Columbia University 8 

Bucknell University 2 Connecticut College 1 

University of California, Los Angeles 2 Cornell University 8 

Dartmouth College 6 Pomona College 1 

Davidson College 3 Princeton University 8 

Duke University 7 Purdue University 1 

Durham University 1 University of Richmond 1 

Emory University 2 University of Rochester 1 

Fordham University 1 
Sciences Po - Columbia University Dual 
BA  1 

George Washington University 1 Skidmore College 1 
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Georgetown University 9 Smith College 1 

Gettysburg College 2 University of Southern California 2 

Hamilton College 3 University of St Andrews 4 

Harvard University 14 St. John's University 1 

Haverford College 2 Stanford University 5 

Johns Hopkins University 5 Swarthmore College 1 

Kenyon College 2 Syracuse University 2 

Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1 University of Toronto 1 

McGill University 1 Trinity College 2 

University of Miami 1 Tufts University 2 

University of Michigan 3 Tulane University 4 

Middlebury College 2 University of Vermont 1 

Muhlenberg College 1 Vanderbilt University 2 

New England Conservatory of Music 1 University of Virginia 6 

New York University 11 University of Wisconsin, Madison 1 

University of North Carolina at Chapel 
Hill 1 Wake Forest University 3 

Northeastern University 1 Washington University in St. Louis 6 

Northwestern University 6 Wellesley College 1 

Oberlin College 2 Wesleyan University 6 

University of Oxford 2 Whitman College 1 

Oxford College of Emory University 3 Williams College 6 

University of Pennsylvania 14 Yale University 3 
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Scholastic Aptitude and Achievement Test Scores 
 
For the five most recently graduating classes, Chapin students received the mean scores listed below on 
the SAT and ACT tests. 
 

*Totals out of 1600 

Management’s Discussion 

The table below provides a summary of the School’s operational results with financial data from Chapin’s 
FY 2013 through FY 2017 audited financial statements. 

Chapin Mean SAT Scores SAT National Average ACT 

Critical 
Reading Math Writing Total 

Critical 
Reading Math Writing Total 

Chapin 
Mean 
ACT 

National 
Average 

Class of 2013 725 706 737 2168 496 514 488 1498 29 21
Class of 2014 709 690 718 2117 497 513 487 1497 32 21
Class of 2015 707 675 715 2096 495 511 484 1490 31 21
Class of 2016 695 677 714 2086 494 508 482 1484 30 21
       
       

 New SAT Mean Scores* New SAT National Average*   ACT 

 EBRW Math Total  EBRW Math Total   

Chapin 
Mean 
ACT 

National 
Average 

Class of 2017 685 655 1340  544 538 1082   32 21
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Historical Operations Summary 
 

 
Revenues. As demonstrated in the continued strength of applications, high matriculation and low attrition, 
the School continues to attract and retain a strong cohort of academically qualified students. Over an 
extended period, the School has successfully managed its tuition rates, enrollment, and financial aid 
strategy to provide for growing total net tuition and fees. Chapin has also achieved sustained year over 
year growth in total operating revenues over the past five fiscal years. 
Expenses. Instructional salaries and benefits are the largest component of expenses.  Faculty retention and 
recruitment is key to the School’s core mission, and the School endeavors to provide competitive 
compensation and benefits to its faculty.  

There has not been any material adverse change in the financial condition of the School since June 30, 
2017. 

June 30, 
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Support and Revenue 
Tuition and Fees $26,578,085 $28,190,513 $29,463,480 $31,578,910  $33,659,350 
Financial Aid 4,706,854 4,876,702 5,211,060 5,533,869 5,604,954 

Net Tuition and Fees 21,871,231 23,313,811 24,252,420 26,045,041 28,054,396 
Contributions 4,702,299 4,950,912 5,699,686 4,837,024 5,287,521 
Investment Returns 5,159,000 5,654,000 6,055,000 6,254,000 6,408,000 

Student Support  Services 1,258,285 1,322,988 1,366,127 1,448,845 1,509,463 
Other Income 240,851 434,619 415,826 542,850 805,038 

Total Operating Revenue 33,231,666 35,676,330 37,789,059 39,127,760 42,064,418 
          
Expenses          
 Instructional 18,092,467  17,785,266  20,744,760  22,827,887  25,993,893 
 Administrative 9,198,144  18,135,611  8,501,091  9,119,451  11,029,910 
 Student Support Services 1,252,475  1,328,790  1,427,488  1,569,811  1,477,689 

 
External Affairs and 
Fundraising 1,563,393  1,812,990  2,429,311  2,630,178  2,791,068  

 Interest Expense 1,395,916  1,123,900  1,096,700  1,644,432  917,815  
Less Total Expenses 31,502,395  40,186,557*  34,199,350  37,791,759  42,210,375  
            
Operating Surplus 
(Deficit) 1,729,271  (4,510,227)*  3,589,709  1,336,001  (145,957)  
           

Plus Depreciation, Interest, 
and Amortization of Bond 
Issuance Costs 4,104,963  4,427,393  4,632,806  6,321,226  7,262,389  
           

Equals Operating Surplus 
Available for Debt Service 5,834,234  (82,834)*  8,222,215  7,657,227  7,116,432  
                                                                           

*FY 2014 expenses were impacted by a one-time, non-recurring, non-cash receivables write-down of $7.6 million. Adjusted for 
this writedown, FY 2014 Operating Surplus is $3.1 million and Operating Surplus Available for Debt Service is $7.5 million. 
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Net Assets 

The following table sets forth the School’s net assets as of June 30, 2017 for each of the five most recent 
fiscal years for which audited financial statements are available.  Fund balances reflect market conditions 
on the indicated dates and should not be viewed as indicative of fund balances on any subsequent date. 
Chapin has also achieved sustained year over year growth in unrestricted net assets over the past five 
fiscal years. 
 

June 30, 
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Unrestricted: 
Operating $40,253,454 $45,684,961 $44,475,193 $38,620,877  $33,777,451 
Capital campaigns 66,019,164 69,981,456 82,553,524 91,811,758 110,051,265 

106,272,618 115,666,417 127,028,717 130,432,635 143,828,716 

Board-designated 
unrestricted 

Scholarship endowment 6,960,327 7,780,936 7,882,027 7,876,981 8,389,253 
Board-designated 

endowment 33,573,145 41,863,453 42,486,498 41,708,889 44,826,713 
40,533,472 49,644,389 50,368,525 49,585,870 53,215,966 

Total Unrestricted Net Assets 146,806,090 165,310,806 177,397,242 180,018,505 197,044,682 
Temporarily restricted 11,920,815 3,629,215 27,073,634 31,565,820 23,565,994 
Permanently restricted 3,036,068 3,046,068 3,046,068 3,071,168 3,096,168 
Total Net Assets $161,762,973 $171,986,089 $207,516,944 $214,655,493  $223,706,844 

Investments and Liquidity 

Investments are funds held in interest-bearing accounts, as either marketable securities or cash, which are 
not intended to be used in the operations of the School. The value of Chapin’s investments was 
$124,361,883 as of June 30, 2016 and $123,375,780 as of June 30, 2017.  Chapin’s financial assets are 
highly liquid with over 86% of Chapin’s investments available within one day as of June 30, 2017. The 
asset allocation of the portfolio as of June 30, 2017 is below: 

Asset Class Fair Value % of Portfolio 
Cash and cash equivalents $26,233,454 21% 
Equity securities 10,767 0% 
Preferred stocks 0 0% 
Corporate bonds 28,785,601 23% 
U.S. government bonds 28,113,136 23% 
Mutual funds 23,829,304 19% 
Portfolio funds:   

Convertible debt securities 8,080,817 7% 
Derivative instruments 8,322,701 7% 



A-17

 

 
 

Investment Performance 

Chapin’s rates of return on investments in fiscal years 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 have been 
13.8%, 15.9%, 1.5%,  (0.2)%, and 4.8% respectively. Chapin’s net return on investment was 
$13,650,431, $17,528,401, $1,278,105, ($1,521,068) and $6,023,305 for fiscal years 2013, 2014, 2015, 
2016 and 2017, respectively. 

Endowment Spending Policy 

The School’s investment portfolio is managed on a total-return basis.  It is the School’s policy to make 
available for spending each year a percentage of the investment portfolio’s average market value for the 
preceding three years ending June 30, excluding investment and custodial fees.  In fiscal years 2013 to 
2017, spending for operations as a percent of investments value at the end of the prior fiscal year were 
1.4%, 1.1%, 1.1%, 1.3% and 2.0% respectively. The School’s endowment spending policy limits annual 
distributions to operations to an amount not greater than that which  permits the School’s total 
endowment fund’s year over year increase to be equal to or greater than the increase in the School’s cash 
expenses. The School may in its discretion, with the Board’s approval, appropriate more than its spending 
policy from an endowment fund or funds in a given year. Over the long term, School management 
expects the current spending policy to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets held in 
perpetuity or for a specified term, as well as to provide additional real growth through new gifts and 
investment returns. 

Annual Budgeting and Long-Range Financial Planning 

Annual Budgeting. Each year, eight months before the start of each fiscal year, the Chief Financial 
Officer, the Head of School and the Board’s Finance Committee, review the projected revenues and 
expenses for the upcoming fiscal year, based on a number of alternative economic and admissions 
scenarios.  Following this review, the Finance Committee provides recommendations for tuition 
increases, salary increases, and capital improvements and maintenance to the entire Board for its 
consideration, discussion, and approval. 

The Chief Financial Officer prepares the School’s annual budget, and the Board’s Finance Committee 
meets regularly during the year to review the status of the budget. Periodic reports are provided to the full 
Board on the content of those reviews. Internal management financial reports are reconciled to the audited 
financial statements. 

Long-Range Financial Planning. Each year, the Chief Financial Officer prepares and presents a five-
year projection to the Board’s Finance Committee which incorporates certain assumptions related to the 
size of the student body; revenue from Annual Giving; the growth of the endowment; faculty and staff 
compensation; and budgetary requirements for maintenance and physical plant upgrades. The committee 
reviews the plan in relation to long-range strategic targets, making adjustments to the plan based on 
enrollment, investment performance, and fundraising results. 

Development and Institutional Advancement 

Priorities and Organization 

Chapin’s long-term institutional advancement priorities are set by the Head of School, in consultation 
with the Board of Trustees. The Director of Advancement provides strategic leadership and direction for 
fundraising from all constituencies. The Advancement Office incorporates fundraising, communications, 
publications, alumnae affairs, and parent giving. The donor base for the School includes alumnae; current 
students; parents of current students; parents of alumnae; staff; faculty; and other friends of the School. 

Board Members take a leadership role in the identification, cultivation, solicitation, and stewardship of 
donors to Chapin and drive several key fundraising efforts. Trustee Development Committee members 
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and Alumnae Board members provide strategic advice on funding prospects in addition to actively 
soliciting funds through phonathons, written fundraising appeal communications, and personal meetings 
with and without Advancement Office staff. 

Annual Fundraising 

On an annual basis, the Director of Advancement, in consultation with the Head of School and the 
Trustee Development Committee, establishes the annual fundraising goals. The Director of Finance 
incorporates the goals into the annual budget, which is then reviewed and approved by the Board of 
Trustees. The annual fundraising goal is based on many factors, including recent giving history, the 
general economic environment, and Chapin’s financial requirements for a particular year. Specific 
activities to reach the School’s fundraising goals are determined by the Advancement Office in 
conjunction with the Board of Trustees and Alumnae Board. 

Money raised through the Annual Fund is utilized in part to supplement the School’s operating budget. 
The Annual Fundraising supports the following: financial aid; faculty enrichment; educational 
technology; curriculum innovation; extracurricular activities; and campus improvements. In Fiscal Year 
2017, 96% of the School’s parents and 44% of the School’s alumnae contributed to the Annual Fund; in 
Fiscal Year 2016, participation rates were 95% and 43%, respectively. The School has met its fundraising 
goals over the last 5 years. 

Capital Campaigns 

The Chapin School has successfully completed several successive capital campaigns and initiatives. 

2005 – 2009: Together We Will 

In 2005, Chapin announced the Together We Will campaign, a strategic plan to improve four areas: 
faculty support, financial aid, academic programs, and physical facilities.  A major undertaking to 
upgrade and expand the physical plant for the purposes of an improved educational experience resulted in 
space dedicated to a S. T. E. A. M. (Science, Technology, Engineering, the Arts and Math) program and 
to foreign language study. There was also a focus on increasing funding for competitive faculty 
compensation and enhanced funding for financial aid in keeping with the School’s priorities.  The 
Together We Will capital campaign raised $64 million and was completed in December 2009. 

2010 – 2015: Focus Forward 

In early 2009, a new five-year strategic plan, Focus Forward, was envisioned and then implemented in 
the fall of 2010. The goal of the Focus Forward plan was to facilitate a learning environment that would 
allow students to develop the skills, global awareness, and character resilience to thrive and lead in a 
world with very different challenges and opportunities than those that awaited previous generations. 
Specific initiatives included investments in faculty development, developing partnerships with select 
international schools, enhancing the Upper School advising program, expanded art and competitive sport 
offerings, and expanded curricular opportunities for students in languages, health, technology and ethics. 
The Focus Forward initiative raised $10 million and was completed in 2014. 

Current: Building Chapin’s Future 

The goals of Building Chapin’s Future are to expand the principles and practices of Focus Forward while 
continuing to nurture the School’s close and cohesive community through programmatic investments, 
additional staff, and the creation of an enhanced footprint and new flexible spaces to promote 
interdisciplinary, cross-divisional synergies inside and outside the classroom and foster the sense of 
community that comes from having kindergarten to Class 12 students together in one building. 
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With Building Chapin’s Future, the School seeks to achieve multiple, interrelated objectives of Focus 
Forward under one roof. These include: 

• Curricular innovations made possible by the repurposing of space into technology-enabled 
classrooms and project space. 

• Integrated athletics, play and exercise, and parity with sports league competitors with the 
construction of a regulation-size gymnasium. 

• The ability to gather Chapin’s entire community in one place, accommodated by the new 
gymnasium. 

• Enhanced opportunities in music and dance with the addition of new dedicated practice, 
instructional and performance rooms. 

• Greater social, emotional and physical well-being, supported by the expansion and further 
integration of Learning Resources, Counseling Services department and Health Services. 

The Building Chapin’s Future campaign began its quiet period in September 2014 and has a funding goal 
of $100 million. To date, donors have pledged over $72 million to support the campaign. The School will 
seek support from the entire Chapin community during the course of the campaign. 

The table below provides an overview, on a GAAP basis, of contributions and gifts the School has 
received since Fiscal Year 2013. 

Source1 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
Annual Giving $4,144,826 $4,078,498 $4,292,406 $4,383,651 $4,408,010
Together We Will Campaign $2,521,394 $799,292 $236,000 $114,888 $10,250
Focus Forward Initiative $1,634,974 $3,121,375 $670,650 $287,817 $251,717
Senior Gift $177,745 $607,173 $455,690 $215,414 $86,575
Special Gift $432,616 $332,837 $234,669 $352,303 $839,536
Special Event -- -- $1,073,394
Building Chapin’s Future Campaign -- -- $11,545,093 $8,854,529 $17,801,060
Total $8,911,555 $8,939,175 $18,507,902 $14,208,602 $23,397,148

Indebtedness 

The School’s only long-term indebtedness is that relating to the Prior Bonds, all of the principal amount 
of which is currently outstanding ($75,000,000). A portion of the proceeds of the Bonds will be used to 
refund the entire 2019 maturity of the Prior Bonds in the outstanding principal amount of $25,000,000. 
Additional proceeds of the Bonds, if any, will be used to finance the Project.   

The School does not currently plan to incur indebtedness in addition to the Prior Bonds and the Bonds in 
the near future. 

Retirement Plans and Benefits 

Defined-Contribution 403(b) Plan. The Chapin School sponsors a defined-contribution 403(b) plan, 
which covers faculty, administrative staff and other employees. The School contributes an amount equal 
to 10% of each participant’s base salary to the plan. Plan participants are required to make contributions 
in the form of payroll deductions in an amount equal to 3% of compensation and may contribute up to the 
maximum allowed by federal law. The School’s contribution expense for fiscal-years 2017 and 2016 was 
approximately $1,647,000 and $1,574,000, respectively. Contributions to the plan are paid to the 
Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America - College Retirement Equities Fund (“TIAA-
CREF”), which invests and administers these funds in the manner directed by each employee. There is a 
                                                 
1Senior Gifts are given by graduating seniors. Special Event gifts are defined as gifts from fundraising events. Special Gifts are those gifts given 
outside of defined campaigns, initiatives and Annual fundraising. 
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one-year waiting period for employer contributions for those employees who previously did not work in 
not-for-profit or government. 

Legacy Postretirement Medical Benefit Plan. The School had a legacy postretirement medical benefit 
plan. As of FY 2002, the School discontinued the postretirement medical plan and closed it to new 
entrants. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the School accrued the 
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation of $95,000 on June 30, 2016. As of June 2016 no 
participants remained in the plan, and, therefore for FY 2017, the School did not record an accrual for an 
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation.  

Insurance 

The School’s risk management program is the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer, under the 
oversight of the Head of School and the Board. The School carries standard industry insurance policies, 
including real and personal property, general comprehensive liability, workers’ compensation, educators’ 
legal liability, excess liability and automobile liability. 

Litigation 

To the best knowledge of the School, there is no material litigation currently pending against the School 
which would impede the School’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Bonds. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

Board of Trustees 
The Chapin School, Ltd. 
New York, New York 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Chapin School, Ltd. (the "School"), 
which comprise the statements of financial position as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, the related statements 
of activities and of cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The School's management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgments, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the 
organization's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the organization's internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of The Chapin School, Ltd. as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, and the changes in its net 
assets and its cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

New York, New York 
September 18, 2017 
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THE CHAPIN SCHOOL, LTD. 

See notes to financial statements. 2

Statements of Financial Position 

June 30, 
2017 2016 

ASSETS
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 16,700,479 $ 10,322,909 
 Bond proceeds held by trustee   23,529,582   3,484 
 Investments   123,375,780   124,361,883 
 Pooled life and gift annuity income fund   285,284   272,560 
 Pledges receivable, net   21,679,385   30,123,105 
 Note receivable   500,000   500,000 
 Due from brokers      236,915 
 Other receivables and other assets   1,591,040   1,622,841 
 Property and equipment, net   139,856,912   110,661,281 

$ 327,518,462 $ 278,104,978 

LIABILITIES
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 8,451,865 $ 6,167,850 
 Deferred tuition revenue   4,359,233   4,319,331 
 Accrued bond interest   712,588   177,783 
 Deferred revenue of pooled life and annuity income gifts   163,412   156,501 
 Postretirement benefit obligations      95,000 
 Short-term debt payable      32,000,000 
 Bonds payable, net   90,124,520   20,533,020 

  103,811,618   63,449,485 

 Commitments and contingency (see Note M) 

NET ASSETS  
 Unrestricted   197,044,682   180,018,505 
 Temporarily restricted   23,565,994   31,565,820 
 Permanently restricted   3,096,168   3,071,168 

  223,706,844   214,655,493 

$ 327,518,462 $ 278,104,978 
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Statements of Activities 

Year Ended June 30, 
2017 2016 

 Temporarily Permanently   Temporarily Permanently  
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total 

        
Operating revenue:         
 Tuition and fees $ 33,659,350   $ 33,659,350 $ 31,578,910   $ 31,578,910 
 Less financial aid   (5,604,954)    (5,604,954)   (5,533,869)    (5,533,869) 

        
 Net tuition and fees    28,054,396     28,054,396   26,045,041     26,045,041 
 Contributions   4,386,411 $ 901,110    5,287,521   4,289,408 $ 547,616    4,837,024 
 Investment returns designated for current         
  operations   6,408,000     6,408,000   6,254,000     6,254,000 
 Student support services   1,509,463     1,509,463   1,448,845     1,448,845 
 Other income   805,038  805,038   542,850 542,850 

        
   Total operating revenue   41,163,308   901,110 42,064,418   38,580,144   547,616 39,127,760 

        
Expenses:         
 Instructional   25,993,893     25,993,893   22,827,887     22,827,887 
 Administrative   11,029,910     11,029,910   9,119,451     9,119,451 
 Student support services   1,477,689     1,477,689   1,569,811     1,569,811 
 External affairs and fund-raising   2,791,068     2,791,068   2,630,178     2,630,178 
 Interest expense   917,815    917,815   1,644,432    1,644,432 

        
   Total expenses   42,210,375    42,210,375   37,791,759    37,791,759 

        
(Deficit) excess of operating revenue over expenses   (1,047,067)   901,110    (145,957)   788,385   547,616    1,336,001 

        
Non-operating activities:         
 Investment (losses) returns, net of amount         
  designated for current operations   (587,357)   202,662    (384,695)   (7,727,736)   (47,332)    (7,775,068) 
 Amortization of pooled life-income gifts    5,813    5,813    (361)    (361) 
 Contributions   $ 25,000   25,000   $ 25,100   25,100 
 Special gift and capital campaign expenditures   (102,935)     (102,935)   (66,103)     (66,103) 
 Capital campaigns      9,654,125   9,654,125   13,618,980   13,618,980 

        
(Deficit) excess of revenue over expenses before net         
 assets released from restrictions   (1,737,359)   10,763,710   25,000   9,051,351   (7,005,454)   14,118,903   25,100   7,138,549 
Net assets released from restrictions   18,763,536   (18,763,536) 0   9,626,717   (9,626,717) 0

    
Change in net assets   17,026,177   (7,999,826)   25,000   9,051,351   2,621,263   4,492,186   25,100   7,138,549 
Net assets, beginning of the year   180,018,505   31,565,820   3,071,168   214,655,493   177,397,242   27,073,634   3,046,068   207,516,944 

        
Net assets, end of the year $ 197,044,682 $ 23,565,994 $ 3,096,168 $ 223,706,844 $ 180,018,505 $ 31,565,820 $ 3,071,168 $ 214,655,493 
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Statements of Cash Flows 

Year Ended 
June 30, 

2017 2016

Cash flows from operating activities:  
 Change in net assets $ 9,051,351 $ 7,138,549 
 Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash 
  provided by operating activities: 
   Depreciation   6,344,574   4,676,794 
   Contribution restricted for long-term activities   (25,000)   (25,100) 
   Contribution received for capital campaigns   (9,654,125)   (13,618,980) 
   Amortization of bond-issuance costs   (104,231)   (5,257) 
   Amortization of bond premiums   (517,019)   0 
   Provision for uncollectible accounts - capital campaign   61,000   0 
   Net realized and unrealized (gains) losses on investments   (4,414,744)   4,791,320 
   Donated securities   (1,240,156)   (1,408,562) 
   Proceeds from sale of donated securities   1,240,156   1,079,092 
   Changes in: 
    Pledges receivable   8,382,720   (4,313,414) 
    Due from broker   236,915   (231,148) 
    Other receivables and other assets   31,801   (141,290) 
    Accounts payable and accrued expenses   2,284,015   2,437,183 
    Deferred tuition revenue   39,902   (59,914) 
    Accrued bond interest   534,805   (3,720) 
    Postretirement benefit obligations   (95,000)   0 
    Pooled income and gift annuity funds   (5,813)   361 
    Due to broker      (301,428) 

     Net cash provided by operating activities   12,151,151   14,486 

Cash flows from investing activities:  
 Purchases of property and equipment   (35,540,205)   (44,059,660) 
 Proceeds from sales of investments   88,862,277   53,162,564 
 Purchases of investments  (83,461,430)   (56,143,794) 

     Net cash used in investing activities   (30,139,358)   (47,040,890) 

Cash flows from financing activities:  
 Repayments of principal on bonds   (21,390,000)   (465,000) 
 Proceeds from bond issuance   92,771,790 
 Payments for debt-issuance costs   (1,169,040) 
 Proceeds from short-term debt   32,000,000 
 Repayment of short-term debt   (32,000,000)    
 Capital campaign contributions   9,654,125   13,618,980 
 Endowment contributions   25,000   25,100 

     Net cash provided by financing activities   47,891,875   45,179,080 

Change in cash and cash equivalents   29,903,668   (1,847,324) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   10,326,393   12,173,717 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 40,230,061 $ 10,326,393 

Supplemental disclosure of cash-flow information:  
Interest paid (net of capitalized interest of $2,333,333 in 2017) $ 383,010 $ 1,648,152 

 Capital expenditures included in accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 454,688 $ 0 
 Bond premium included in bonds payable $ 16,602,750 $ 0 
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NOTE A - THE SCHOOL AND ITS SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

[1] The School: 

The Chapin School, Ltd. (the "School"), located in New York City, was established in 1901 as an 
independent day school for young women in kindergarten through the 12th grade.  The School is exempt 
from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and from state and 
local income taxes under comparable laws. 

[2] Basis of accounting: 

The accompanying financial statements of the School have been prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting and conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. 
GAAP") as applicable to not-for-profit organizations.

[3] Use of estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the School's management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and 
expenses, as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.  Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

[4] Cash and cash equivalents: 

For financial-reporting purposes, the School considers highly liquid investments, purchased with an original 
maturity of three months or less, to be cash equivalents, except that cash that is held as part of the 
investment portfolio. 

[5] Investments: 

Investments in cash held in interest-bearing accounts, and equity securities and mutual funds with readily 
determinable fair values, are reported at their fair values in the accompanying statements of financial 
position, with realized and unrealized gains and losses included in the accompanying statements of 
activities.  The School's equity securities and mutual funds are also reported at values determined by the 
related investment managers or advisors and are reviewed by the School's management for 
reasonableness. 

The School also has investments in portfolio funds, consisting of limited liability companies, for which readily 
determinable fair values do not exist.  The fair value of the portfolio fund investments has been estimated 
based on the respective net asset value ("NAV") per share (or its equivalent unit) of each investment, as 
reported by the fund managers.  Because of the complex management structure and nature of the 
underlying investments and the inherent uncertainty of the valuation of the portfolio fund investments, 
the School's management and its various investment managers monitor their positions to reduce the risk of 
potential losses due to changes in fair values or the failures of counterparties to perform.  Management 
believes the carrying amount of the investments in non-publicly traded securities is a reasonable estimate of 
their fair values.  However, estimated fair values may differ significantly from the values that would have 
been used had a ready market for these securities existed. 

Certain of the investments in which the School has a position enter into various financial instruments in the 
normal course of their operations, including derivatives held or issued for trading purposes.  
These investments are subject to market risks which arise from changes in securities values and other 
market conditions.  As part of their overall trading strategy, the investment funds may engage in the 
purchase and sale of index and equity options, for the purposes of generating profit and/or reducing market 
risk. 
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NOTE A - THE SCHOOL AND ITS SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

[5] Investments:  (continued) 

Investment transactions are recorded on a trade-date basis.  Realized gains and losses on investments 
sold, and unrealized appreciation or depreciation on investments held, are reported in the accompanying 
statements of activities.  The earnings from dividends and interest are recognized when earned. 

Investment expenses include the services of investment managers and custodians.  The balance of 
investment management fees disclosed in Note B are those specific fees charged by the School's various 
investment managers in each fiscal year; however, they do not include those fees that are embedded in 
various other investment accounts and transactions. 

Donated securities are recorded at their estimated fair values at the dates of donation.  The School's policy 
is to sell donated securities immediately, and, accordingly, for purposes of the accompanying statements of 
cash flows, donated securities and the proceeds generated from their subsequent sales are included as 
operating activities.   

The School's investment portfolio is managed on a total-return basis.  It is the School's policy to make 
available for spending each year a percentage of the investment portfolio's average market value for the 
preceding three years ending June 30, excluding investment and custodial fees. 

[6] Pooled life and gift annuity income fund: 

The pooled life and gift annuity income fund represents gifts received subject to provisions that the donors, 
or their beneficiaries, receive all income from the fund during their lives, with the corpus of each gift passing 
to the School upon the death of the donor or beneficiary.  The assets received are held as investments in 
pooled funds. The differences between the fair values of the assets initially received and the original 
contributions have been reported as deferred revenue in the accompanying statements of activities. 

[7] Property and equipment: 

The School's property and equipment are stated at their original costs at the dates of acquisition, 
or, if contributed, at their fair values at the dates of donation.  Minor costs of repairs and maintenance are 
expensed as incurred.  The School capitalizes items of property and equipment that have a cost of $1,000 
or more and a useful life greater than one year.  Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over 
the estimated useful lives of the related assets, which range from 3-to-35 years.  Land is not depreciated. 

The School capitalizes interest on property constructed for its own use.  Capitalized interest amounted to 
approximately $2,333,000 for fiscal-year 2017.   

Management evaluates the recoverability of the investment in long-lived assets on an on-going basis and 
recognizes any impairment in the year of determination.  Long-lived assets were tested for impairment as of 
June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and, in the opinion of management, there were no impairments.  
However, it is reasonably possible that relevant conditions could change in the near term and necessitate a 
change in management's estimate of the recoverability of these assets. 

[8] Deferred bond-issuance costs: 

Costs incurred in connection with debt financing are deferred and amortized over the term of the related 
debt using the straight-line method, which approximates the effective-interest method of amortization.  
These costs are reported in the accompanying statements of financial position as a direct reduction of the 
related debt.  The amortization of deferred bond-issuance costs is reported as interest expense in the 
accompanying statements of activities. 
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NOTE A - THE SCHOOL AND ITS SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

[8] Deferred bond-issuance costs:  (continued) 

Interest expense relating to the amortization of deferred bond-issuance costs was approximately $208,000 
and $36,000 in fiscal-years 2017 and 2016 respectively. (See Note A [17] and Note E.) 

[9] Accrued vacation: 

Based on their tenure, the School's employees are entitled to be paid for unused vacation time if they leave the 
School's employ.  Accordingly, at each fiscal year-end, the School must recognize a liability for the amount that 
would be incurred if employees with such unused vacation were to leave.  At June 30, 2017 and 2016, 
this accrued vacation obligation was approximately $219,000 and $232,000, respectively, and was reported as 
part of accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying statements of financial position. 

[10] Due from brokers: 

The clearing and depository operations for the School's investment-custodial activities are performed 
pursuant to agreements with investment brokers.  The balance due from brokers in the accompanying 
statements of financial position represent pending trades placed by the brokers. 

[11] Deferred tuition revenues: 

Tuition and fees received prior to the fiscal year-end that are applicable to the following academic year are 
deferred and subsequently recognized as revenue as the educational services are provided. 

[12] Net assets: 

(i) Unrestricted: 

Unrestricted net assets represent those resources that are not subject to donor restrictions and are 
therefore available for current operations.  Accordingly, the Board of Trustees has allocated a portion of 
these unrestricted funds to act as board-designated endowment (see Note J), the unrestricted earnings 
from which will be applied to future support of its scholarship program and to such other areas as the 
Board may specify. 

(ii) Temporarily restricted: 

Temporarily restricted net assets represent those resources that are subject to the requirements of the 
New York Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act ("NYPMIFA") and that the use of which has 
been restricted by donors or state law to specific purposes and/or the passage of time.  When a donor 
restriction expires, that is, when (i) a stipulated time restriction ends, (ii) a purpose restriction is 
accomplished, or (iii) the funds are appropriated through an action of the Board of Trustees, temporarily 
restricted net assets are reclassified as unrestricted net assets and are reported in the accompanying 
statements of activities as "net assets released from restrictions." 

(iii) Permanently restricted: 

Permanently restricted net assets represent those resources the principal of which is originally 
restricted into perpetuity by donors.  The purposes for which the income and net capital appreciation 
arising from the underlying assets may be used depend on the wishes of those donors.  Under the 
terms of NYPMIFA, those earnings are classified as temporarily restricted in the accompanying 
statements of activities, pending appropriation by the Board of Trustees. 
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NOTE A - THE SCHOOL AND ITS SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

[13] Revenue recognition: 

(i) Revenue from tuition and fees: 

Revenue from tuition and fees is recognized over the course of the academic term to which it relates.  
Financial aid is also recognized over the course of the term in the form of reductions in tuition and fees 
provided to specific students. Therefore financial aid is reported as a reduction of tuition and fees in the 
accompanying statements of activities.   

(ii) Contributions: 

Contributions to the School are recognized as revenue upon the receipt either of cash or other assets, 
or of unconditional pledges.  Contributions are recorded as either temporarily or permanently restricted 
if they are received with donor stipulations or time considerations as to their use.  Conditional 
contributions are not recorded as revenue until the donors' specified conditions have been met; if 
assets for conditional contributions are received prior to the satisfaction of those conditions, they would 
be recognized in the statements of financial position as funds received in advance.  Contributions to be 
received over periods longer than a single year are discounted to present value, at an interest rate 
commensurate with the risk involved. 

(iii) Student support services: 

Student support services represent income from student-related programs that is recognized in the 
accompanying statements of activities as the services are provided. 

(iv) Other revenue: 

Other revenues are recognized in the accompanying statements of activities as the underlying services 
are provided. 

[14] Functional allocation of expenses: 

The costs of providing the various programs and supporting services have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the accompanying statements of activities.  Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated by 
management among the program, management, and fund-raising areas using appropriate methodologies. 

[15] Measure of operations: 

The School includes in its definition of operations all of those revenue and expenses that are an integral part 
of its educational programs and supporting activities.  Long-term investment returns in excess of (or less 
than) amounts related to the School's authorized spending policy, contributions to the capital campaigns, 
permanently restricted gifts, and the amortization of pooled life-income gifts are recognized as part of 
non-operating activities. 

[16] Income-tax uncertainties: 

The School is subject to the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board's (the "FASB") 
Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 740, Income Taxes, as it relates to accounting and 
reporting for uncertainty in income taxes.  Because of the School's general tax-exempt status, 
ASC Topic 740 has not had, and is not expected to have, a material impact on the School's financial 
statements. 
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NOTE A - THE SCHOOL AND ITS SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

[17] Recent accounting pronouncements: 

In August 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2016-14, Presentation of 
Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities.  ASU 2016-14 amends financial-statement presentations and 
disclosures, with the goal of assisting not-for-profit organizations in providing more relevant information 
about their resources (and the changes in those resources) to donors, grantors, creditors, and other users.  
ASU 2016-14 includes qualitative and quantitative requirements in the following areas: (i) net asset classes, 
(ii) investment returns, (iii) expense categorizations, (iv) liquidity and availability of resources, and (v) 
presentation of operating cash flows.  The new reporting standard will be effective for fiscal years beginning 
after  December 15, 2017.  Management is currently evaluating the effect that this new guidance will have 
on the School's financial statement and related disclosures. 

In April 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation 
of Debt Issuance Costs, which required that debt-issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be 
presented in an entity's statement of financial position as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that 
debt liability, consistent with the current treatment of debt discounts.  ASU 2015-03 was effective for annual 
reporting periods issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015.  Accordingly, the School was 
required to adopt ASU 2015-03 during fiscal-year 2017, which under U.S. GAAP was a change in 
accounting principal requiring retroactive application in the financial statements. Although the School's 
adoption of ASU 2015-03 had no effect of the School's net assets or its changes in net assets for fiscal-
years 2017 and 2016, certain reclassifications were required.  Accordingly, the School reclassified its debt-
issuance costs for fiscal-years 2017 and 2016 by $916,211 and $856,980, respectively, thereby 
correspondingly reducing its balance of long-term debt in the accompanying statements of financial position.  
The School also reclassified as interest expense its amortization of debt-issuance costs for fiscal-years 
2017 and 2016 of $104,231 and $5,257, respectively.  

[18] Subsequent events: 

The School considered the potential accounting treatments, and the related disclosures in the current fiscal-
year's financial statements, that may be required as the result of all events or transactions that occurred 
after June 30, 2017 through September 18, 2017, the date on which the financial statements were available 
to be issued. 

NOTE B - INVESTMENTS

At each fiscal year-end, investments consisted of the following: 

June 30,
2017 2016

Fair Value Cost Fair Value Cost

Cash and cash equivalents $ 26,233,454 $ 26,233,454 $ 32,070,016 $ 32,070,016 
Equity securities - domestic   10,767   10,767   23,531,948   17,943,883 
Preferred stocks - domestic         506,564   521,924 
Corporate bonds   28,785,601   28,792,263   3,115,329   3,238,547 
U.S. government bonds   28,113,136   28,118,413   9,248,082   8,811,701 
Mutual funds   23,829,304   24,589,832   40,945,920   45,282,061 
Portfolio funds: 
 Convertible debt securities   8,080,817   5,000,000   7,467,260   5,000,000 
 Derivative instruments   8,322,701   4,912,500   7,476,764   4,912,500 

$ 123,375,780 $ 117,657,229 $ 124,361,883 $ 117,780,632 
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NOTE B - INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

As disclosed above, concentration of the School's investments in excess of 10% of the fair value of its portfolio 
included approximately (i) 34% invested in cash and cash equivalents, (ii) 20% invested in corporate bonds, (iii) 
19% invested in U.S. government bonds (iv) 16% invested in mutual funds, and (v) 12% invested in portfolio 
funds. 

During each fiscal year, investment returns consisted of the following: 

Year Ended 
June 30, 

2017 2016 

Dividends and interest (net of investment expenses of 
 $117,233 and $205,457 in 2017 and 2016, respectively) $ 1,608,561 $ 3,270,252 
Realized gains   5,277,444   2,830,420 
Unrealized losses   (862,700)   (7,621,740) 

Net return on investment   6,023,305   (1,521,068) 
Investment return designated for current operations   (6,408,000)   (6,254,000) 

Investment return less amounts designated for current  
 operations $ (384,695) $ (7,775,068) 

The FASB's ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements, establishes a three-level valuation hierarchy of fair-value 
designations.  These valuation techniques are based on observable and unobservable inputs.  Observable inputs 
reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect market assumptions.  
These two types of inputs create the following fair-value hierarchy: 

Level 1: Valuations are based on observable inputs that reflect quoted market prices in active markets for 
those investments at the reporting date. 

Level 2: Valuations are based on (i) quoted prices for similar investments in active markets, or 
(ii) quoted prices for those investments, or similar investments, in markets that are not active, or 
(iii) pricing inputs other than quoted prices that are directly or indirectly observable at the reporting 
date.

Level 3: Valuations are based on pricing inputs that are unobservable and include situations where 
(i) there is little, if any, market activity for the investments, or (ii) the investments cannot be 
independently valued. 

Certain of the School's investments are valued using NAV per share (or its equivalent unit) as a practical 
expedient of fair value. This applies to investments (i) which do not have a readily determinable fair value and (ii) 
the financial statements of which were prepared by the respective investment managers, in a manner consistent 
with the measurement principles of either an investment company or an entity which has the attributes of an 
investment company. Investments that are valued using NAV per share (or its equivalent unit) are not required to 
be categorized within the fair-value hierarchy. Accordingly, these NAV-investments and certain related 
disclosures are no longer required to be included in the accompanying financial statements. 

The availability of market data is monitored to assess the appropriate classification of financial instruments within 
the fair-value hierarchy.  Changes in economic conditions or valuation techniques may require the transfer of 
financial instruments from one level to another.  In such instances, the transfer is reported at the beginning of the 
reporting period.  For fiscal-years 2017 and 2016, there were no transfers among the fair-value-hierarchy levels of 
the School's investments. 
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NOTE B - INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following tables summarize the fair values of the School's financial assets at each fiscal year-end, in 
accordance with ASC Topic 820 valuation levels: 

June 30, 2017 
Amounts Within the Fair-Value Hierarchy 

Measured at 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total NAV Total 

Cash and cash            
 equivalents $ 26,233,454      $ 26,233,454    $ 26,233,454 
Equity securities  10,767       10,767     10,767 
Corporate bonds   $ 28,785,601     28,785,601     28,785,601 
U.S. government bonds    28,113,136     28,113,136     28,113,136 
Mutual funds    23,829,304     23,829,304     23,829,304 
Pooled life and gift annuity            
 income fund     $ 285,284   285,284     285,284 
Portfolio funds         $ 16,403,518   16,403,518 

           
$ 26,244,221  $ 80,728,041  $ 285,284  $ 107,257,546  $ 16,403,518  $ 123,661,064 

June 30, 2016 
Amounts Within the Fair-Value Hierarchy 

Measured at 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total NAV Total

    
Cash and cash     
 equivalents $ 32,070,016 $ 32,070,016 $ 32,070,016 
Equity securities  23,531,948  23,531,948  23,531,948 
Preferred stocks  506,564  506,564  506,564 
Corporate bonds $ 3,115,329  3,115,329  3,115,329 
U.S. government bonds  9,248,082  9,248,082  9,248,082 
Mutual funds  40,945,920  40,945,920  40,945,920 
Pooled life and gift annuity            
 income fund $ 272,560  272,560  272,560 
Portfolio funds    $ 14,944,024  14,944,024 

    
$ 56,108,528 $ 53,309,331 $ 272,560 $ 109,690,419 $ 14,944,024 $ 124,634,443 

The following summarizes the changes in fair values of the School's Level 3 investments during each fiscal year: 

June 30, 
2017 2016 

Beginning balance $ 272,560 $ 281,005 
Changes in the value of the pooled life  
 and annuity fund   12,724   (8,445) 

Ending balance $ 285,284 $ 272,560 
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NOTE B - INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following table describes the funding commitment and redemption information for the School's portfolio funds: 

Year Ended
June 30, 2017

 Unfunded Redemption Redemption 
Fair Value Commitments Frequency Notice Period

Limited liability companies $ 8,080,817 None Semi-Annually N/A
Limited partnerships  8,322,701 None Quarterly 60 days

$ 16,403,518

NOTE C - RECEIVABLES

[1] Pledges receivable: 

At each fiscal year-end, net uncollected pledges of contributions made to the School are estimated to be 
received as follows: 

June 30, 
2017 2016 

Less than one year $ 18,079,759 $ 21,412,078
One year to five years   12,034,101   17,530,000

  30,113,860   38,942,078

Reduction of pledges due in excess of one year to present 
 value, using a discount rate ranging from 3.39% to 3.69%   (1,134,475)   (1,518,973)

  28,979,385   37,423,105
Less: estimated uncollectible amounts   (7,300,000)   (7,300,000)

$ 21,679,385 $ 30,123,105

[2] Other receivables: 

At each fiscal year-end, other receivables consisted of amounts due to the School for exchange-type 
transactions.  All amounts are due within one year.  Based on management's past experience, 
the receivables are expected to be fully collected, and, accordingly, no allowance for doubtful accounts has 
been established. 

[3] Note receivable: 

During fiscal-year 2006, the School made an interest-free loan to the Head of the School in the amount of 
$500,000, to be repaid on March 31, 2018.  The applicable interest involved was appropriately considered, 
using the applicable federal rates. 
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NOTE D - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

At each fiscal year-end, property and equipment consisted of the following: 

June 30, 
2017 2016 

Land $ 1,264,097 $ 1,264,097 
Buildings and improvements   133,117,986   94,575,993 
Furniture and equipment   14,537,663   13,309,072 

  148,919,746   109,149,162 
Less: accumulated depreciation   (48,734,865)   (42,390,291) 

  100,184,881   66,758,871 
Construction-in-progress   39,672,031   43,902,410 

$ 139,856,912 $ 110,661,281 

Construction-in-progress represents costs incurred for the renovations of classrooms and the gymnasium.  During 
fiscal-years 2017 and 2016, amounts of approximately $40,727,000 and $13,941,000, respectively, were 
transferred from construction-in-progress to the respective assets placed in service.   

NOTE E - LONG-TERM DEBT

[1] Bonds payable: 

In August 2016, the School defeased the existing $40,000,000 of New York City Industrial Development 
Agency Series 2006A and 2006B Civic Facility Revenue Bonds, the proceeds from which had been  used to 
finance the costs of (i) the improvement, renovation and equipping of the School's building and (ii) the 
construction, improvement and equipping of a two-story addition to the building. 

Then, later in fiscal-year 2017, the School issued $75,000,000 in Build NYC Resource Corporation Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2016.  Bond-issuance premium relating to the Series 2016 bonds amounted to $16,602,750 
and is included as part of the balance of bonds payable in the accompanying statements of financial position 
at June 30, 2017.  A portion of the bond-issuance proceeds was used to retire the revolving line-of-credit as 
further described in Note E [2].  The remaining proceeds will be used to fund the ongoing project of 
renovation and facility space enhancement at the School. 

Bonds at fiscal-years 2017 and 2016 consist of the following: 

Amount Outstanding at 
Interest Final  June 30,  

Rate Maturity 2017 2016 

Series 2006A 4.8% 2018 $ 1,400,000 
Series 2006B 5.0% 2038  19,990,000 
Series 2016 5.0% 2019 $ 25,000,000 
Series 2016 4.0% 2026 25,000,000 
Series 2016 5.0% 2026 25,000,000 

75,000,000  21,390,000 
Net unamortized premium 16,085,731 
Unamortized debt issuance costs (961,211)  (856,980) 

$ 90,124,520 $ 20,533,020 
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NOTE E - LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

[2] Revolving line-of-credit agreement: 

In July 2015, the School entered into a revolving line-of-credit agreement with a bank in the amount of 
$35,000,000 to fund the renovation and facility space enhancement at the School.  The term of the 
agreement was for one year and the effective interest rate was based on the one-month LIBOR, plus 1.55%.  
In June 2016, the term of the agreement was extended to September 1, 2016.  As of June 30, 2016, the 
School had drawn down $32,000,000, which was subsequently paid off in August 2016.   

NOTE F - EMPLOYEE-BENEFIT PLANS

[1] Defined-contribution 403(b) plan: 

The School sponsors a defined-contribution 403(b) plan, which covers substantially all employees.  
The School contributes an amount equal to 10% of each participant's base salary to the plan.  
Plan participants are required to make contributions in the form of payroll deductions in an amount equal to 
3% of compensation and may contribute up to the maximum allowed by federal law. 

Total pension expense for fiscal-years 2017 and 2016 was approximately $1,647,000 and $1,574,000, 
respectively.  Contributions to the plan are paid to the Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of 
America - College Retirement Equities Fund, which invests and administers these funds in the manner 
directed by each employee. 

[2] Postretirement medical benefit plan: 

In 1994, the Board of Trustees established a policy whereby retired employees over the age of 55, with a 
minimum service period of 25 years of full-time employment at the School, may continue to receive medical 
insurance coverage through the age of 65 at the individual's expense, under programs contracted by the 
School.  The School will continue to provide health-care insurance benefits, on a shared-cost basis between 
each individual and the School, for those retired employees who had previously been recipients of 
postretirement health-care insurance benefits. 

As of fiscal-year 2002, the School discontinued the postretirement medical plan, and it is closed to new 
entrants.  At June 30, 2017, there were no participants remaining in the plan. 

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the School accrued the estimated cost of retiree-benefit payments during 
the years the retired employees provided services.  Accordingly, the School did not record an accrual for the 
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at June 30, 2017. However, the School accrued $95,000 at 
June 30, 2016. 

The measurement of the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was based on an assumed discount 
rate of 5%. 
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NOTE G - UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS

At each fiscal year-end, net assets (by fund designation) consisted of the following: 

June 30, 
2017 2016 

Unrestricted:
 Operating $ 33,777,451 $ 38,620,877 
 Capital campaigns   110,051,265   91,811,758 

  143,828,716   130,432,635 

Board-designated unrestricted: 
 Scholarship endowment   8,389,253   7,876,981 
 Board-designated endowment   44,826,713   41,708,889 

  53,215,966   49,585,870 

$ 197,044,682 $ 180,018,505 

NOTE H - TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

At each fiscal year-end, temporarily restricted net assets (including allocation of investment gain/loss) consisted of 
the following: 

June 30, 
2017 2016 

Restricted for future periods: 
 Capital campaigns $ 21,679,385 $ 30,123,105 
Restricted for the following purposes: 
 Special gifts and other programs   1,764,737   1,326,656 
 Pooled income fund   121,872   116,059 

$ 23,565,994 $ 31,565,820 

Net assets released from restrictions during each fiscal-year were for the following: 

Year Ended 
June 30, 

2017 2016 

Time restrictions satisfied for capital campaigns $ 18,097,845 $ 9,305,566 
Purpose restrictions satisfied: 
 Donor-restricted scholarship and donor- 
  Restricted endowment fund   155,330 
 Special gifts and other programs   463,029   321,151 

   Total time and purpose releases   18,716,204   9,626,717 
Recovery of "underwater" funds   47,332 0

   Total net assets released from restrictions  $ 18,763,536 $ 9,626,717 
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NOTE I - PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

At each fiscal year-end, permanently restricted net assets consisted of the following: 

Year Ended 
June 30, 

2017 2016 

Endowment funds with investment income 
 restricted to scholarships $ 2,769,429 $ 2,744,429 
Endowment with income undesignated   326,739   326,739 

$ 3,096,168 $ 3,071,168 

NOTE J - ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING FOR ENDOWMENT

[1] The endowment: 

The School's endowment funds consist of individual funds established for a variety of purposes, consisting 
of donor-restricted funds and a fund designated by the Board of Trustees to function as an endowment.  
As required by U.S. GAAP, net assets associated with endowment funds are classified and reported based 
on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. 

[2] Return objectives and risk parameters: 

The School has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to provide 
funding to programs supported by the endowment, while seeking to maintain the purchasing power of the 
endowment assets.  Endowment assets are those assets of donor-restricted funds that the School must 
hold in perpetuity.  Under this policy, as approved by the Board of Trustees, the endowment assets are 
invested in a manner that is intended to produce acceptable rates of return, with an appropriate level of 
investment risk. 

[3] Strategies employed for achieving objectives: 

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the School relies on a total-return strategy in which 
investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current 
yield (interest and dividends). 

[4] Spending policy and relationship to investment objectives: 

The School has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year an amount that will not exceed an amount 
which will permit the increase in the endowment funds to be equal to or greater than the increase in the 
School's cash expenses.  However, the Board of Trustees may in its discretion appropriate more than its 
spending policy from an endowment fund or funds in a given year.  Accordingly, over the long term, 
management expects the current spending policy to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment 
assets held in perpetuity or for a specified term, as well as to provide additional real growth through new 
gifts and investment returns. 
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NOTE J - ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING FOR ENDOWMENT  (CONTINUED)

[5] Endowment net-asset composition by type of fund, as of each fiscal year-end: 

June 30, 2017 
 Permanently  

Unrestricted Restricted Total 
   

Donor-restricted endowment funds:    
 For scholarships  $ 2,769,429 $ 2,769,429 
 Basic endowment    326,739   326,739 
Board-designated endowment fund:    
 For scholarships $ 8,389,253    8,389,253 
 Basic endowment   44,826,713   44,826,713 

   
$ 53,215,966 $ 3,096,168 $ 56,312,134 

June 30, 2016 
 Permanently  

Unrestricted Restricted Total 
   

Donor-restricted endowment funds:    
 For scholarships   $ 2,744,429 $ 2,744,429 
 Basic endowment    326,739   326,739 
Board-designated endowment funds:    
 For scholarships $ 7,876,981    7,876,981 
 Basic endowment   41,708,889      41,708,889 
Unrestricted net assets   (47,332)   (47,332) 

 $ 49,538,538 $ 3,071,168 $ 52,609,706 

[6] Changes in endowment net assets, during each fiscal year: 

Year Ended June 30, 2017 
Unrestricted  Temporarily Permanently  

Losses Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total 
     

Endowment net assets,      
 beginning of the year   (47,332) $ 49,585,870  $ 3,071,168 $ 52,609,706
Investment returns  9,882,766 $ 202,662   10,085,428
Contributions   25,000  25,000
Appropriation of endowment  
 assets for expenditure  (6,252,670)   (155,330)   (6,408,000)
Recovery of "underwater"     
 funds $ 47,332   (47,332)  0

Net assets, end of the year $ 0 $ 53,215,966 $ 0 $ 3,096,168 $ 56,312,134
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NOTE J - ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING FOR ENDOWMENT  (CONTINUED)

[6] Changes in endowment net assets, during each fiscal year:  (continued) 

Year Ended June 30, 2016 
Unrestricted  Temporarily Permanently  

Losses Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total 
     

Endowment net assets,      
 beginning of the year  $ 50,368,525  $ 3,046,068 $ 53,414,593
Investment returns    5,471,345 $ (47,332)      5,424,013
Contributions      25,100   25,100
Appropriation of endowment       
 assets for expenditure    (6,254,000)     (6,254,000)
Transfer $ (47,332)   47,332    0

     
Net assets, end of the year $ (47,332) $ 49,585,870 $ 0 $ 3,071,168 $ 52,609,706

[7] Funds with deficiencies: 

Due to unfavorable market fluctuations, from time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual 
donor-restricted endowment funds may decline below the historic dollar value of the donor's original, 
permanently restricted contribution; the affected fund is said to be "underwater." A deficiency of $47,332 
occurred during fiscal-year 2016; there were no such deficiencies in fiscal-year 2017. 

NOTE K - PROGRAM AND SUPPORTING EXPENSES

U.S. GAAP require the School's expenses to be reported on a functional basis.  Accordingly, during each fiscal 
year, total expenses were allocated among program and supporting services as follows: 

Year Ended 
June 30, 

2017 2016 

Program $ 27,471,582 $ 24,397,698
General and administrative   11,947,725   10,763,883
Fund-raising   2,791,068   2,630,178

$ 42,210,375 $ 37,791,759

NOTE L - CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that potentially subject the School to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash 
and cash-equivalent accounts that are deposited in high-quality financial institutions, the balances of which, from 
time to time, may exceed federal insurance limits.  However, management believes that the School does not face 
a significant risk of loss on these accounts that would result from the failures of those institutions. 
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NOTE M - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCY

[1] Leases: 

The School leases office equipment under various non-cancelable operating leases expiring through 2020.  
Total future minimum lease payments are as follows: 

Year Ending  
June 30, Amount 

2018 $ 464,724 
2019   472,031 
2020   74,253 

 $ 1,011,008 

[2] Other contracts:

The School has entered into various contracts and agreements in the normal course of its business 
operations. 

[3] Construction in progress:

During fiscal-year 2015, the School began various renovation and improvement projects at the School.  The 
estimated cost of completion of these projects as of June 30, 2017 were approximately $135,000,000. 

[4] Litigation:

The School is sometimes subject to litigation in the ongoing course of fulfilling its mission.  In management's 
opinion, however, there is no current litigation the outcome of which would have a material adverse impact 
on the School's financial position or activities. 
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APPENDIX C 
 

CERTAIN DEFINITIONS 
 

The following are definitions of certain terms, unless the context shall otherwise 
require, used in the Indenture, the Loan Agreement or this Official Statement. 
 

Additional Improvements shall mean such alterations of or additions to the 
Facility Realty or any part thereof. 

Affiliate means, with respect to a given Person, any other Person that directly or 
indirectly through one or more intermediaries Controls, is Controlled by, or is under 
common control with such given Person. 

Agreement shall mean the Loan Agreement between the Issuer and the 
Institution, and shall include any and all amendments thereto and supplements thereto 
hereafter made in conformity therewith and with the Indenture. 

Annual Administrative Fee shall mean that annual administrative fee established 
from time to time by the Issuer’s Board of Directors as generally applicable to Entities 
receiving or that have received financial assistance from the Issuer (subject to such 
exceptions from such general applicability as may be established by the Issuer’s Board of 
Directors). 

Approved Facility shall mean the Facility as occupied, used and operated by the 
Institution substantially for the Approved Project Operations, including such other 
activities as may be substantially related to or substantially in support of such operations, 
all to be effected in accordance with the Loan Agreement. 

Approved Project Operations shall mean the facility located at 100 East End 
Avenue, New York, New York, for use by the Institution as an all-girls’ school serving 
students in kindergarten through grade 12. 

Authorized Denomination shall mean $5,000 or any integral multiple of $5,000 
in excess thereof. 

Authorized Principal Amount shall mean $25,000,000. 

Authorized Representative shall mean, (i) in the case of the Issuer, the 
Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, Secretary, Assistant 
Secretary, Executive Director, Deputy Executive Director or General Counsel, or any 
other officer or employee of the Issuer who is authorized to perform specific acts or to 
discharge specific duties, and (ii) in the case of the Institution, a person named in 
Exhibit C - “Authorized Representative” to the Loan Agreement or any other officer or 
employee of the Institution who is authorized to perform specific duties under the Loan 
Agreement or under any other Project Document and of whom another Authorized 
Representative of the Institution has given written notice to the Issuer and the Trustee; 
provided, however, that in each case for which a certification or other statement of fact or 
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condition is required to be submitted by an Authorized Representative to any Person 
pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement or any other Project Document, such 
certificate or statement shall be executed only by an Authorized Representative in a 
position to know or to obtain knowledge of the facts or conditions that are the subject of 
such certificate or statement. 

Beneficial Owner shall mean, whenever used with respect to a Bond, the Person 
in whose name such Bond is recorded as the Beneficial Owner of such Bond by the 
respective systems of DTC and each of the Participants of DTC.  If at any time the Bonds 
are not held in the Book-Entry System, Beneficial Owner shall mean “Holder” for 
purposes of the Security Documents. 

Bond Fund shall mean the special trust fund so designated, established pursuant 
to the Indenture. 

Bondholder, Holder of Bonds, Holder or holder shall mean any Person who 
shall be the registered owner of any Bond or Bonds. 

Bond Purchase Agreement shall mean the Bond Purchase Agreement, dated 
December 20, 2017, among the Institution, the Issuer and the Underwriter. 

Bond Registrar shall mean the Trustee acting as registrar as provided in the 
Indenture. 

Bond Resolution shall mean the resolution of the Issuer adopted on December 
12, 2017, authorizing the Project and the issuance of the Bonds. 

Bonds shall mean the Issuer’s $25,000,000 Revenue Refunding Bonds (The 
Chapin School, LTD. Project), Series 2017, authorized, issued, executed, authenticated 
and delivered on the Closing Date under the Indenture. 

Bond Year shall have the meaning set forth in the Tax Regulatory Agreement. 

Business Day shall mean any day that shall not be: 

(i) a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday; 

(ii) a day on which banking institutions in the City are authorized by law or 
executive order to close; or 

(iii) a day on which the New York Stock Exchange or the payment system of 
the Federal Reserve System is closed. 

Business Incentive Rate shall mean the discount energy transportation and 
delivery rate provided through the Business Incentive Rate program co-administered by 
NYCEDC and Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. 

City shall mean The City of New York, New York. 
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Claims shall mean any and all claims (whether in tort, contract or otherwise), 
taxes (of any kind and by whomsoever imposed), demand, penalties, fines, liabilities or 
lawsuits. 

Closing Date shall mean December 28, 2017, the date of the initial issuance and 
delivery of the Bonds. 

Code shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, including the 
regulations thereunder.  All references to Sections of the Code or regulations thereunder 
shall be deemed to include any such Sections or regulations as they may hereafter be 
renumbered in any subsequent amendments to the Code or such regulations. 

Completed Improvements Square Footage shall mean approximately 189,778 
square feet, the square footage of the Improvements upon completion of the Project 
Work. 

Completion Deadline shall mean December 1, 2020. 

Computation Date shall have the meaning assigned to that term in the Tax 
Regulatory Agreement. 

Computation Period shall have the meaning assigned to that term in the Tax 
Regulatory Agreement. 

Concessionaire means a Person that has been granted the right by Institution, an 
Affiliate of Institution or any tenant, subtenant, leaseholder or subleaseholder of 
Institution or of an Affiliate of Institution to operate at the Facility Realty for the primary 
purpose of selling goods or services to natural persons at the Facility Realty. 

Conduct Representation shall mean any representation by the Institution under 
the Loan Agreement, or by any other Person in any Required Disclosure Statement 
delivered to the Issuer. 

Control or Controls, including the related terms “controlled by” and “under 
common control with”, shall mean the power to direct the management and policies of a 
Person (x) through the ownership, directly or indirectly, of not less than a majority of its 
voting securities, (y) through the right to designate or elect not less than a majority of the 
members of its board of directors or trustees or other Governing Body, or (z) by contract 
or otherwise. 

Costs of Issuance shall mean issuance costs with respect to the Bonds described 
in Section 147(g) of the Code and any regulations thereunder, including but not limited to 
the following:  Underwriter’s spread (whether realized directly or derived through the 
purchase of the Bonds at a discount below the price at which they are expected to be sold 
to the public); counsel fees (including bond counsel, counsel to the Underwriter, 
Trustee’s counsel, Issuer’s counsel, Institution’s counsel, as well as any other specialized 
counsel fees incurred in connection with the borrowing); financial advisor fees of any 
financial advisor to the Issuer or the Institution incurred in connection with the issuance 
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of the Bonds; engineering and feasibility study costs; guarantee fees (other than Qualified 
Guarantee Fees, as defined in the Tax Regulatory Agreement); Rating Agency fees; 
Trustee and Paying Agent fees; accountant fees and other expenses related to issuance of 
the Bonds; printing costs for the Bonds and for the preliminary and final offering 
documents relating to the Bonds; public approval and process costs; fees and expenses of 
the Issuer incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds; Blue Sky fees and 
expenses; and similar costs. 

Covered Counterparty means a Covered Employer whose Specified Contract is 
directly with Institution or one of its Affiliates to lease, occupy, operate or perform work 
at the Facility Realty. 

Covered Employer means any of the following Persons:  (a) Institution, (b) a 
Site Affiliate, (c) a tenant, subtenant, leaseholder or subleaseholder of Institution or of an 
Affiliate of Institution that leases any portion of the Facility Realty (or an Affiliate of any 
such tenant, subtenant, leaseholder or subleaseholder if such Affiliate has one or more 
direct Site Employees), (d) a Concessionaire that operates on any portion of the Facility 
Realty, and (e) a Person that contracts or subcontracts with any Covered Employer 
described in clauses (a), (b), (c) or (d) above to perform work for a period of more than 
ninety days on any portion of the Facility Realty, including temporary services or staffing 
agencies, food service contractors, and other on-site service contractors; provided, 
however, that the term “Covered Employer” shall not include (i) a Person of the type 
described in Section 6-134(d)(2), (3), (4) or (5) of the New York City Administrative 
Code, (ii) a Person that has annual consolidated gross revenues that are less than the 
Small Business Cap unless the revenues of the Person are included in the consolidated 
gross revenues of a Person having annual consolidated gross revenues that are more than 
the Small Business Cap, in each case calculated based on the fiscal year preceding the 
fiscal year in which the determination is being made, and in each case calculated in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, (iii) any otherwise covered 
Person operating on any portion of the Facility Realty if residential units comprise more 
than 75% of the total Facility Realty area and all of the residential units are subject to rent 
regulation, (iv) any otherwise covered Person that the Issuer has determined (in its sole 
and absolute discretion) in writing to be exempt on the basis that it works significantly 
with a Qualified Workforce Program, (v) a Person whose Site Employees all are paid 
wages determined pursuant to a collective bargaining or labor agreement, (vi) if 
Institution is a “covered developer” under and as defined in the Prevailing Wage Law, a 
Person that is a “building services contractor” (as defined in the LW Law) so long as such 
Person is paying its “building service employees” (as defined in the Prevailing Wage 
Law) no less than the applicable “prevailing wage” (as defined in the Prevailing Wage 
Law), or (vii) a Person exempted by a Deputy Mayor of The City of New York in 
accordance with the Mayor’s Executive Order No. 7 dated September 30, 2014. 

Defaulted Interest shall mean interest on any Bond that is due and payable but 
not paid on the date due. 

Defeasance Obligations shall mean Government Obligations that are not subject 
to redemption prior to maturity. 
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DOL shall mean the New York State Department of Labor. 

DTC shall mean The Depository Trust Company, a limited purpose trust 
company organized under the laws of the State of New York, and its successors and 
assigns. 

Due Date shall mean the date on which a payment, filing or delivery is due. 

Employment Information shall mean information released or provided to 
Information Recipients by DOL, or by any other governmental entity, or by any private 
entity, or by the Institution, or any information previously released as provided by all or 
any of the foregoing parties. 

Entity shall mean any of a corporation, general partnership, limited liability 
company, limited liability partnership, joint stock company, trust, estate, unincorporated 
organization, business association, tribe, firm, joint venture, governmental authority or 
governmental instrumentality, but shall not include an individual. 

Environmental Audit shall mean that certain Phase I Environmental Site 
Assessment Report dated May 5, 2014, prepared by the Environmental Auditor. 

Environmental Auditor shall mean Asset Inspection Technologies Corp. 

Event of Default shall have the meaning specified in the Indenture and the Loan 
Agreement, as applicable. 

Existing Facility Property shall mean any fixture constituting part of the Facility 
Realty or any machinery, equipment or other item of personal property constituting part 
of the Facility Personalty. 

Facility shall mean, collectively, the Facility Personalty and the Facility Realty. 

Facility Personalty shall mean those items of machinery, equipment and other 
items of personalty the acquisition and/or the installation of which is to be financed or 
refinanced in whole or in part with the proceeds of the Bonds for installation or use at the 
Facility Realty as part of the Project pursuant to the Loan Agreement and described in 
Exhibit B - “Description of the Facility Personalty”, together with all repairs, 
replacements, improvements, substitutions and renewals thereof or therefor, and all parts, 
additions and accessories incorporated therein or affixed thereto.  Facility Personalty 
shall, in accordance with the provisions of the Loan Agreement, include all property 
substituted for or replacing items of Facility Personalty and exclude all items of Facility 
Personalty so substituted for or replaced, and further exclude all items of Facility 
Personalty removed as provided in the Loan Agreement. 

Facility Realty shall mean, collectively, the Land and the Improvements. 
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Final Project Cost Budget shall mean that certain budget of costs paid or 
incurred for the Project to be submitted by the Institution pursuant to the Loan Agreement 
upon completion of the Project. 

Fiscal Year shall mean a year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may be, 
commencing on July 1 of each calendar year and ending on June 30 of the next calendar 
year, or such other fiscal year of similar length used by the Institution for accounting 
purposes as to which the Institution shall have given prior written notice thereof to the 
Issuer and the Trustee at least ninety (90) days prior to the commencement thereof. 

Fitch shall mean Fitch, Inc., a Delaware corporation, its successors and assigns, 
and, if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the 
functions of a securities rating agency, “Fitch” shall be deemed to refer to any other 
nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Trustee, by notice to the 
other Notice Parties. 

Fixed Date Deliverables shall mean any of the documents required of the 
Institution under the Loan Agreement by the date therein stated. 

GAAP shall mean those generally accepted accounting principles and practices 
that are recognized as such by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants or 
by the Financial Accounting Standards Board or through other appropriate boards or 
committees thereof, and that are consistently applied for all periods, after the Closing 
Date, so as to properly reflect the financial position of the Institution, except that any 
accounting principle or practice required to be changed by the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (or other appropriate board or committee of the said Board) in order to 
continue as a generally accepted accounting principle or practice may be so changed. 

Governing Body shall mean, when used with respect to any Entity, its board of 
directors, board of trustees or individual or group of individuals by, or under the authority 
of which, the powers of such Entity are exercised. 

Government Obligations shall mean the following:   

(i) direct and general obligations of, or obligations unconditionally 
guaranteed by, the United States of America; 

(ii) obligations of a Person controlled or supervised by and acting as an 
agency or instrumentality of the United States of America, the payment of which is 
unconditionally guaranteed as a full faith and credit obligation of the United States of 
America for the timely payment thereof; or 

(iii) securities or receipts evidencing ownership interests in obligations or 
specified portions (such as principal or interest) of obligations described in clauses (i) or 
(ii) above. 

Hazardous Materials shall include any petroleum, flammable explosives, 
radioactive materials, hazardous materials, hazardous wastes, hazardous or toxic 
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substances, or related materials defined in the Comprehensive Environmental Response, 
Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (42 U.S.C. Sections 9601, et seq.), 
the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, as amended (49 U.S.C. Sections 5101, et 
seq.), the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. Sections 
6901, et seq.), and in the regulations adopted and publications promulgated pursuant 
thereto, or any other federal, state or local environmental law, ordinance, rule, or 
regulation. 

Impositions shall mean all taxes and assessments, general and specific, if any, 
levied and assessed upon or against the Trust Estate, the Facility Realty or any part 
thereof, or interest of the Institution in the Facility, or against any of the loan payments or 
other payments or other amounts payable under the Loan Agreement, the Promissory 
Note or any of the other Project Documents, or the interest of the Issuer or the Institution 
in any Project Document, and all water and sewer charges, special district charges, 
assessments and other governmental charges and impositions whatsoever, foreseen or 
unforeseen, ordinary or extraordinary, under any present or future law, and charges for 
public or private utilities or other charges incurred in the occupancy, use, operation, 
maintenance or upkeep of the Facility Realty. 

Improvements shall mean: 

(i) all buildings, structures, foundations, related facilities, fixtures and other 
improvements of every nature whatsoever existing on the Closing Date and hereafter 
erected or situated on the Land; 

(ii) any other buildings, structures, foundations, related facilities, fixtures and 
other improvements constructed or erected on the Land (including any improvements or 
demolitions made as part of the Project Work pursuant to the Loan Agreement); and 

(iii) all replacements, improvements, additions, extensions, substitutions, 
restorations and repairs to any of the foregoing. 

Indemnification Commencement Date shall mean December 12, 2017, the date 
on which the Issuer first adopted a resolution with respect to the Project. 

Indemnified Parties shall mean the Issuer, the Trustee, the Bond Registrar and 
the Paying Agents, and any director, member, officer, employee, servant, agent 
(excluding for this purpose the Institution, which is not obligated by the Loan Agreement 
to indemnify its own employees, Affiliates or affiliated individuals) thereof and persons 
under the Issuer’s control or supervision. 

Indenture shall mean the Indenture of Trust, dated as of December 1, 2017 
between the Issuer and the Trustee, as from time to time amended or supplemented by 
Supplemental Indentures. 

Independent Accountant shall mean an independent certified public accountant 
or firm of independent certified public accountants selected by the Institution and 
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approved by the Issuer and the Trustee (such approvals not to be unreasonably withheld 
or delayed). 

Independent Engineer shall mean a Person (not an employee of either the Issuer 
or the Institution or any Affiliate of either thereof) registered and qualified to practice 
engineering or architecture under the laws of the State, selected by the Institution, and 
approved in writing by the Trustee (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld). 

Information Recipients shall mean the Issuer and/or NYCEDC, and/or the 
successors and assigns of either. 

Initial Annual Administrative Fee shall mean $1,250.00. 

Institution shall mean The Chapin School, LTD., a not-for-profit education 
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York, and its 
successors and assigns; provided, however, that nothing contained in this definition shall 
be deemed to limit or modify the obligations of the Institution under the Loan 
Agreement. 

Institution Documents shall mean collectively, the Loan Agreement, the Bond 
Purchase Agreement, the Promissory Note, the Tax Regulatory Agreement, and any other 
Project Documents to which the Institution is a party, each as may be amended from time 
to time. 

Institution’s Property shall mean machinery, equipment and other personal 
property installed or permitted to be installed at the Facility Realty, at the Institution’s 
cost and expense. 

Interest Account shall mean the special trust account of the Bond Fund so 
designated, established pursuant to the Indenture. 

Interest Payment Date shall mean May 1 and November 1 of each year, 
commencing May 1, 2018. 

IRS Determination Letter shall mean that certain ruling letter dated April 1938 
which letter was confirmed on March 16, 2015 in a letter issued by the Internal Revenue 
Service to the Institution confirming that the Institution is a Tax-Exempt Organization. 

Issuer shall mean Build NYC Resource Corporation, a local development 
corporation created pursuant to the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law of the State at the 
direction of the Mayor of the City, and its successors and assigns. 

Issuer’s Reserved Rights shall mean, collectively, 

(i) the right of the Issuer in its own behalf to receive all Opinions of Counsel, 
reports, financial statements, certificates, insurance policies, binders or certificates, or 
other notices or communications required to be delivered to the Issuer under the Loan 
Agreement;  
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(ii) the right of the Issuer to grant or withhold any consents or approvals 
required of the Issuer under the Loan Agreement; 

(iii) the right of the Issuer to enforce in its own behalf the obligation of the 
Institution under the Loan Agreement to complete the Project; 

(iv) the right of the Issuer to enforce or otherwise exercise in its own behalf all 
agreements of the Institution under the Loan Agreement with respect to ensuring that the 
Facility shall always constitute the Approved Facility; 

(v) Reserved; 

(vi) the right of the Issuer in its own behalf (or on behalf of the appropriate 
taxing authorities) to enforce, receive amounts payable under or otherwise exercise its 
rights under the following Articles and Sections of the Loan Agreement: Article III 
(except for Section 3.1), Sections 4.4, 4.5 and 4.6, Article VI, Article VIII (except for 
Section 8.26), Article IX, Article X, Sections 11.1, 11.3 and 11.5, and Article XII (except 
Section 12.2); and 

(vii) the right of the Issuer in its own behalf to declare a default with respect to 
any of the Issuer’s Reserved Rights and exercise the remedies set forth under the Loan 
Agreement. 

Land shall mean that certain lot, piece or parcel of land in the Borough 
of Manhattan, Block 1581 and Lot 23, generally known by the street address 100 East 
End Avenue, New York, New York, all as more particularly described in Exhibit A — 
“Description of the Land”, together with all easements, rights and interests now or 
hereafter appurtenant or beneficial thereto; but excluding, however, any real property or 
interest therein released pursuant to the Loan Agreement. 

Land Square Footage shall mean approximately 22,784 square feet. 

Legal Requirements shall mean the Constitutions of the United States and the 
State of New York and all laws, statutes, codes, acts, ordinances, resolutions, orders, 
judgments, decrees, injunctions, rules, regulations, permits, licenses, authorizations, 
certificates of occupancy, directions and requirements (including zoning, land use, 
planning, environmental protection, air, water and land pollution, toxic wastes, hazardous 
wastes, solid wastes, wetlands, health, safety, equal opportunity, minimum wage, living 
wage, prevailing wage, sick leave, healthcare, benefits and employment practices) of all 
governments, departments, commissions, boards, courts, authorities, agencies, officials 
and officers, including those of the City, foreseen or unforeseen, ordinary or 
extraordinary, that are applicable now or may be applicable at any time hereafter to (i) the 
Institution, (ii) the Facility or any part thereof, or (iii) any use or condition of the Facility 
or any part thereof. 

Letter of Representation and Indemnity Agreement shall mean the Letter of 
Representation and Indemnity Agreement, dated the Closing Date, from the Institution to 
the Issuer, the Trustee and the Underwriter of the Bonds. 
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Liability shall mean losses, damage, injury and liability. 

Liens shall mean any lien, encumbrance or charge filed or asserted (including any 
lien for the performance of any labor or services or the furnishing of materials), or any 
judgment, decree, order, levy or process of any court or governmental body. 

Loan shall mean the loan made by the Issuer to the Institution pursuant to the 
Loan Agreement as described in the Loan Agreement. 

Loan Agreement shall mean the Loan Agreement between the Issuer and the 
Institution, and shall include any and all amendments thereof and supplements thereto 
hereafter made in conformity therewith and with the Indenture. 

Loan Payment Date shall mean the last day of each calendar month immediately 
preceding an Interest Payment Date (or, if such day shall not be a Business Day, the 
immediately preceding Business Day). 

Loss Event shall mean any event by which the whole or part of the Facility shall 
be damaged or destroyed, or taken or condemned by a competent authority for any public 
use or purpose, or by agreement to which the Institution and those authorized to exercise 
such right are parties, or if the temporary use of the Facility shall be so taken by 
condemnation or agreement. 

LW has the same meaning as the term “living wage” as defined in Section 6-
134(b)(9) of the New York City Administrative Code and shall be adjusted annually in 
accordance therewith, except that as of April 1, 2015, the “living wage rate” component 
of the LW shall be eleven dollars and sixty-five cents per hour ($11.65/hour) and the 
“health benefits supplement rate” component of the LW shall be one dollar and sixty-five 
cents per hour ($1.65/hour).  The annual adjustments to the “living wage rate” and 
“health benefits supplement rate” will be announced on or around January 1 of each year 
by the DCA and will go into effect on April 1 of such year. 

LW Agreement means, with respect to any Covered Counterparty, an 
enforceable agreement in the form attached to the Loan Agreement (except only with 
such changes as are necessary to make such Covered Counterparty the obligor 
thereunder). 

LW Event of Default shall mean the satisfaction of the following two conditions: 
(a) two or more LW Violation Final Determinations shall have been imposed against 
Institution or its Site Affiliates in respect of the direct Site Employees of Institution or its 
Site Affiliates in any consecutive six year period during the LW Term and (b) the 
aggregate amount of Owed Monies and Owed Interest paid or payable by Institution in 
respect of such LW Violation Final Determinations is in excess of the LW Violation 
Threshold in effect as of the date of the second LW Violation Final Determination.  For 
the avoidance of doubt, the Owed Monies and Owed Interest paid or payable by 
Institution in respect of the Site Employees of a Covered Counterparty that is not an 
Affiliate of Institution (pursuant to the Loan Agreement) shall not count for purposes of 
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determining whether the conditions in clauses (a) and (b) of the preceding sentence have 
been satisfied. 

LW Violation Final Determination has the meaning specified in the Loan 
Agreement, as applicable. 

LW Violation Threshold means $100,000 multiplied by 1.03n, where “n” is the 
number of full years that have elapsed since January 1, 2015. 

Majority Holders shall mean the Beneficial Owners of at least a majority in 
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding, or, if the Bonds shall cease to be in 
book-entry form, the Holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the 
Bonds Outstanding. 

Maturity Date shall mean November 1, 2047. 

Merge shall mean the consolidation with or merger into another Entity or the 
permitting of one or more Entities to consolidate with or merge into the Entity. 

Moody’s shall mean Moody’s Investors Service Inc., a Delaware corporation, its 
successors and assigns, and, if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall 
no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Moody’s” shall be deemed 
to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the 
Trustee, by notice to the other Notice Parties. 

Nationally Recognized Bond Counsel shall mean Nixon Peabody LLP or other 
counsel acceptable to the Issuer and the Trustee and experienced in matters relating to tax 
exemption of interest on bonds issued by states and their political subdivisions. 

Net Proceeds shall mean, when used with respect to any insurance proceeds or 
condemnation award, compensation or damages, the gross amount of any such proceeds, 
award, compensation or damages less all expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees 
and any extraordinary expenses of the Issuer or the Trustee) incurred in the collection 
thereof. 

Notice Parties shall mean the Issuer, the Institution, the Bond Registrar, the 
Paying Agents and the Trustee. 

Notification of Failure to Deliver shall mean written notice to the Institution of a 
failure to deliver on the Due Date the Annual Administrative Fee, a Fixed Date 
Deliverable and/or a Requested Document Deliverable. 

NYCDOF shall mean the New York City Department of Finance. 

NYCEDC shall mean New York City Economic Development Corporation, a 
New York not-for-profit corporation, and any successor thereof. 
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NYCIDA shall mean the New York City Industrial Development Agency, a 
corporate governmental agency constituting a body corporate and politic and a public 
benefit corporation of the State, duly organized and existing under the laws of the State, 
and any body, board, authority, agency or other governmental agency or instrumentality 
which shall hereafter succeed to the powers, duties, obligations and functions thereof. 

Operations Commencement Date shall mean the date by when the Issuer shall 
have received a signed certificate of an Authorized Representative of the Institution 
certifying that the Project Completion Date has occurred and that the Facility is in fact 
being occupied, used and operated for the Approved Project operations. 

Opinion of Counsel shall mean a written opinion of counsel for the Institution or 
any other Person (which counsel shall be reasonably acceptable to the Issuer and the 
Trustee) with respect to such matters as required under any Project Document or as the 
Issuer or the Trustee may otherwise reasonably require, and which shall be in form and 
substance reasonably acceptable to the Issuer and the Trustee. 

Organizational Documents shall mean, (i) in the case of an Entity constituting a 
limited liability company, the articles of organization or certificate of formation, and the 
operating agreement of such Entity, (ii) in the case of an Entity constituting a corporation, 
the charter, articles of incorporation or certificate of incorporation, and the bylaws of 
such Entity, and (iii) in the case of an Entity constituting a general or limited partnership, 
the partnership agreement of such Entity. 

Outstanding, when used with reference to a Bond or Bonds, as of any particular 
date, shall mean all Bonds which have been issued, executed, authenticated and delivered 
under the Indenture, except: 

(i) Bonds cancelled by the Trustee because of payment or redemption prior to 
maturity or surrendered to the Trustee under the Indenture for cancellation; 

(ii) any Bond (or portion of a Bond) for the payment or redemption of which, 
in accordance with the Indenture, there has been separately set aside and held in the 
Redemption Account of the Bond Fund either: 

(A) moneys, and/or 

(B) Defeasance Obligations in such principal amounts, of such 
maturities, bearing such interest and otherwise having such terms and 
qualifications as shall be necessary to provide moneys, 

in an amount sufficient to effect payment of the principal or applicable 
Redemption Price of such Bond, together with accrued interest on such Bond to the 
payment or redemption date, which payment or redemption date shall be specified in 
irrevocable instructions given to the Trustee to apply such moneys and/or Defeasance 
Obligations to such payment on the date so specified, provided, that, if such Bond or 
portion thereof is to be redeemed, notice of such redemption shall have been given as 
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provided in the Indenture or provision satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made 
for the giving of such notice; and 

(iii) Bonds in exchange for or in lieu of which other Bonds shall have been 
authenticated and delivered under the Indenture, provided, however, that in determining 
whether the Holders of the requisite principal amount of Bonds Outstanding have given 
any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver under the 
Indenture or under any other Security Document, Bonds owned by the Institution or any 
Affiliate of the Institution shall be disregarded and deemed not to be Outstanding, except 
that, in determining whether the Trustee shall be protected in relying upon any such 
request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver, only Bonds which 
the Trustee knows to be so owned shall be so disregarded.  Bonds which have been 
pledged in good faith may be regarded as Outstanding for such purposes if the pledgee 
establishes to the satisfaction of the Trustee the pledgee’s right so to act with respect to 
such Bonds and that the pledgee is not the Institution or any Affiliate of the Institution. 

Owed Interest means the interest accruing on Owed Monies, which interest shall 
accrue from the relevant date(s) of underpayment to the date that the Owed Monies are 
paid, at a rate equal to the interest rate then in effect as prescribed by the superintendent 
of banks pursuant to Section 14-a of the New York State Banking Law, but in any event 
at a rate no less than six percent per year. 

Owed Monies means, as the context shall require, either (a) the total deficiency 
of LW required to be paid by Institution or a Site Affiliate in accordance with the Loan 
Agreement to Institution’s or its Site Affiliate’s (as applicable) direct Site Employee(s) 
after taking into account the wages actually paid (which shall be credited towards the 
“living wage rate” component of the LW), and the monetary value of health benefits 
actually provided (which shall be credited towards the “health benefits supplement rate” 
component of the LW), to such direct Site Employee(s), all as calculated on a per pay 
period basis; or (b) if Institution or its Site Affiliate failed to obtain a LW Agreement 
from a Covered Counterparty as required under the Loan Agreement, the total deficiency 
of LW that would have been required to be paid under such Covered Counterparty’s LW 
Agreement to its direct Site Employee(s) after taking into account the wages actually paid 
(which shall be credited towards the “living wage rate” component of the LW), and the 
monetary value of health benefits actually provided (which shall be credited towards the 
“health benefits supplement rate” component of the LW), to such direct Site 
Employee(s), all as calculated on a per pay period basis, during the period commencing 
on the LW Agreement Delivery Date applicable to such Covered Counterparty and 
ending immediately prior to the execution and delivery by such Covered Counterparty of 
its LW Agreement (if applicable). 

Participants shall mean those financial institutions for whom the Securities 
Depository effects book entry transfers and pledges of securities deposited with the 
Securities Depository, as such listing of Participants exists at the time of such reference. 
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Paying Agent shall mean any paying agent for the Bonds appointed pursuant to 
the Indenture (and may include the Trustee) and its successor or successors and any other 
corporation which may at any time be substituted in its place pursuant to the Indenture. 

Per Diem Fees shall mean, collectively, the Per Diem Late Fee and the Per Diem 
Supplemental Late Fee. 

Per Diem Late Fee shall mean that per diem late fee established from time to 
time by the Issuer’s Board of Directors generally imposed upon Entities receiving or that 
have received financial assistance from the Issuer (subject to such exceptions from such 
general applicability as may be established by the Issuer’s Board of Directors) and that 
have not (x) paid to the Issuer the Annual Administrative Fee on the date required under 
the Loan Agreement, (y) delivered to the Issuer all or any of the Fixed Date Deliverables 
on the respective dates required under the Loan Agreement, and/or (z) delivered to the 
Issuer all or any of the Requested Document Deliverables under the Loan Agreement 
within five (5) Business Days of the Issuer having made the request therefor. 

Per Diem Supplemental Late Fee shall mean that supplemental per diem late fee 
established from time to time by the Issuer’s Board of Directors generally imposed upon 
Entities receiving or that have received financial assistance from the Issuer (subject to 
such exceptions from general applicability as may be established by the Issuer’s Board of 
Directors).  

Permitted Encumbrances shall mean: 

(i) any Project Document; 

(ii) liens for real estate taxes, assessments, levies and other governmental 
charges, the payment of which is not yet due and payable; 

(iii) any mechanic’s, workmen’s, repairmen’s, materialmen’s, contractors’, 
warehousemen’s, carriers’, suppliers’ or vendors’ lien, security interest, encumbrance or 
charge or right in respect thereof, placed on or with respect to the Facility or any part 
thereof, if payment is not yet due and payable, or if such payment is being disputed 
pursuant to the Loan Agreement; 

(iv) utility, access and other easements and rights of way, restrictions and 
exceptions that an Authorized Representative of the Institution certifies to the Issuer and 
the Trustee will not materially interfere with or impair the Institution’s use and 
enjoyment of the Facility as provided in the Loan Agreement; 

(v) such minor defects, irregularities, encumbrances, easements, rights of way 
and clouds on title as normally exist with respect to property similar in character to the 
Facility as do not, as set forth in a certificate of an Authorized Representative of the 
Institution delivered to the Issuer and the Trustee, either singly or in the aggregate, render 
title to the Facility unmarketable or materially impair the property affected thereby for 
the purpose for which it was acquired or purport to impose liabilities or obligations on the 
Issuer;  
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(vi) rights reserved to or vested in any municipality or public authority by the 
terms of any right, power, franchise, grant, license, permit or provision of law, affecting 
the Facility; 

(vii) liens arising by reason of good faith deposits with the Institution in 
connection with the tenders, leases of real estate, bids or contracts (other than contracts 
for the payment of money), deposits by the Institution to secure public or statutory 
obligations, or to secure, or in lieu of, surety, stay or appeal bonds, and deposits as 
security for the payment of taxes or assessments or other similar charges; 

(viii) any lien arising by reason of deposits with, or the giving of any form of 
security to, any governmental agency or any body created or approved by law or 
governmental regulation for any purpose at any time as required by law or governmental 
regulation as a condition to the transaction of any business or the exercise of any 
privilege or license, or to enable the Institution to maintain self-insurance or to participate 
in any funds established to cover any insurance risks or in connection with workmen’s 
compensation, unemployment insurance, old age pensions or other social security, or to 
share in the privileges or benefits required for companies participating in such 
arrangements; 

(ix) any judgment lien against the Institution, so long as the finality of such 
judgment is being contested in good faith and execution thereon is stayed; 

(x) any purchase money security interest in movable personal property, 
including equipment leases and financing; 

(xi) liens on property due to rights of governmental entities or third party 
payors for recoupment of excess reimbursement paid; 

(xii) a lien, restrictive declaration or performance mortgage with respect to the 
operation of the Facility arising by reason of a grant or other funding received by the 
Institution from the City, the State or any governmental agency or instrumentality;  

(xiii) to the extent permitted under the Loan Agreement, rights of tenants under 
leases, licenses, rental agreement or other agreements pertaining to the use of the Facility; 

(xiv) present or future zoning laws, ordinances or other laws or regulations 
restricting the occupancy, use or enjoyment of the Facility; and 

(xv) any lien, security interest, encumbrances or charge which exists in favor of 
the Trustee or to which the Trustee shall consent in writing. 

Person shall mean an individual or any Entity. 

Predecessor Institution shall mean the Institution when the Institution is not the 
surviving, resulting or transferee Entity in a Merger or Transfer. 
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Prevailing Wage Law means Section 6-130 of the New York City 
Administrative Code, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to 
time, and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. 

Principal Account shall mean the special trust account of the Bond Fund so 
designated, established pursuant to the Indenture. 

Principals shall mean, with respect to any Entity, the most senior three officers of 
such Entity, any Person with a ten percent (10%) or greater ownership interest in such 
Entity and any Person as shall have the power to Control such Entity, and “principal” 
shall mean any of such Persons. 

Project shall mean (i) refinancing a portion of Series 2016 Bonds, the proceeds of 
which, together with other funds of the Institution, are being used to finance or refinance 
improvements to, and renovation, equipping and/or furnishing of, the Institution’s 
existing eight-story facility located at 100 East End Avenue, New York, New York 
10028, including: (a) a three-story vertical addition to accommodate a new gymnasium 
and an expanded space for performing arts programs, and (b) the reconfiguration of 
existing space therein to provide more classrooms, gathering space, an additional 
cafeteria, a maker/design studio for the robotics program and other S.T.E.M. curriculum, 
and a new nursing facility for the care of students, (ii) the financing and/or refinancing of 
improvements to, and the renovation, equipping and/or furnishing of, the Institution’s 
facility, including the costs described in (i), and (iii) paying for certain costs of issuance 
of the Bonds. 

Project Application Information shall mean the eligibility application and 
questionnaire submitted to the Issuer by or on behalf of the Institution, for approval by 
the Issuer of the Project and the providing of financial assistance by the Issuer therefor, 
together with all other letters, documentation, reports and financial information submitted 
in connection therewith. 

Project Completion Date shall mean the date by which all of the following 
conditions have been satisfied:  (i) the Issuer shall have received a signed and complete 
certificate of an Authorized Representative of the Institution, together with all 
attachments required thereunder, (ii) the Project Work shall have been finished and shall 
have been completed substantially in accordance with the plans and specifications 
therefor, (iii) the Issuer shall have received a copy of a certificate of occupancy, a 
temporary certificate of occupancy, an amended certificate of occupancy or a letter of no 
objection issued by the New York City Department of Buildings from the Institution, (iv) 
there shall be no certificate, license, permit, authorization, written approval or consent or 
other document required to permit the occupancy, operation and use of the Facility as the 
Approved Facility that has not already been obtained or received, except for such 
certificates, licenses, permits, authorizations, written approvals and consents that will be 
obtained in the ordinary course of business and the issuance of which are ministerial in 
nature, and (v) the Facility shall be ready for occupancy, use and operation for the 
Approved Project Operations in accordance with all applicable laws, regulations, 
ordinances and guidelines. 
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Project Cost Budget shall mean that certain budget for costs of the Project Work 
as set forth by the Institution in Exhibit E to the Loan Agreement. 

Project Costs shall mean: 

(i) all costs of engineering and architectural services with respect to the 
Project, including the cost of test borings, surveys, estimates, permits, plans and 
specifications and for supervising demolition, construction and renovation, as well as for 
the performance of all other duties required by or consequent upon the proper 
construction of, and the making of alterations, renovations, additions and improvements 
in connection with, the completion of the Project; 

(ii) all costs paid or incurred for labor, materials, services, supplies, 
machinery, equipment and other expenses and to contractors, suppliers, builders and 
materialmen in connection with the completion of the Project; 

(iii) the interest on the Bonds during the construction and renovation of the 
Project; 

(iv) all costs of contract bonds and of insurance that may be required or 
necessary during the period of Project construction and renovation; 

(v) the cost of acquisition of the Facility Realty; 

(vi) the payment of the Costs of Issuance with respect to the Bonds; 

(vii) the payment of the fees and expenses of the Trustee during the period of 
construction and renovation of the Project; 

(viii) all costs which the Institution shall be required to pay, under the terms of 
any contract or contracts, for the completion of the Project, including any amounts 
required to reimburse the Institution for advances made for any item otherwise 
constituting a Project Cost or for any other costs incurred and for work done which are 
properly chargeable to the Project; and 

(ix) all other costs and expenses relating to the completion of the Project, 
including legal fees with respect to the Project. 

“Project Costs” shall not include (i) fees or commissions of real estate brokers, 
(ii) moving expenses, or (iii) operational costs. 

Project Documents shall mean, collectively, the Institution Documents and the 
Security Documents. 

Project Fund shall mean the special trust fund so designated, established 
pursuant to the Indenture. 
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Project Work shall mean (i) the design, construction and/or renovation of the 
Improvements, including the acquisition of building materials and fixtures, and (ii) the 
acquisition, whether by title or lease, of the Facility Personalty and any work required to 
install same. 

Promissory Note shall mean that certain Promissory Note in substantially the 
form of Exhibit H to the Loan Agreement, and shall include any and all amendments 
thereof and supplements thereto made in conformity with the Loan Agreement and the 
Indenture. 

Purchase Price shall mean an amount equal to the Redemption Price that would 
be applicable to the Bonds being purchased pursuant to the purchase in lieu of 
redemption provisions of the Indenture if such Bonds were being optionally redeemed 
pursuant to the optional redemption provisions of the Indenture on the date such Bonds 
are being so purchased, plus accrued interest thereon to the date of purchase. 

Qualified Investments shall mean, to the extent permitted by applicable law, the 
following: 

(i) Government Obligations; 

(ii) Obligations issued or guaranteed by any of the following instrumentalities 
or agencies of the United States of America: 

(a) Federal Home Loan Bank System; 

(b) Export-Import Bank of the United States; 

(c) Federal Financing Bank; 

(d) Government National Mortgage Association; 

(e) Farmers Home Administration; 

(f) Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation; 

(g) Federal Housing Administration; 

(h) Private Export Funding Corporation; 

(i) Tennessee Valley Authority; 

(iii) Commercial paper, rated “P-1” by Moody’s or “A-1” by S&P, issued by a 
corporation or banking institution organized under the laws of the United States or any 
state thereof; 

(iv) Direct and general long-term obligations of any state of the United States 
on which the full faith and credit of the state is pledged and which are rated in either of 
the two highest rating categories by Moody’s or S&P; 
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(v) Direct and general short-term obligations of any state of the United States 
on which the full faith and credit of the state is pledged and which are rated in the highest 
Rating Category by Moody's and S&P; 

(vi) Interest bearing demand or time deposits with or certificates of deposit 
issued by a national banking association or a state bank or trust company which is a 
member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) which are (a) 
continuously and fully insured by the FDIC, or (b) with a bank which has outstanding 
debt, or which is a subsidiary of a one-bank holding company which has outstanding 
debt, rated at least P-1 by Moody’s or A-1 by S&P, or (c) continuously and fully secured 
by obligations of the type described in (i) and (ii) above which have a market value at all 
times at least equal to the principal amount of the deposit and which are held by the 
Trustee or its agent or, in the case of uncertificated securities, are registered in the name 
of the Trustee as pledgee; 

(vii) Repurchase agreements or other contracts for the purchase and sale of, and 
secured by obligations of the type specified in (i), (ii), (iv), (v) and (vi) above; and 

(viii) Money market mutual funds with assets in excess of $2,000,000,000 
investing in obligations of the type specified in (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v), (vi) and (vii) above. 

Rating Agency shall mean any of S&P, Moody’s or Fitch and such other 
nationally recognized securities rating agency as shall have awarded a rating to the 
Bonds. 

Rating Category shall mean one of the generic rating categories of a Rating 
Agency without regard to any refinement or gradation of such rating by a numerical 
modifier or otherwise. 

Rebate Amount shall have the meaning assigned to that term in the Tax 
Regulatory Agreement. 

Rebate Fund shall mean the special trust fund so designated, established pursuant 
to the Indenture. 

Record Date shall mean, with respect to any Interest Payment Date for the 
Bonds, the close of business on the fifteenth (15th) day of the month next preceding such 
Interest Payment Date, or, if such day is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business 
Day. 

Redemption Account shall mean the special trust account of the Bond Fund so 
designated, established pursuant to the Indenture. 

Redemption Date shall mean the date fixed for redemption of Bonds subject to 
redemption in any notice of redemption given in accordance with the terms of the 
Indenture. 
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Redemption Price shall mean, with respect to any Bond or a portion thereof, the 
principal amount thereof to be redeemed in whole or in part, plus the applicable premium, 
if any, payable upon redemption thereof pursuant to such Bond or the Indenture. 

Reimbursement Resolution shall mean the resolution adopted by the Institution 
on March 9, 2015 with respect to the Project and the debt financing thereof. 

Related Security Documents shall mean all Security Documents other than the 
Indenture. 

Renewal Fund shall mean the special trust fund so designated, established 
pursuant to the Indenture. 

Representations Letter shall mean the Blanket Issuer Letter of Representations 
from the Issuer to DTC. 

Requested Document Deliverables shall mean any documents as shall have been 
requested by the Issuer of the Institution pursuant to the Loan Agreement. 

Required Disclosure Statement shall mean that certain Required Disclosure 
Statement in the form of Exhibit F to the Loan Agreement. 

Responsible Officer shall mean, with respect to the Trustee, any officer within 
the corporate trust office of the Trustee, including any vice-president, any assistant vice-
president, any secretary, any assistant secretary, the treasurer, any assistant treasurer or 
other officer of the corporate trust office of the Trustee customarily performing functions 
similar to those performed by any of the above designated officers, who has direct 
responsibility for the administration of the trust granted in the Indenture, and shall also 
mean, with respect to a particular corporate trust matter, any other officer to whom such 
matter is referred because of that officer’s knowledge of and familiarity with the 
particular subject. 

S&P shall mean Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company which is a subsidiary of McGraw Hill Financial, Inc., a corporation 
organized and existing under the laws of the State, its successors and assigns, and if such 
limited liability company shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the 
functions of a securities rating agency, “S&P” shall be deemed to refer to any other 
nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Trustee, by notice to the 
other Notice Parties. 

Securities Act shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, together with 
any rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. 

Securities Exchange Act shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, together with any rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. 

Securities Depository shall mean any securities depository that is a clearing 
agency under federal law operating and maintaining, with its participants or otherwise, a 
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book-entry system to record ownership of book-entry interests in the Bonds, and to effect 
transfers of book-entry interests in the Bonds in book-entry form, and includes and means 
initially DTC. 

Security Documents shall mean, collectively, the Loan Agreement, the 
Promissory Note, the Indenture and the Tax Regulatory Agreement. 

Series shall mean all of the Bonds designated as being of the same series 
authenticated and delivered on original issuance in a simultaneous transaction, and any 
Bonds thereafter authenticated and delivered in lieu thereof or in substitution therefor 
pursuant to the Indenture. 

Series 2016 Bonds shall mean the Issuer’s Revenue Bonds (The Chapin School, 
LTD Project) Series 2016 originally issued in the aggregate principal amount of 
$75,000,000. 

Series 2016 Indenture shall mean the Indenture of Trust, dated as of August 1, 
2016, between the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee. 

Sign shall mean a large and readable sign erected on the Facility site, at the 
Institution’s cost and expense, within easy view of passing pedestrians and motorists, 
with certain information on it and satisfying certain requirements, as described in the 
Loan Agreement. 

Site Affiliates means, collectively, all Affiliates of Institution that lease, occupy, 
operate or perform work at the Facility Realty and that have one or more direct Site 
Employees. 

Site Employee means, with respect to any Covered Employer, any natural person 
who works at the Facility Realty and who is employed by, or contracted or subcontracted 
to work for, such Covered Employer, including all employees, independent contractors, 
contingent workers or contracted workers (including persons made available to work 
through the services of a temporary services, staffing or employment agency or similar 
entity) that are performing work on a full-time, part-time, temporary or seasonal basis; 
provided that the term “Site Employee” shall not include any natural person who works 
less than seventeen and a half (17.5) hours in any consecutive seven day period at the 
Facility Realty unless the primary work location or home base of such person is at the 
Facility Realty (for the avoidance of doubt, a natural person who works at least seventeen 
and a half (17.5) hours in any consecutive seven day period at the Facility Realty shall 
thereafter constitute a Site Employee). 

Small Business Cap means three million dollars; provided that, beginning in 
2015 and each year thereafter, the Small Business Cap shall be adjusted 
contemporaneously with the adjustment to the “living wage rate” component of the LW 
using the methodology set forth in Section 6-134(b)(9) of the New York City 
Administrative Code. 
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Special Record Date shall mean a date fixed pursuant to and in accordance with 
the Indenture whereby the owner in whose name such Bond is registered at the close of 
business on such date will be paid Defaulted Interest. 

Specified Contract means, with respect to any Person, the principal written 
contract that makes such Person a Covered Employer hereunder. 

State shall mean the State of New York. 

Successor Institution shall mean the surviving, resulting or transferee Entity in a 
Merger or Transfer. 

Supplemental Indenture shall mean any indenture supplemental to or 
amendatory of the Indenture, executed and delivered by the Issuer and the Trustee in 
accordance with the Indenture. 

Tax-Exempt Organization shall mean an Entity organized under the laws of the 
United States of America or any state thereof which is an organization described in 
Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and exempt from Federal income taxes under 501(a) of 
Code, or corresponding provisions of Federal income tax laws from time to time in effect. 

Tax Regulatory Agreement shall mean the Tax Regulatory Agreement, dated 
the Closing Date, from the Issuer and the Institution to the Trustee, and shall include any 
and all amendments thereof and supplements thereto hereafter made in conformity 
therewith and with the Indenture. 

Termination Date shall mean such date on which the Loan Agreement may 
terminate pursuant to the terms therein. 

Transfer shall mean the liquidation, wind up, dissolution or other disposal of all 
or substantially all of an Entity’s property, business or assets. 

Trustee shall mean The Bank of New York Mellon, New York, New York, in its 
capacity as trustee under the Indenture, and its successors in such capacity and their 
assigns hereafter appointed in the manner provided in the Indenture. 

Trust Estate shall mean all property, interests, revenues, funds, contracts, rights 
and other security granted to the Trustee under the Security Documents. 

Underwriter shall mean Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC. 

Yield shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the Tax Regulatory 
Agreement. 
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APPENDIX D 
 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT 
 

The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Loan Agreement.  This summary 
does not purport to be complete and reference is made to the Loan Agreement for the detailed 
provisions thereof.  This summary is qualified in its entirety by such reference.  Headings are not 
part of the Loan Agreement and are included for ease of reference only. 
 
Loan of Proceeds. 
 

The Issuer agrees, upon the terms and conditions contained in the Loan Agreement and 
the Indenture, to loan the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to the Institution (the “Loan”).  
The Loan shall be made by applying on the Closing Date the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds 
in accordance with the Indenture.  Such proceeds shall be disbursed to or on behalf of the 
Institution as provided in the Indenture. (Section 4.1) 

Promissory Note. 
 

The Institution’s obligation to repay the Loan shall be evidenced by the Loan Agreement 
and the Promissory Note.  On the Closing Date, the Institution shall execute and deliver the 
Promissory Note payable to the Issuer, and the Issuer will endorse the Promissory Note to the 
Trustee.  The Institution acknowledges that the original principal amount payable under the 
Promissory Note may be more or less than the original principal amount of the Loan if the Bonds 
are sold at a discount or at a premium, respectively, and agrees that repayment of the Loan and 
the Promissory Note will be made in accordance with the Loan Agreement. (Section 4.2) 
 
Loan Payments; Pledge of the Loan Agreement and of the Promissory Note. 

 
(a) The Institution covenants to pay the Promissory Note and repay the Loan made 

pursuant to the Loan Agreement by making loan payments which the Issuer agrees shall be paid 
in immediately available funds by the Institution directly to the Trustee on each Loan Payment 
Date (except as provided in clauses (a)(ii) and (iv) below which shall be paid on the respective 
due dates thereof) for deposit in the Bond Fund (except to the extent that amounts are on deposit 
in the Bond Fund and available therefor) in an amount equal to the sum of: 

(i) with respect to interest due and payable on the Bonds, an amount equal to 
the amount of interest which will become due and payable on the Bonds on the next 
succeeding Interest Payment Date (after taking into account any amounts on deposit in 
the Interest Account of the Bond Fund, and as shall be available to pay interest on the 
Bonds on such next succeeding Interest Payment Date); 

(ii) with respect to principal due on the Bonds, commencing on that Loan 
Payment Date as shall precede the first principal payment date, an amount equal to the 
amount of the principal of the Bonds Outstanding becoming due on such next succeeding 
Interest Payment Date; provided that in the event of the acceleration of the principal of 
the Bonds, a loan payment in the amount of the principal amount of the Bonds 
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Outstanding (together with all interest accrued thereon to the date of payment), shall be 
due and payable on such date of acceleration; 

(iii) Reserved; and 

(iv) on each redemption date, with respect to the Redemption Price due and 
payable on the Bonds, whether as an optional or mandatory redemption, an amount equal 
to the Redemption Price together with accrued interest on the Bonds being redeemed on 
such redemption date. 

In the event the Institution should fail to make or cause to be made any of the payments 
required under the foregoing provisions under this heading, the item or installment not so paid 
shall continue as an obligation of the Institution until the amount not so paid shall have been 
fully paid. 

(b) The Institution has the option to make advance loan payments for deposit in the 
Bond Fund to effect the retirement, defeasance or redemption of the Bonds in whole or in part, 
all in accordance with the terms of the Indenture; provided, however, that no partial redemption 
of the Bonds may be effected through advance loan payments under the Loan Agreement if there 
shall exist and be continuing an Event of Default.  The Institution shall exercise its option to 
make such advance loan payments by delivering a written notice of an Authorized 
Representative of the Institution to the Trustee in accordance with the Indenture, with a copy to 
the Issuer, setting forth (u) the amount of the advance loan payment, (v) the principal amount of 
Bonds Outstanding requested to be redeemed with such advance loan payment (which principal 
amount shall be in such minimum amount or integral Authorized Denomination as shall be 
permitted in the Indenture), and (w) the date on which such principal amount of Bonds are to be 
redeemed (which date shall be not earlier than forty-five (45) days after the date of such notice).  
In the event the Institution shall exercise its option to make advance loan payments to effect the 
redemption in whole of the Bonds, and such redemption is expressly permitted under the 
Indenture as a result of the damage, destruction or condemnation of the Facility, or changes in 
law, or executive or judicial action, the Institution shall further deliver to the Issuer and the 
Trustee a certificate of an Authorized Representative of the Institution stating that, as a result of 
the occurrence of the event giving rise to such redemption, the Institution has discontinued, or at 
the earliest practicable date will discontinue, its operation of the Facility for its intended 
purposes.  Such advance loan payment shall be paid to the Trustee in legal tender, for deposit in 
the Redemption Account of the Bond Fund on or before the redemption date and shall be an 
amount which, when added to the amounts on deposit in the Bond Fund and available therefor, 
will be sufficient to pay the Redemption Price of the Bonds to be redeemed, together with 
interest to accrue to the date of redemption and all expenses of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Bond 
Registrar and the Paying Agents in connection with such redemption.  In the event the Bonds are 
to be redeemed in whole or otherwise retired, the Institution shall further pay on or before such 
redemption date, in legal tender, to the Issuer, the Trustee, the Bond Registrar and the Paying 
Agent all fees and expenses owed such party or any other party entitled thereto under the Loan 
Agreement or the Indenture together with (x) all other amounts due and payable under the Loan 
Agreement and the other Security Documents, and (y) any amounts required to be rebated to the 
Federal government pursuant to the Indenture or the Tax Regulatory Agreement. 
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(c) Reserved. 

(d) In the event Defaulted Interest (as defined in the Indenture) shall become due on 
any Bond, the Institution shall notify the Trustee in writing of the amount of Defaulted Interest 
proposed to be paid on such Bond and the date of the proposed payment (which date shall be 
such as will enable the Trustee to comply with the Indenture), and shall deposit with the Trustee 
at the time of such notice an amount of money equal to the aggregate amount proposed to be paid 
in respect of such Defaulted Interest or shall make arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for 
such deposit prior to the date of the proposed payment. 

(e) No further loan payments need be made to the Issuer on account of the Bonds 
when and so long as the amount of cash and/or Defeasance Obligations on deposit in the Bond 
Fund is sufficient to satisfy and discharge the obligations of the Issuer under the Indenture and 
pay the Bonds as provided in the Indenture. 

(f) Any amounts remaining in the Rebate Fund, the Bond Fund, the Project Fund or 
the Renewal Fund after payment in full of (w) the Bonds (in accordance with the Indenture), (x) 
the fees, charges and expenses of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Bond Registrar and the Paying 
Agents in accordance with the Indenture, (y) all amounts required to be rebated to the Federal 
government pursuant to the Tax Regulatory Agreement or the Indenture, and (z) all amounts 
required to be paid under any Project Document, shall have been so paid, shall belong to and be 
paid to the Institution by the Trustee as overpayment of the loan payments. 

(g) In the event that the Institution fails to make any loan payment required under this 
heading, the installment so in default shall continue as an obligation of the Institution until the 
amount in default shall have been fully paid. 

(h) Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing to the contrary, if the amount on 
deposit and available in the Bond Fund is not sufficient to pay the principal of, redemption 
premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds when due (whether at maturity or by redemption or 
acceleration or otherwise as provided in the Indenture), the Institution shall forthwith pay the 
amount of such deficiency in immediately available funds to the Trustee for deposit in the Bond 
Fund. (Section 4.3) 

Nature of Institution’s Obligation Unconditional. 
 

The Institution’s obligation under the Loan Agreement and under the Promissory Note to 
pay the loan payments and all other payments provided for in the Loan Agreement and in the 
Promissory Note shall be absolute, unconditional and a general obligation of the Institution, 
irrespective of any defense or any rights of set-off, recoupment or counterclaim or deduction and 
without any rights of suspension, deferment, diminution or reduction it might otherwise have 
against the Issuer, the Trustee or the Holder of any Bond and the obligation of the Institution 
shall arise whether or not the Project has been completed as provided in the Loan Agreement and 
whether or not any provider of a credit facility or liquidity facility with respect to the Bonds shall 
be honoring its obligations thereunder.  The Institution will not suspend or discontinue any such 
payment or terminate the Loan Agreement (other than such termination as is provided for under 
the Loan Agreement), or suspend the performance or observance of any covenant or agreement 
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required on the part of the Institution under the Loan Agreement, for any cause whatsoever, and 
the Institution waives all rights now or hereafter conferred by statute or otherwise to quit, 
terminate, cancel or surrender the Loan Agreement or any obligation of the Institution under the 
Loan Agreement except as provided in the Loan Agreement or to any abatement, suspension, 
deferment, diminution or reduction in the loan payments or other payments under the Loan 
Agreement or under the Promissory Note.  (Section 4.5) 
 
Advances by the Issuer or the Trustee. 
 

 In the event the Institution fails to make any payment or to perform or to observe any 
obligation required of it under the Loan Agreement, under the Promissory Note or under any 
other Security Document, the Issuer or the Trustee, after first notifying the Institution in writing 
of any such failure on its part (except that no prior notification of the Institution shall be required 
in the event of an emergency condition that, in the reasonable judgment of the Issuer or the 
Trustee, necessitates immediate action), may (but shall not be obligated to), and without waiver 
of any of the rights of the Issuer or the Trustee under the Loan Agreement or any other Security 
Document to which the Issuer or the Trustee is a party, make such payment or otherwise cure 
any failure by the Institution to perform and to observe its other obligations under the Loan 
Agreement or any other Security Document.  All amounts so advanced therefor by the Issuer or 
the Trustee shall become an additional obligation of the Institution to the Issuer or the Trustee, as 
the case may be, which amounts, together with interest thereon at the rate of twelve percent 
(12%) per annum, compounded daily, from the date advanced, the Institution will pay upon 
demand therefor by the Issuer or the Trustee, as applicable.  Any remedy vested in the Issuer or 
the Trustee in the Indenture or in any other Security Document for the collection of the loan 
payments or other payments or other amounts due under the Loan Agreement, under the 
Promissory Note or under any other Security Document shall also be available to the Issuer or 
the Trustee for the collection of all such amounts so advanced.  No advance shall be made by the 
Trustee except as specified in the Indenture.  (Section 4.6) 

Damage, Destruction and Condemnation. 
 

In the event that the whole or part of the Facility shall be damaged or destroyed, or taken 
or condemned by a competent authority for any public use or purpose, or by agreement to which 
the Institution and those authorized to exercise such right are parties, or if the temporary use of 
the Facility shall be so taken by condemnation or agreement (a “Loss Event”): 

(i) The Issuer shall have no obligation to rebuild, replace, repair or restore the 
Facility or to advance funds therefor, 

(ii) There shall be no abatement, postponement or reduction in the loan 
payments or other amounts payable by the Institution under the Loan Agreement or the 
Promissory Note or any other Security Document to which it is a party, and the 
Institution waives, to the extent permitted by law, any provisions of law which would 
permit the Institution to terminate the Loan Agreement, the Promissory Note or any other 
Security Document, or eliminate or reduce its payments under the Loan Agreement, 
under the Promissory Note or under any other Security Document, and 
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(iii) the Institution will promptly give written notice of such Loss Event to the 
Issuer and the Trustee, generally describing the nature and extent thereof. (Section 6.1) 

Loss Proceeds. 
 
The Net Proceeds with respect to the Facility shall be deposited in the Renewal Fund 

established under the Series 2016 Indenture until such time as the Series 2016 Bonds are no 
longer outstanding thereunder.  If the Series 2016 Bonds are no longer outstanding, then the Net 
Proceeds with respect to the Facility (including any Net Proceeds as had previously been on 
deposit in the Renewal Fund established under the Series 2016 Indenture) shall be paid to the 
Trustee and deposited in the Renewal Fund.  Pending the disbursement or transfer thereof, the 
Net Proceeds in the Renewal Fund shall be applied, and may be invested, as provided in the 
Indenture.  The Institution shall be entitled to the Net Proceeds of any insurance proceeds or 
condemnation award, compensation or damages attributable to the Institution’s Property.  
(Section 6.2) 

Election to Rebuild or Terminate.   
 

(a) In the event a Loss Event shall occur, the Institution shall either: 
 
(i) at its own cost and expense (except to the extent paid from the Net 

Proceeds), promptly and diligently rebuild, replace, repair or restore the Facility to 
substantially its condition immediately prior to the Loss Event, or to a condition of at 
least equivalent value, operating efficiency and function, regardless of whether or not the 
Net Proceeds derived from the Loss Event shall be sufficient to pay the cost thereof, and 
the Institution shall not by reason of payment of any such excess costs be entitled to any 
reimbursement from the Issuer, the Trustee or any Bondholder, nor shall the loan 
payments or other amounts payable by the Institution under the Loan Agreement or the 
Promissory Note or any other Security Document be abated, postponed or reduced, or 

 
(ii) to the extent that the failure of the Institution to rebuild, replace, repair or 

restore such portion of the Facility shall not cause the portion of the Facility affected by 
the Loss Event to be in an unsafe or unlawful condition, the Institution shall not be 
obligated to rebuild, replace, repair or restore such portion of the Facility and, to the 
extent it has provided an opinion of Nationally Recognized Bond Counsel to the Trustee 
to the effect that such action shall not affect the exclusion of the interest on any Tax-
Exempt Bonds then Outstanding from gross income for federal income tax purposes, may 
retain any unexpended Net Proceeds or direct any unexpended Net Proceeds to the 
Trustee to effect the redemption of the Bonds pursuant to the Indenture; or 

 
(iii) if, to the extent and upon the conditions permitted to do so under the 

Indenture, exercise its option to terminate the Loan Agreement and cause the Bonds to be 
redeemed in whole; 

 
provided that if all or substantially all of the Facility shall be taken or condemned, or if 

the taking or condemnation renders the Facility unsuitable for use by the Institution as 
contemplated hereby, the Institution shall exercise its option to terminate the Loan Agreement. 
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Not later than ninety (90) days after the occurrence of a Loss Event, the Institution shall 

advise the Issuer and the Trustee in writing of the action to be taken by the Institution under this 
clause (a), a failure to so timely notify being deemed an election in favor of clause (a)(ii) to be 
exercised in accordance with the provisions of clause (a)(ii). 
 

(b) If the Institution shall elect to or shall otherwise be required to rebuild, replace, 
repair or restore the Facility as set forth in clause (a)(i) above and any Net Proceeds are 
deposited into the Renewal Fund in accordance with the provisions of the Loan Agreement, the 
Trustee shall disburse the Net Proceeds from the Renewal Fund in the manner set forth in the 
Indenture to pay or reimburse the Institution, at the election of the Institution, either as such work 
progresses or upon the completion thereof, provided, however, the amounts so disbursed by the 
Trustee to the Institution shall not exceed the actual cost of such work.  If the Institution shall 
exercise its option in clause (a)(ii) above, the amount of the Net Proceeds so recovered shall be 
deposited as set forth in the Loan Agreement and to the extent deposited in the Renewal Fund 
shall be transferred from the Renewal Fund and deposited in the Redemption Account of the 
Bond Fund, and the Institution shall thereupon pay to the Trustee for deposit in the Redemption 
Account of the Bond Fund an amount which, when added to any amounts then in the Bond Fund 
and available for that purpose, shall be sufficient to retire and redeem the Bonds in whole at the 
earliest possible date (including, without limitation, principal and interest to the maturity or 
redemption date and redemption premium, if any), and shall pay the expenses of redemption, the 
fees and expenses of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Bond Registrar and the Paying Agents, together 
with all other amounts due under the Indenture, under the Loan Agreement and under each other 
Security Document, as well as any amounts required to be rebated to the Federal government 
pursuant to the Indenture or the Tax Regulatory Agreement and such amount so deposited shall 
be applied, together with such other available amounts in the Bond Fund, if applicable, to such 
redemption or retirement of the Bonds on said redemption date or Maturity Date.  (Section 6.3) 
 
Pledge and Assignment to Trustee. 

As security for the payment of the Bonds and the obligations of the Institution under the 
Security Documents: 

(a) the Issuer shall pledge and assign to the Trustee, for the benefit of the 
Bondholders, pursuant to the Indenture all of the Issuer’s right, title and interest in the 
Promissory Note and all of the Issuer’s right, title and interest in the Loan Agreement (except for 
the Issuer’s Reserved Rights), including all loan payments under the Loan Agreement and under 
the Promissory Note, and in furtherance of such pledge, the Issuer will unconditionally assign 
such loan payments to the Trustee for deposit in the Bond Fund in accordance with the 
Indenture. (Section 7.4) 

Insurance. 

The Institution shall obtain and maintain for itself as primary insured the insurance 
required by the Loan Agreement. (Section 8.1) 
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Indemnity. 

(a) The Institution shall at all times indemnify, defend, protect and hold the Issuer, 
the Trustee, the Bond Registrar and the Paying Agents, and any director, member, officer, 
employee, servant, agent (excluding for this purpose the Institution, which is not obligated to 
indemnify its own employees, Affiliates or affiliated individuals) thereof and persons under the 
Issuer’s control or supervision (collectively, the “Indemnified Parties” and each an “Indemnified 
Party”) harmless of, from and against any and all claims (whether in tort, contract or otherwise), 
taxes (of any kind and by whomsoever imposed), demands, penalties, fines, liabilities, lawsuits, 
actions, proceedings, settlements, costs and expenses, including attorney and consultant fees, 
investigation and laboratory fees, court costs, and litigation expenses (collectively, “Claims”) of 
any kind for losses, damage, injury and liability (collectively, “Liability”) of every kind and 
nature and however caused (except, with respect to any Indemnified Party, Liability arising from 
the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnified Party), arising during the period 
commencing on the Indemnification Commencement Date, and continuing until the termination 
of the Loan Agreement, arising upon, about, or in any way connected with the Facility, the 
Project, or any of the transactions with respect thereto, including: 

(i) the financing of the costs of the Facility or the Project and the marketing, 
offering, issuance, sale and remarketing of the Bonds for such purpose, 

(ii) the planning, design, acquisition, site preparation, Project Work, 
construction, renovation, equipping, installation or completion of the Project or any part 
thereof or the effecting of any work done in or about the Facility, or any defects (whether 
latent or patent) in the Facility, 

(iii) the maintenance, repair, replacement, restoration, rebuilding, construction, 
renovation, upkeep, use, occupancy, ownership, leasing, subletting or operation of the 
Facility or any portion thereof, 

(iv) the execution and delivery by an Indemnified Party, the Institution or any 
other Person of, or performance by an Indemnified Party, the Institution or any other 
Person, as the case may be, of, any of their respective obligations under, the Loan 
Agreement or any other Project Document, or other document or instrument delivered in 
connection with the Loan Agreement or therewith or the enforcement of any of the terms 
or provisions of the Loan Agreement or thereof or the transactions contemplated, 

(v) any damage or injury to the person or property of any Person in or on the 
premises of the Facility, 

(vi) any imposition arising from, burden imposed by, violation of, or failure to 
comply with any Legal Requirement, including failure to comply with the requirements 
of the City’s zoning resolution and related regulations, or 

(vii) the presence, disposal, release, or threatened release of any Hazardous 
Materials that are on, from, or affecting the Facility; any personal injury (including 
wrongful death) or property damage (real or personal) arising out of or related to such 
Hazardous Materials; any lawsuit brought or threatened, settlement reached, or 
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government order relating to such Hazardous Materials, and/or any violation of Legal 
Requirements, including demands of government authorities, or any policies or 
requirements of the Issuer, which are based upon or in any way related to such Hazardous 
Materials. 

(b) The Institution releases each Indemnified Party from, and agrees that no 
Indemnified Party shall be liable to the Institution or its Affiliates for, any Claim or Liability 
arising from or incurred as a result of action taken or not taken by such Indemnified Party with 
respect to any of the matters set forth under subsection (a) of this heading including any Claim or 
Liability arising from or incurred as a result of the negligence or gross negligence of such 
Indemnified Party, or at the direction of the Institution with respect to any of such matters above 
referred to.   

(c) An Indemnified Party shall promptly notify the Institution in writing of any claim 
or action brought against such Indemnified Party in which indemnity may be sought against the 
Institution pursuant to this heading; such notice shall be given in sufficient time to allow the 
Institution to defend or participate in such claim or action, but the failure to give such notice in 
sufficient time shall not constitute a defense under the Loan Agreement nor in any way impair 
the obligations of the Institution under this heading. 

(d) Anything to the contrary in the Loan Agreement notwithstanding, the covenants 
of the Institution contained under this heading shall be in addition to any and all other obligations 
and liabilities that the Institution may have to any Indemnified Party in any other agreement or at 
common law, and shall remain in full force and effect after the termination of the Loan 
Agreement until the later of (x) the expiration of the period stated in the applicable statute of 
limitations during which a claim or cause of action may be brought and (y) payment in full or the 
satisfaction of such claim or cause of action and of all expenses and charges incurred by the 
Indemnified Party relating to the enforcement of the provisions specified under the Loan 
Agreement. (Section 8.2) 

Assignment of the Loan Agreement or Lease of Facility. 

(a) The Institution shall not at any time, except as permitted by the Loan Agreement, 
assign or transfer the Loan Agreement without the prior written consents of the Issuer and the 
Trustee (which consents may be withheld by the Issuer or the Trustee in their absolute 
discretion); provided further, that the following conditions must be satisfied on or prior to the 
date the Issuer and the Trustee consent to any such assignment or transfer: 

(i) the Institution shall have delivered to the Issuer and the Trustee a 
certificate of an Authorized Representative to the effect that the transfer or assignment to 
the assignee or transferee (the “New Institution”) shall not cause the Facility to cease 
being the Approved Facility; 

(ii) the New Institution shall be liable to the Issuer for the payment of all loan 
and other payments and for the full performance of all of the terms, covenants and 
conditions of the Loan Agreement and of any other Project Document to which it shall be 
a party; 
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(iii) the New Institution shall have assumed in writing (and shall have executed 
and delivered to the Issuer and the Trustee such document and have agreed to keep and 
perform) all of the terms of the Loan Agreement and each other Project Document on the 
part of the New Institution to be kept and performed, shall be subject to service of 
process in the State, and, if a corporation, shall be qualified to do business in the State; 

(iv) the New Institution shall be a not-for-profit corporation or a limited 
liability company constituting a Tax-Exempt Organization; 

(v) such assignment or transfer shall not violate any provision of the Loan 
Agreement or any other Project Document; 

(vi) an Opinion of Counsel shall have been delivered and addressed to the 
Issuer and the Trustee, to the effect that, (x) such assignment or transfer shall constitute 
the legally valid, binding and enforceable obligation of the New Institution and shall not 
legally impair in any respect the obligations of the New Institution for the payment of all 
loan payments nor for the full performance of all of the terms, covenants and conditions 
of the Loan Agreement, of the Promissory Note or of any other Project Document to 
which the New Institution shall be a party, nor impair or limit in any respect the 
obligations of any other obligor under any other Project Document, and (y) the Loan 
Agreement and each of the other Project Documents to which the New Institution is a 
party constitute the legally valid, binding and enforceable obligation of the New 
Institution; 

(vii) the New Institution shall have delivered to the Issuer the Required 
Disclosure Statement in form and substance satisfactory to the Issuer;  

(viii) each such assignment shall contain such other provisions as the Issuer or 
the Trustee may reasonably require; and 

(ix) an opinion of Nationally Recognized Bond Counsel shall have been 
delivered and addressed to the Issuer and the Trustee, to the effect that such assignment 
or transfer shall not affect the exclusion of the interest on any Bonds then Outstanding 
from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

The Institution shall furnish or cause to be furnished to the Issuer and the Trustee a copy of any 
such assignment or transfer in substantially final form at least thirty (30) days prior to the date of 
execution thereof. 

(b) With the exception of Permitted Users (as defined in clause (d) below), the 
Institution shall not at any time lease all or substantially all of the Facility, without the prior 
written consents of the Issuer and the Trustee (which consents may be withheld by the Issuer or 
the Trustee in their absolute discretion); nor shall the Institution lease part (i.e., not constituting 
substantially all) of the Facility without the prior written consents of the Issuer and the Trustee 
(which consents shall, in such case, not be unreasonably withheld and, in the case of the Issuer, 
such consent to be requested by the Institution of the Issuer in the form prescribed by the Issuer, 
and such consent of the Issuer to take into consideration the Issuer’s policies as in effect from 
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time to time); provided further, that the following conditions must be satisfied on or prior to the 
date the Issuer and the Trustee consent to any such letting: 

(i) the Institution shall have delivered to the Issuer and the Trustee a 
certificate of an Authorized Representative to the effect that the lease shall not cause the 
Facility to cease being the Approved Facility; 

(ii) the Institution shall remain primarily liable to the Issuer for the payment of 
all loan and other payments and for the full performance of all of the terms, covenants 
and conditions of the Loan Agreement and of the Promissory Note and of any other 
Project Document to which it shall be a party; 

(iii) any lessee in whole or substantially in whole of the Facility shall have 
assumed in writing (and shall have executed and delivered to the Issuer and the Trustee 
such document) and have agreed to keep and perform all of the terms of the Loan 
Agreement and each other Project Document on the part of the Institution to be kept and 
performed, shall be jointly and severally liable with the Institution for the performance 
thereof, shall be subject to service of process in the State, and, if a corporation, shall be 
qualified to do business in the State; 

(iv) any lessee shall utilize the Facility as the Approved Facility and shall 
constitute a Tax-Exempt Organization; 

(v) such lease shall not violate any provision of the Loan Agreement or any 
other Project Document; 

(vi) with respect to any letting in part of the Facility, no more than an 
aggregate of twenty percent (20%) of the Facility shall be leased by the Institution; 

(vii) an Opinion of Counsel shall have been delivered and addressed to the 
Issuer and the Trustee, to the effect that such lease shall constitute the legally valid, 
binding and enforceable obligation of the lessee and shall not legally impair in any 
respect the obligations of the Institution for the payment of all loan or other payments nor 
for the full performance of all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Loan 
Agreement, of the Promissory Note or of any other Project Document to which the 
Institution shall be a party, nor impair or limit in any respect the obligations of any other 
obligor under any other Project Document; 

(viii) such lease shall in no way diminish or impair the obligation of the 
Institution to carry the insurance required under the Loan Agreement and the Institution 
shall furnish written evidence satisfactory to the Issuer and the Trustee that such 
insurance coverage shall in no manner be diminished or impaired by reason of such 
assignment, transfer or lease; 

(ix) any such lessee shall have delivered to the Issuer the Required Disclosure 
Statement in form and substance satisfactory to the Issuer;  
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(x) each such lease shall contain such other provisions as the Issuer or the 
Trustee may reasonably require; and 

(xi) an opinion of Nationally Recognized Bond Counsel shall have been 
delivered and addressed to the Issuer and the Trustee, to the effect that such lease shall 
not affect the exclusion of the interest on any Bonds then Outstanding from gross income 
for federal income tax purposes. 

The Institution shall furnish or cause to be furnished to the Issuer and the Trustee a copy of any 
such lease in substantially final form at least thirty (30) days prior to the date of execution 
thereof. 

(c) Any consent by the Issuer or the Trustee to any act of assignment, transfer or 
lease shall be held to apply only to the specific transaction thereby authorized.  Such consent 
shall not be construed as a waiver of the duty of the Institution, or the successors or assigns of 
the Institution, to obtain from the Issuer and the Trustee consent to any other or subsequent 
assignment, transfer or lease, or as modifying or limiting the rights of the Issuer or the Trustee 
under the foregoing covenant by the Institution. 

(d) For purposes under this heading, any license or other right of possession or 
occupancy granted by the Institution with respect to the Facility shall be deemed a lease subject 
to the provisions under this heading other than agreements with “Permitted Users”, defined 
collectively as all Approved Users and all users of the Facility under Excluded Use Agreements.  
For purposes of this section, the following capitalized terms shall have the meanings specified 
below: 

“Approved Users” shall mean (i) a food services management agreement with Aramark 
Services, Inc. for use of a kitchen and cafeteria at the Facility for purposes of providing food 
services, including extensions, renewals or replacements of such agreement on materially similar 
terms; and (ii) users pursuant to a lease, license or other use or occupancy agreement permitted 
by the Institution, in compliance with a Shared Facilities Plan, as defined in the Loan Agreement 
pursuant to which, the Institution permits, if such action is in compliance with the Tax 
Regulatory Agreement, certain New York City public schools, not-for-profit community groups, 
governmental community groups and/or groups to use or otherwise have possession of any 
portion of the Facility necessary for the Institution to comply with the Shared Facilities Plan, as 
required by the Loan Agreement. 

“Excluded Use Agreement” shall mean leases, licenses or other uses or occupancy 
agreements or arrangements for a portion of the Facility the details of which will be consented to 
by the Institution and the Issuer prior to the date of issuance of the Bonds, which (A) allow for 
the simultaneous use of less than 20% of the Facility, aggregating all simultaneous Excluded Use 
Agreements, and (B) are for a term not greater than fifty (50) days, such period determined by 
aggregating the total number of days of use contemplated by the applicable agreement, and by 
measuring full days as the number of hours the Facility is available for use during a day.   

All Permitted Users shall comply with all covenants, restrictions and limitations 
described in the Tax Regulatory Agreement including, without limitation, 
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nongovernmental/private use and loan restrictions set forth in the Tax Certificate, and the 
Institution’s commercial general liability insurance shall cover all Permitted Users, or if not, the 
Institution shall require that all Permitted Users provide commercial general liability and 
excess/umbrella insurance covering such Permitted Users and invitees prior to the 
commencement of the applicable lease, license or other use or occupancy agreement, as the case 
may be, and throughout the term of such agreement.  (Section 8.9) 

Retention of Title to or of Interest in Facility; Grant of Easements; Release of Portions of 
Facility. 

(a) The Institution shall not sell, assign, encumber (other than Permitted 
Encumbrances), convey or otherwise dispose of its fee title to or interest in the Facility, 
including the Improvements, or any part of the Facility or interest therein, except as set forth in 
under the Loan Agreement, without (i) the prior written consents of the Issuer and of the Trustee 
and (ii) the Institution delivering to the Trustee and the Issuer an opinion of Nationally 
Recognized Bond Counsel to the effect that such action under this heading will not affect the 
exclusion of the interest on any Bonds then Outstanding from gross income for federal income 
taxes.  Any purported disposition without such consents and opinion shall be void. 

(b) The Institution may, with the prior written consents of the Issuer and the Trustee 
(such consents not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), so long as there exists no Event of 
Default under the Loan Agreement, grant such rights of way or easements over, across, or under, 
the Facility Realty, or grant such permits or licenses in respect to the use thereof, as shall be 
necessary or convenient in the opinion of the Institution for the operation or use of the Facility, 
or required by any utility company for its utility business, provided that, in each case, such rights 
of way, easements, permits or licenses shall not adversely affect the use or operation of the 
Facility as the Approved Facility.  The Issuer agrees, at the sole cost and expense of the 
Institution, to execute and deliver, and to cause and direct the Trustee to execute and deliver, any 
and all instruments necessary or appropriate to confirm and grant any such right of way or 
easement or any such permit or license. 

(c) So long as there exists no Event of Default under the Loan Agreement, and the 
Institution delivers to the Trustee and the Issuer an opinion of Nationally Recognized Bond 
Counsel to the effect that the following action will not affect the exclusion of the interest on any 
Bonds then Outstanding from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the Institution may 
from time to time request in writing to the Issuer and the Trustee the release of and removal from 
the property comprising the Facility under the Loan Agreement, of any unimproved part of the 
Land (on which none of the Improvements, including the buildings, structures, major 
appurtenances, fixtures or other property comprising the Facility Realty, is situated); provided 
that such release and removal will not adversely affect the use or operation of the Facility as the 
Approved Facility.  Upon any such request by the Institution, the Issuer shall, at the sole cost and 
expense of the Institution, cause and direct the Trustee to execute and deliver any and all 
instruments necessary or appropriate to so release and remove such unimproved Land from the 
property comprising the Facility under the Loan Agreement, subject to the following:  

(i) any liens, easements, encumbrances and reservations to which title to said 
property was subject on the Closing Date;  
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(ii) any liens, easements and encumbrances created at the request of the 
Institution or to the creation or suffering of which the Institution consented;  

(iii) any liens and encumbrances or reservations resulting from the failure of 
the Institution to perform or observe any of the agreements on its respective part 
contained in the Loan Agreement or any other Project Document;  

(iv) Permitted Encumbrances ; and  

(v) any liens for taxes or assessments not then delinquent;  

provided, however, that no such release shall be effected unless the following conditions 
have been satisfied: 

(A) the Trustee shall have received a certificate of an Independent 
Engineer, dated not more than sixty (60) days prior to the date of the release, 
stating that, in the opinion of the person signing such certificate, the unimproved 
Land and the release thereof so proposed to be made is not needed for the 
operation of the remaining Facility, will not adversely affect the use or operation 
of the Facility as the Approved Facility and will not destroy the means of ingress 
thereto and egress therefrom; 

(B) the Trustee shall have received an amount of cash for deposit in the 
Redemption Account of the Bond Fund equal to the greatest of (A) the original 
cost of the unimproved Land so released, such allocable cost to be determined by 
the appraisal of an independent real estate brokerage firm of recognized standing 
within the City, (B) the fair market value of such unimproved Land, such value to 
be determined by the appraisal of an independent real estate brokerage firm of 
recognized standing within the City, and (C) if such unimproved Land is released 
in connection with its sale, the amount received by the Institution upon such sale; 
and 

(C) the Facility Realty shall not constitute a portion of a tax lot. 

(d) No conveyance or release effected under the provisions of this heading shall 
entitle the Institution to any abatement or diminution of the loan payments or other amounts 
payable under the Loan Agreement or any other Project Document to which it shall be a party. 
(Section 8.10) 

Discharge of Liens. 

(a) If any lien, encumbrance or charge is filed or asserted (including any lien for the 
performance of any labor or services or the furnishing of materials), or any judgment, decree, 
order, levy or process of any court or governmental body is entered, made or issued or any claim 
(such liens, encumbrances, charges, judgments, decrees, orders, levies, processes and claims 
being collectively called “Liens”), whether or not valid, is made against the Trust Estate, the 
Facility or any part thereof or the interest therein of the Institution or against any of the loan 
payments or other amounts payable under the Loan Agreement, the Promissory Note or any of 
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the other Security Documents, or the interest of the Issuer or the Institution in any Security 
Document, other than Liens for Impositions not yet payable, Permitted Encumbrances, or Liens 
being contested as permitted by under subsection (b) of this heading, the Institution forthwith 
upon receipt of notice of the filing, assertion, entry or issuance of such Lien (regardless of the 
source of such notice) shall give written notice thereof to the Issuer and the Trustee and take all 
action (including the payment of money and/or the securing of a bond with respect to any such 
Lien) at its own cost and expense as may be necessary or appropriate to obtain the discharge in 
full of such Lien and to remove or nullify the basis therefor.  Nothing contained in the Loan 
Agreement shall be construed as constituting the express or implied consent to or permission of 
the Issuer for the performance of any labor or services or the furnishing of any materials that 
would give rise to any Lien not permitted under this subsection (a). 

(b) The Institution may at its sole cost and expense contest (after prior written notice 
to the Issuer and the Trustee), by appropriate action conducted in good faith and with due 
diligence, the amount or validity or application, in whole or in part, of any Lien, if: 

(i) such proceeding shall suspend the execution or enforcement of such Lien 
against the Trust Estate, the Facility or any part thereof or interest therein, or against any 
of the loan payments or other amounts payable under the Loan Agreement, the 
Promissory Note or any of the other Project Documents or the interest of the Issuer or the 
Institution in any Project Document,  

(ii) neither the Facility nor any part thereof or interest therein, the Trust Estate 
or any portion thereof, the loan payments or other amounts payable under the Loan 
Agreement, the Promissory Note or any of the other Security Documents or the interest 
of the Issuer or the Institution in any Security Document would be in any danger of being 
sold, forfeited or lost,  

(iii) none of the Institution, the Issuer or the Trustee would be in any danger of 
any civil or any criminal liability, other than normal accrual of interest, for failure to 
comply therewith, and  

(iv) the Institution shall have furnished such security, if any, as may be 
required in such proceedings or as may be reasonably requested by the Issuer or the 
Trustee to protect the security intended to be offered by the Security Documents. (Section 
8.11) 

No Further Encumbrances Permitted. 

The Institution shall not create, permit or suffer to exist any mortgage, encumbrance, lien, 
security interest, claim or charge against (i) the Facility or any part thereof, or the interest of the 
Institution in the Facility, except for Permitted Encumbrances, or (ii) the Trust Estate or any 
portion thereof, the loan payments or other amounts payable under the Loan Agreement, the 
Promissory Note or any of the other Security Documents or the interest of the Issuer or the 
Institution in any Security Document.  The Institution covenants that it shall take or cause to be 
taken all action, including all filing and recording, as may be necessary to ensure that there are 
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no mortgage liens on, or security interests in, the Facility (other than Permitted Encumbrances). 
(Section 8.13) 

Taxes, Assessments and Charges. 

(a) The Institution shall pay when the same shall become due all taxes and 
assessments, general and specific, if any, levied and assessed upon or against the Trust Estate, 
the Facility Realty or any part thereof, or interest of the Institution in the Facility, or against any 
of the loan payments or other payments or other amounts payable under the Loan Agreement, the 
Promissory Note or any of the other Project Documents, or the interest of the Issuer or the 
Institution in any Project Document, and all water and sewer charges, special district charges, 
assessments and other governmental charges and impositions whatsoever, foreseen or 
unforeseen, ordinary or extraordinary, under any present or future law, and charges for public or 
private utilities or other charges incurred in the occupancy, use, operation, maintenance or 
upkeep of the Facility Realty, all of which are called “Impositions” under the Loan Agreement.  
The Institution may pay any Imposition in installments if so payable by law, whether or not 
interest accrues on the unpaid balance. 

(b) In the event the Facility Realty is exempt from Impositions solely due to the 
Issuer’s involvement with the Project and the Facility Realty, the Institution shall pay all 
Impositions to the appropriate taxing authorities equivalent to the Impositions that would have 
been imposed on the Facility Realty as if the Issuer had no involvement with the Project and the 
Facility Realty. 

(c) The Institution may at its sole cost and expense contest (after prior written notice 
to the Issuer and the Trustee), by appropriate action conducted in good faith and with due 
diligence, the amount or validity or application, in whole or in part, of any Imposition, if  

 (i) such proceeding shall suspend the execution or enforcement of such 
Imposition against the Trust Estate, the Facility or any part thereof, or interest of the 
Institution in the Facility, or against any of the loan payments or other amounts payable 
under the Loan Agreement, the Promissory Note or any of the other Project Documents, 
or the interest of the Issuer or the Institution in any Project Document,  

 (ii) none of the Trust Estate, the Facility nor any part thereof or interest of the 
Institution in the Facility, or any of the loan payments or other amounts payable under the 
Loan Agreement, the Promissory Note or any of the other Project Documents, or the 
interest of the Issuer or the Institution in any Project Document, would be in any danger 
of being sold, forfeited or lost,  

 (iii) none of the Institution, the Issuer or the Trustee would be in any danger of 
any civil or any criminal liability, other than normal accrual of interest, for failure to 
comply therewith, and  

 (iv) the Institution shall have furnished such security, if any, as may be 
required in such proceedings or as may be reasonably requested by the Issuer or the 
Trustee to protect the security intended to be offered by the Security Documents. (Section 
8.17) 
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Compliance with Legal Requirements. 

(a) The Institution shall not occupy, use or operate the Facility, or allow the Facility 
or any part thereof to be occupied, used or operated, for any unlawful purpose or in violation of 
any certificate of occupancy affecting the Facility or for any use which may constitute a 
nuisance, public or private, or make void or voidable any insurance then in force with respect 
thereto. 

(b) At its sole cost and expense, the Institution shall promptly observe and comply 
with all applicable Legal Requirements (including, without limitation, as applicable, the LW 
Law, the Prevailing Wage Law, and the Earned Sick Time Act, constituting Chapter 8 of Title 20 
of the New York City Administrative Code), whether foreseen or unforeseen, ordinary or 
extraordinary, that shall now or at any time hereafter be binding upon or applicable to the 
Institution, the Facility, any occupant, user or operator of the Facility or any portion thereof, and 
will observe and comply with all conditions, requirements, and schedules necessary to preserve 
and extend all rights, licenses, permits (including zoning variances, special exception and non 
conforming uses), privileges, franchises and concessions.  The Institution will not, without the 
prior written consent of the Issuer and the Trustee (which consents shall not be unreasonably 
withheld or delayed), initiate, join in or consent to any private restrictive covenant, zoning 
ordinance or other public or private restrictions limiting or defining the uses that may be made of 
the Facility or any part thereof.   

(c) The Institution may at its sole cost and expense contest in good faith the validity, 
existence or applicability of any of the matters described in subsection (b) of this heading if (i) 
such contest shall not result in the Trust Estate, the Facility or any part thereof or interest of the 
Institution in the Facility, or any of the loan payments or other amounts payable under the Loan 
Agreement, the Promissory Note or any of the other Project Documents, or the interest of the 
Issuer or the Institution in any Project Document, being in any danger of being sold, forfeited or 
lost, (ii) such contest shall not result in the Institution, the Issuer or the Trustee being in any 
danger of any civil or any criminal liability for failure to comply therewith, and (iii) the 
Institution shall have furnished such security, if any, as may be reasonably requested by the 
Issuer or the Trustee to protect the security intended to be offered by the Security Documents for 
failure to comply therewith. (Section 8.18) 

Operation as Approved Facility. 

(a) The Institution will not take any action, or suffer or permit any action, if such 
action would cause the Facility not to be the Approved Facility. 

(b) The Institution will not fail to take any action, or suffer or permit the failure to 
take any action, if such failure would cause the Facility not to be the Approved Facility. 

(c) The Institution will permit the Trustee and its duly authorized agents, at all 
reasonable times upon written notice to enter upon the Facility and to examine and inspect the 
Facility and exercise its rights under the Loan Agreement, under the Indenture and under the 
other Security Documents with respect to the Facility.  The Institution will further permit the 
Issuer, or its duly authorized agent, upon reasonable notice, at all reasonable times, to enter the 
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Facility, but solely for the purpose of assuring that the Institution is operating the Facility, or is 
causing the Facility to be operated, as the Approved Facility consistent with the Approved 
Project Operations and with the corporate purposes of the Issuer. (Section 8.19) 

Restrictions on Dissolution and Merger.   

(a) The Institution covenants and agrees that at all times during the term of the Loan 
Agreement, it will  

(i) maintain its existence as a not-for-profit corporation constituting a Tax-
Exempt Organization, 

(ii) continue to be subject to service of process in the State, 

(iii) continue to be organized under the laws of, or qualified to do business in, 
the State,  

(iv) not liquidate, wind up or dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or 
substantially all of its property, business or assets (“Transfer”) remaining after the 
Closing Date, except as provided in paragraph (b) below,  

(v) not consolidate with or merge into another Entity or permit one or more 
Entities to consolidate with or merge into it (“Merge”), except as provided in Section 
paragraph (b) below, and 

(vi) not change or permit the change of any Principal of the Institution, or a 
change in the relative Control of the Institution of any of the existing Principals, except in 
each case as provided in paragraph (c) below. 

(b) Notwithstanding paragraph (a) above, the Institution may Merge or participate in 
a Transfer if the following conditions are satisfied on or prior to the Merger or Transfer, as 
applicable: 

(i) when the Institution is the surviving, resulting or transferee Entity,  

(1) the Institution shall have a net worth (as determined by an 
Independent Accountant in accordance with GAAP) at least equal to that of the 
Institution immediately prior to such Merger or Transfer, 

(2) the Institution shall continue to be a Tax-Exempt Organization, 

(3) the Institution shall deliver to the Issuer and the Trustee an opinion 
of Nationally Recognized Bond Counsel to the effect that such action will not 
cause the interest on the Bonds to become includable in gross income for federal 
income tax purposes, and 
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(4) the Institution shall deliver to the Issuer a Required Disclosure 
Statement with respect to itself as surviving Entity in form and substance 
satisfactory to the Issuer; or 

(ii) when the Institution is not the surviving, resulting or transferee Entity (the 
“Successor Institution”),  

(1) the predecessor Institution (the “Predecessor Institution”) shall not 
have been in default under this Agreement or under any other Project Document,  

(2) the Successor Institution shall be a Tax-Exempt Organization and 
shall be solvent and subject to service of process in the State and organized under 
the laws of the State, or under the laws of any other state of the United States and 
duly qualified to do business in the State,  

(3) the Successor Institution shall have assumed in writing all of the 
obligations of the Predecessor Institution contained in the Loan Agreement and in 
all other Project Documents to which the Predecessor Institution shall have been a 
party,  

(4) the Successor Institution shall have delivered to the Issuer a 
Required Disclosure Statement in form and substance acceptable to the Issuer 
acting in its sole discretion,  

(5) each Principal of the Successor Institution shall have delivered to 
the Issuer a Required Disclosure Statement in form and substance acceptable to 
the Issuer acting in its sole discretion,  

(6) the Successor Institution shall have delivered to the Issuer and the 
Trustee, in form and substance acceptable to the Issuer and the Trustee, an 
Opinion of Counsel to the effect that (y) the Loan Agreement and all other Project 
Documents to which the Predecessor Institution shall be a party constitute the 
legal, valid and binding obligations of the Successor Institution and each is 
enforceable in accordance with their respective terms to the same extent as it was 
enforceable against the Predecessor Institution, and (z) such action does not 
legally impair the security for the Holders of the Bonds afforded by the Security 
Documents,  

(7) the Successor Institution shall have delivered to the Issuer and the 
Trustee, in form and substance acceptable to the Issuer and the Trustee, an 
opinion of an Independent Accountant to the effect that the Successor Institution 
has a net worth (as determined in accordance with GAAP) after the Merger or 
Transfer at least equal to that of the Predecessor Institution immediately prior to 
such Merger or Transfer, and 

(8) the Successor Institution delivers to the Issuer and the Trustee an 
opinion of Nationally Recognized Bond Counsel to the effect that such action will 
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not cause the interest on the Bonds to become includable in gross income for 
federal income tax purposes. 

(c) If there is a change in Principals of the Institution, or a change in the Control of 
the Institution, the Institution shall deliver to the Issuer prompt written notice thereof (including 
all details that would result in a change to Exhibit D to the Loan Agreement) to the Issuer 
together with a Required Disclosure Statement in form and substance acceptable to the Issuer 
acting in its sole discretion. (Section 8.20) 

Preservation of Exempt Status. 

The Institution agrees that it shall: 

(a) not perform any acts, enter into any agreements, carry on or permit to be carried 
on at the Facility, or permit the Facility to be used in or for any trade or business, which shall 
adversely affect the basis for its exemption under Section 501 of the Code;  

(b) not use more than three percent (3%) of the proceeds of the Bonds or permit the 
same to be used, directly or indirectly, in any trade or business that constitutes an unrelated trade 
or business as defined in Section 513(a) of the Code or in any trade or business carried on by any 
Person or Persons who are not governmental units or Tax-Exempt Organizations;  

(c) not directly or indirectly use the proceeds of the Bonds to make or finance loans 
to Persons other than governmental units or Tax-Exempt Organizations, provided that no loan 
shall be made to another Tax-Exempt Organization unless such organization is using the funds 
for a purpose that is not an unrelated trade or business for either the Institution or the borrower;  

(d) not take any action or permit any circumstances within its control to arise or 
continue, if such action or circumstances, or its expectation on the Closing Date, would cause the 
Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds” under the Code or cause the interest paid by the Issuer on the 
Bonds to be subject to Federal income tax in the hands of the Holders thereof; and  

(e) use its best efforts to maintain the tax-exempt status of the Bonds. (Section 8.21) 

Events of Default. 

Any one or more of the following events shall constitute an “Event of Default” under the 
Loan Agreement: 

(a) Failure of the Institution to pay any loan payment that has become due and 
payable by the terms of the Loan Agreement which results in an Event of Default under the 
Indenture; 

(b) Failure of the Institution to pay any amount (except as set forth under subsection 
(a) of this heading) that has become due and payable or to observe and perform any covenant, 
condition or agreement on its part to be performed under Sections 8.1, 8.2, 8.3, 8.9, 8.11, 8.13, 
8.17, 8.18, 8.20, 8.21, 8.22, 8.26, 9.7 or 11.3 or Article VI of the Loan Agreement and 
continuance of such failure for more than thirty (30) days after written notice of such failure has 
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been given to the Institution specifying the nature of such failure by the Issuer or the Trustee or 
the Holders of more than twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 
Outstanding; 

(c) Failure of the Institution to observe and perform any covenant, condition or 
agreement under the Loan Agreement on its part to be performed (except as set forth in under 
this heading) continuance of such failure for more than thirty (30) days after written notice of 
such failure has been given to the Institution specifying the nature of same by the Issuer or the 
Trustee or the Holders of more than twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of 
the Bonds Outstanding, or (ii) if by reason of the nature of such failure the same can be 
remedied, but not within the said thirty (30) days, the Institution fails to commence and 
thereafter proceed with reasonable diligence after receipt of said notice to cure such failure or 
fails to continue with reasonable diligence its efforts to cure such failure or fails to cure such 
failure within sixty (60) days of delivery of said notice; 

(d) The Institution shall (i) apply for or consent to the appointment of or the taking of 
possession by a receiver, liquidator, custodian or trustee of itself or of all or a substantial part of 
its property, (ii) admit in writing its inability, or be generally unable, to pay its debts as such 
debts generally become due, (iii) make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors, (iv) 
commence a voluntary case under the Federal Bankruptcy Code (as now or hereafter in effect), 
(v) file a petition seeking to take advantage of any other law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, winding-up, or composition or adjustment of debts, (vi) fail to controvert in a 
timely or appropriate manner or acquiesce in writing to, any petition filed against itself in an 
involuntary case under the Federal Bankruptcy Code, (vii) take any action for the purpose of 
effecting any of the foregoing, or (viii) be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent by any court; 

(e) A proceeding or case shall be commenced, without the application or consent of 
the Institution, in any court of competent jurisdiction, seeking, (i) liquidation, reorganization, 
dissolution, winding-up or composition or adjustment of debts, (ii) the appointment of a trustee, 
receiver, liquidator, custodian or the like of the Institution or of all or any substantial part of its 
assets, or (iii) similar relief under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, 
winding-up or composition or adjustment of debts, and such proceeding or case shall continue 
undismissed, or an order, judgment or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be 
entered and continue unstayed and in effect, for a period of ninety (90) days; or any order for 
relief against the Institution shall be entered in an involuntary case under such Bankruptcy Code; 
the terms “dissolution” or “liquidation” of the Institution as used above shall not be construed to 
prohibit any action otherwise permitted by the Loan Agreement; 

(f) Any representation or warranty made by the Institution (i) in the application and 
related materials submitted to the Issuer or the Underwriter of the Bonds for approval of the 
Project or its financing, or (ii) under the Loan Agreement or in any other Project Document, or 
(iii) in the Letter of Representation and Indemnity Agreement dated the Closing Date and 
delivered to the Issuer, the Trustee and the Underwriter of the Bonds, or (iv) in the Tax 
Regulatory Agreement, or (v) by or on behalf of the Institution or any other Person in any 
Required Disclosure Statement, or (vi) in any report, certificate, financial statement or other 
instrument furnished pursuant to the Loan Agreement or any of the foregoing, shall in any case 
prove to be false, misleading or incorrect in any material respect as of the date made; 
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(g) The commencement of proceedings to appoint a receiver or to foreclose any 
mortgage lien on or security interest in the Facility;  

(h) An “Event of Default” under the Indenture or under any other Security Document 
shall occur and be continuing; or 

(i) The occurrence of an LW Event of Default. (Section 9.1) 

Remedies on Default. 

(a) Whenever any Event of Default referred to under the heading “Event of Default” 
shall have occurred and be continuing, the Issuer, or the Trustee where so provided, may, take 
any one or more of the following remedial steps: 

(i) The Trustee, as and to the extent provided in the Indenture, may cause all 
principal installments of loan payments payable under the Loan Agreement until the 
Bonds are no longer Outstanding to be immediately due and payable, whereupon the 
same, together with the accrued interest thereon, shall become immediately due and 
payable; provided, however, that upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under 
subsections (d) or (e) of the heading “Event of Default”, all principal installments of loan 
payments payable under subsection (a) of the heading “Loan Payments, Pledge of the 
Loan Agreement and of the Promissory Note” until the Bonds are no longer Outstanding, 
together with the accrued interest thereon, shall immediately become due and payable 
without any declaration, notice or other action of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Holders of 
the Bonds or any other Person being a condition to such acceleration; 

(ii) The Issuer or the Trustee may take whatever action at law or in equity as 
may appear necessary or desirable to collect the loan payments then due and thereafter to 
become due, or to enforce performance or observance of any obligations, agreements or 
covenants of the Institution under the Loan Agreement; and  

(iii) The Trustee may take any action permitted under the Indenture with 
respect to an Event of Default thereunder. 

(b) Upon the occurrence of a default with respect to any of the Issuer’s Reserved 
Rights, the Issuer, without the consent of the Trustee or any other Person, may proceed to 
enforce the Issuer’s Reserved Rights by  

(i) bringing an action for damages, injunction or specific performance, and/or 

(ii) taking whatever action at law or in equity as may appear necessary or 
desirable to collect payment of amounts due by the Institution under the Issuer’s 
Reserved Rights or to enforce the performance or observance of any obligations, 
covenants or agreements of the Institution under the Issuer’s Reserved Rights. 

(c) No action taken under this heading or by operation of law or otherwise shall, 
except as expressly provided under the Loan Agreement, relieve the Institution from the 
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Institution’s obligations under the Loan Agreement, all of which shall survive any such action. 
(Section 9.2) 

Bankruptcy Proceedings. 

 In case proceedings shall be pending for the bankruptcy or for the reorganization of the 
Institution under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law, or in case a receiver or 
trustee (other than the Trustee under the Indenture) shall have been appointed for the property of 
the Institution or in the case of any other similar judicial proceedings relative to the Institution or 
the creditors or property of the Institution, then the Trustee shall be entitled and empowered, by 
intervention in such proceedings or otherwise, to file and prove a claim or claims for the whole 
amount owing and unpaid pursuant to the Loan Agreement and the Promissory Note, irrespective 
of whether the principal of the Bonds (and the loan payments payable pursuant to the Promissory 
Note and the Loan Agreement) shall have been accelerated by declaration or otherwise, and 
irrespective of whether the Trustee shall have made any demand for payment under the Loan 
Agreement or Promissory Note, and, in case of any judicial proceedings, to file such proofs of 
claim and other papers or documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the 
claims of the Trustee allowed in such judicial proceedings relative to the Institution, the creditors 
or property of the Institution, and to collect and receive any moneys or other property payable or 
deliverable on any such claims, and to distribute such amounts as provided in the Indenture after 
the deduction of its charges and expenses.  Any receiver, assignee or trustee in bankruptcy or 
reorganization is authorized to make such payments to the Trustee, and to pay to the Trustee any 
amount due it for compensation and expenses, including expenses and fees of counsel incurred 
by it up to the date of such distribution. (Section 9.3) 

Remedies Cumulative. 

The rights and remedies of the Issuer or the Trustee under the Loan Agreement shall be 
cumulative and shall not exclude any other rights and remedies of the Issuer or the Trustee 
allowed by law with respect to any default under the Loan Agreement.  Failure by the Issuer or 
the Trustee to insist upon the strict performance of any of the covenants and agreements set forth 
under the Loan Agreement or to exercise any rights or remedies upon default by the Institution 
under the Loan Agreement shall not be considered or taken as a waiver or relinquishment for the 
future of the right to insist upon and to enforce by mandatory injunction, specific performance or 
other appropriate legal remedy the strict compliance by the Institution with all of the covenants 
and conditions of the Loan Agreement, or of the rights to exercise any such rights or remedies, if 
such default by the Institution be continued or repeated. (Section 9.4) 

No Additional Waiver Implied by One Waiver. 

In the event any covenant or agreement contained in the Loan Agreement should be 
breached by either party and thereafter waived by the other party, such waiver shall be limited to 
the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to waive any other breach under the 
Loan Agreement.  No waiver shall be binding unless it is in writing and signed by the party 
making such waiver.  No course of dealing between the Issuer and/or the Trustee and the 
Institution or any delay or omission on the part of the Issuer and/or the Trustee in exercising any 
rights under the Loan Agreement or under the Indenture or under any other Security Document 
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shall operate as a waiver.  To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Institution waives the 
benefit and advantage of, and covenants not to assert against the Issuer or the Trustee, any 
valuation, inquisition, stay, appraisement, extension or redemption laws now existing or which 
may hereafter exist. (Section 9.5) 

Agreement to Pay Fees and Expenses of Attorneys and Other Consultants. 

In the event the Institution should default under any of the provisions of the Loan 
Agreement, and the Issuer or the Trustee should employ outside attorneys or other consultants or 
incur other expenses for the collection of loan payments or other amounts payable under the 
Loan Agreement or the enforcement of performance or observance of any obligation or 
agreement on the part of the Institution contained in the Loan Agreement or contained in any 
other Security Document, the Institution agrees that it will on demand therefor pay to the Issuer 
or the Trustee, as the case may be, the reasonable fees and disbursements of such attorneys or 
other consultants and such other expenses so incurred. (Section 9.7) 

Termination of the Loan Agreement. 

(a) The Institution shall have the option to cause the redemption or defeasance in 
whole of all Outstanding Bonds in accordance with the terms set forth in the Indenture.   

(b) After full payment of the Bonds or provision for the payment in full thereof 
having been made in accordance with the Indenture, but not later than the receipt by the 
Institution of ten (10) days prior written notice from the Issuer directing termination of the Loan 
Agreement, the Institution shall terminate the Loan Agreement by giving the Issuer notice in 
writing of such termination and thereupon such termination shall forthwith become effective, 
subject, however, to (x) the delivery of those documents referred to in the Loan Agreement and 
(y) the survival of those obligations of the Institution set forth in the Loan Agreement. (Section 
10.1) 

Mandatory Redemption of Bonds as Directed by the Issuer.  

(a) Upon the determination by the Issuer that (i) the Institution is operating the 
Facility or any portion thereof, or is allowing the Facility or any portion thereof to be operated, 
not for the Approved Project Operations in accordance with the Loan Agreement and the failure 
of the Institution within thirty (30) days of the receipt by the Institution of written notice of such 
noncompliance from the Issuer to cure such noncompliance (a copy of which notice shall be sent 
to the Trustee), (ii) the Institution, any Principal of the Institution or any Person that directly or 
indirectly Controls, is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Institution has 
committed a material violation of a material Legal Requirement and the failure of the Institution 
within thirty (30) days of the receipt by the Institution of written notice of such determination 
from the Issuer to cure such material violation (which cure, in the case of a Principal who shall 
have committed the material violation of a material Legal Requirement, may be effected by the 
removal of such Principal), (iii) as set forth in the Loan Agreement, any Conduct Representation 
is false, misleading or incorrect in any material respect at any date, as if made on such date, or 
(iv) a Required Disclosure Statement delivered to the Issuer under any Project Document is not 
acceptable to the Issuer acting in its sole discretion, the Institution covenants and agrees that it 
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shall, no later than ten (10) days following the termination of such thirty (30) day period, pay to 
the Trustee advance loan payments in immediately available funds in an amount sufficient to 
redeem the Bonds Outstanding in whole at the Redemption Price of 100% of the aggregate 
principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds together with interest accrued thereon to the 
redemption date.  The Issuer shall give prior written notice of the meeting at which the Board of 
Directors of the Issuer are to consider a resolution with respect to matters set forth in this 
paragraph to the Institution and the Trustee, which notice shall be no less than fifteen (15) days 
prior to such meeting. 

(b) In the event the Institution fails to obtain or maintain the liability insurance with 
respect to the Facility required under the Loan Agreement, and the Institution shall fail to cure 
such circumstance within ten (10) days of the receipt by the Institution of written notice of such 
noncompliance from the Issuer and a demand by the Issuer on the Institution to cure such 
noncompliance, upon notice or waiver of notice as provided in the Indenture, the Institution shall 
pay to the Trustee advance loan payments in immediately available funds in an amount sufficient 
to redeem the Bonds Outstanding in whole at the Redemption Price of one hundred percent 
(100%) of the unpaid principal amount of the Bonds, together with interest accrued thereon to 
the date of redemption. (Section 11.3) 

Prohibition on the Purchase of Bonds. 

Except as provided under this heading, neither the Institution nor any Related Person (as 
defined in the Tax Regulatory Agreement) to the Institution shall purchase Bonds in an amount 
related to the amount of the Loan.  The Institution shall have the option, at any time during the 
term of the Loan Agreement, to purchase Bonds for its own account, whether by direct 
negotiation, through a broker or dealer, or by making a tender offer to the Holders thereof.  The 
Bonds so purchased by the Institution or by any Affiliate of the Institution shall be delivered to 
the Trustee for cancellation within fifteen (15) days of the date of purchase unless the Institution 
shall deliver to the Trustee and the Issuer an opinion of Nationally Recognized Bond Counsel to 
the effect that the failure to surrender such Bonds by such date will not affect the exclusion of the 
interest on any Bonds then Outstanding from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 
(Section 11.6) 

Investment of Funds. 
 
Any moneys held as part of the Rebate Fund, the Project Fund, the Bond Fund, or the 

Renewal Fund or in any special fund provided for in the Loan Agreement or in the Indenture to 
be invested in the same manner as in any said Fund shall, at the written request of an Authorized 
Representative of the Institution, be invested and reinvested by the Trustee as provided in the 
Indenture (but subject to the provisions of the Tax Regulatory Agreement).  Neither the Issuer 
nor the Trustee nor any of their members, directors, officers, agents, servants or employees shall 
be liable for any depreciation in the value of any such investments or for any loss arising 
therefrom. 

Interest and profit derived from such investments shall be credited and applied as 
provided in the Indenture, and any loss resulting from such investments shall be similarly 
charged. (Section 11.7) 
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Amendments. 
 

 The Loan Agreement may be amended only with the concurring written consent of the 
Trustee given in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture and only by a written 
instrument executed by the parties under the Loan Agreement. (Section 12.3) 
 
Waiver of Trial by Jury. 
 

The Institution expressly waives all rights to a trial by jury on any cause of action directly 
or indirectly involving the terms, covenants or conditions of the Loan Agreement or any matters 
whatsoever arising out of or in any way connected with the Loan Agreement, the Institution’s 
obligations under the Loan Agreement, the Facility, the Project, the relationship between the 
Issuer and the Institution, the Institution’s ownership, use or occupancy of the Facility and/or any 
claim for injury or damages. 

The provision of the Loan Agreement relating to waiver of a jury trial shall survive the 
termination or expiration of the Loan Agreement.  (Section 12.13) 

Recourse Under The Loan Agreement.   

All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the Issuer contained 
in the Loan Agreement shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements 
and obligations of the Issuer, and not of any member, director, officer, employee or agent of the 
Issuer or any natural person executing the Loan Agreement on behalf of the Issuer in such 
person’s individual capacity, and no recourse shall be had for any reason whatsoever under the 
Loan Agreement against any member, director, officer, employee or agent of the Issuer or any 
natural person executing the Loan Agreement on behalf of the Issuer.  No recourse shall be had 
for the payment of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds or for 
any claim based thereon or under the Loan Agreement against any member, director, officer, 
employee or agent of the Issuer or any natural person executing the Bonds.  In addition, in the 
performance of the agreements of the Issuer contained in the Loan Agreement, any obligation the 
Issuer may incur for the payment of money shall not subject the Issuer to any pecuniary or other 
liability or create a debt of the State or the City, and neither the State nor the City shall be liable 
on any obligation so incurred and any such obligation shall be payable solely out of amounts 
payable to the Issuer by the Institution under the Loan Agreement and under the Promissory 
Note. (Section 12.14) 
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APPENDIX E 
 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE OF TRUST 
 
 The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Indenture.  This summary does 
not purport to be complete and reference is made to the Indenture for the detailed provisions 
thereof.  This summary is qualified in its entirety by such reference.  Headings are not part of the 
Indenture and are included for ease of reference only. 
 
Authorized Amounts of Bonds; Pledge Effected by the Indenture. 
 

(a) No Bond may be authenticated and delivered under the provisions of the 
Indenture except in accordance with the Indenture.  Except as provided in the Indenture, the total 
aggregate principal amount of Bonds that may be authenticated and delivered under the 
Indenture is limited to the Authorized Principal Amount. 

(b) The proceeds of the Bonds deposited in the Project Fund and certain of the loan 
payments, receipts and revenues payable under the Loan Agreement, including moneys which 
are required to be set apart, transferred and pledged to the Bond Fund, to the Renewal Fund or to 
certain special funds, including the investments, if any, thereof (subject to disbursements from 
such Funds in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture) are pledged by the Indenture for 
the payment of the principal, Redemption Price (if any) of, and interest on, the Bonds.  All such 
Funds shall be held by the Trustee in trust for the benefit of the Bondholders, and while held by 
the Trustee constitute part of the Trust Estate and be subject to the lien of the Indenture.  The 
Rebate Fund (including amounts on deposit therein) shall not be subject to any assignment, 
pledge, lien or security interest in favor of the Trustee or any Bondholder or any other Person.  
The Bonds shall be the special limited revenue obligations of the Issuer and shall be payable by 
the Issuer as to the principal, Redemption Price (if any) of the Bonds, and interest on the Bonds 
only from the Funds, special funds and loan payments, revenues and receipts pledged therefor.  
The Bonds are additionally secured by a pledge and assignment of the Promissory Note and 
substantially all of the Issuer’s right, title and interest in and to the Loan Agreement (excluding 
the Issuer’s Reserved Rights). 

In no event shall any obligations of the Issuer under the Indenture or the Bonds or under 
the Loan Agreement or under any other Security Document or related document for the payment 
of money create a debt of the State or the City and neither the State nor the City shall be liable on 
any obligation so incurred, but any such obligation shall be a special limited revenue obligation 
of the Issuer secured and payable solely as provided in the Indenture. (Section 2.01) 

Creation of Funds and Accounts. 

(a) The Issuer establishes and creates the following special trust Funds and Accounts 
comprising such Funds: 

(1) Project Fund 

(2) Bond Fund 
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 (A) Principal Account 

 (B) Interest Account 

 (C) Redemption Account 

(3) Renewal Fund 

(4) Rebate Fund 

(b) All of the Funds and Accounts created under the Indenture shall be held 
by the Trustee.  All moneys required to be deposited with or paid to the Trustee for the credit of 
any Fund or Account under any provision of the Indenture and all investments made therewith 
shall be held by the Trustee in trust and applied only in accordance with the provisions of the 
Indenture, and while held by the Trustee shall constitute part of the Trust Estate (subject to the 
granting clauses of the Indenture), other than the Rebate Fund, and be subject to the lien of the 
Indenture. (Section 5.01) 

Project Fund. 

(a) There shall be deposited in the Project Fund any and all amounts required to be 
deposited therein pursuant to the Indenture or otherwise required to be deposited therein pursuant 
to the Loan Agreement, or the Indenture.   

The Trustee shall apply the amounts on deposit in the Project Fund to the payment, or 
reimbursement to the extent the same have been paid by or on behalf of the Institution or the 
Issuer, of Project Costs (including interest on the Bonds during the period of Project construction 
and renovation) to the extent requisitioned under subsection (b) under this heading. 

(b) The Trustee is authorized to disburse from the Project Fund amounts required to 
pay (in whole or in part) the Project Costs and is directed to issue its checks (or, at the direction 
of the Institution, make wire transfers) for each disbursement from the Project Fund for the 
Project Costs, upon a requisition submitted to the Trustee, signed by an Authorized 
Representative of the Institution. 

The requisition from the Project Fund shall be accompanied by bills or invoices (stamped 
“paid” by the Person to whom payment was due or with other evidence of payment if 
reimbursement is to be made to the Institution), including evidence that the bill, invoice or other 
evidence was not incurred on a date prior to sixty (60) days prior to the date of adoption by the 
Issuer or the Institution of the Reimbursement Resolution for the Project.  Such requisition shall 
be as set forth in Exhibit D — “Form of Requisition from the Project Fund” and shall be 
submitted to the Trustee.  The Trustee shall disburse amounts from the Project Fund not later 
than five (5) Business Days following the receipt of the executed requisition and accompanying 
bills or invoices, except that any such requisition and accompanying bills or invoices submitted 
on the Closing Date shall have disbursements made by the Trustee on such Closing Date.  The 
Trustee shall be entitled to conclusively rely on the correctness and accuracy of such requisition 
as well as the propriety of the signature thereon. 
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(c) The Trustee shall keep and maintain adequate records pertaining to the Project 
Fund and all disbursements therefrom and shall furnish copies of same to the Issuer or the 
Institution upon reasonable written request. 

(d) The Trustee shall on written request furnish to the Issuer and the Institution within 
a reasonable time period a written statement of disbursements from the Project Fund, 
enumerating, among other things, item, cost, amount disbursed, date of disbursement and the 
person to whom payment was made, together with copies of all bills, invoices or other evidences 
submitted to the Trustee for such disbursement. 

(e) The completion of the Project shall be evidenced as set forth in the Loan 
Agreement including the filing of the certificate of an Authorized Representative of the 
Institution referred to therein.  Upon the filing of such certificate, the balance in the Project Fund 
in excess of the amount, if any, stated in such certificate for the payment of any remaining part of 
the costs of the Project, shall, after making any transfer to the Rebate Fund as directed pursuant 
to the Tax Regulatory Agreement and the Indenture, be deposited by the Trustee in the 
Redemption Account of the Bond Fund.  Upon payment of all the costs and expenses incident to 
the completion of the Project, any balance of such remaining amount in the Project Fund shall, 
after making any such transfer to the Rebate Fund, be deposited in the Redemption Account of 
the Bond Fund to be applied to the redemption of Bonds at the earliest practicable date.  The 
Trustee shall promptly notify the Institution of any amounts so deposited in the Redemption 
Account of the Bond Fund pursuant to this subsection. 

(f) In the event the Institution shall be required to or shall elect to cause the Bonds to 
be redeemed in whole pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the balance in the Project Fund (in 
excess of any amount the Trustee is directed to transfer to the Rebate Fund pursuant to  the Tax 
Regulatory Agreement and the Indenture) shall be deposited in the Redemption Account of the 
Bond Fund.  In the event the unpaid principal amount of the Bonds shall be accelerated upon the 
occurrence of an Event of Default under the Indenture, the balance in the Project Fund (in excess 
of any amount the Trustee is directed to transfer to the Rebate Fund pursuant to the Tax 
Regulatory Agreement and the Indenture) shall be deposited in the Bond Fund as provided in the 
Indenture. 

(g) All investment income or earnings on amounts held in the Project Fund shall be 
deposited upon receipt by the Trustee into the Project Fund.  (Section 5.02) 

Payments into Renewal Fund; Application of Renewal Fund.   

(a) (i) The Net Proceeds resulting from any Loss Event with respect to the Facility 
shall be deposited in the Renewal Fund established under the Series 2016 Indenture until such 
time as the Series 2016 Bonds are no longer outstanding thereunder. 

(ii) If the Series 2016 Bonds are no longer outstanding, then the Net Proceeds 
resulting from any Loss Event with respect to the Facility (including any Net Proceeds as had 
previously been on deposit in the Renewal Fund established under the Series 2016 Indenture), 
together with any other amounts so required to be deposited therein under the Loan Agreement 
shall be deposited in the Renewal Fund. 
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(b) In the event the Bonds shall be subject to redemption in whole (either by reason 
of such Loss Event or otherwise) pursuant to the terms thereof or the Indenture, and the 
Institution shall have so directed the Trustee in writing within ninety (90) days of the occurrence 
of such Loss Event, the Trustee shall, after making any transfer to the Rebate Fund as directed 
pursuant to the Tax Regulatory Agreement and the Indenture, transfer the amounts deposited in 
the Renewal Fund to the Redemption Account of the Bond Fund. 

If, on the other hand, 

(1) the Bonds shall not be subject to optional redemption in whole (whether 
by reason of such Loss Event or otherwise), or 

(2) the Bonds shall be subject to optional redemption in whole (whether by 
reason of such Loss Event or otherwise) and the Institution shall have failed to 
take action to effect such redemption, or 

(3) the Institution shall have notified the Trustee of its intent to rebuild, 
replace, repair and restore the Facility, 

the Trustee shall apply the amounts on deposit in the Renewal Fund, after making any 
transfer to the Rebate Fund as directed pursuant to the Tax Regulatory Agreement and the 
Indenture, to such rebuilding, replacement, repair and restoration. 

(c) If an Event of Default shall exist at the time of the receipt by the Trustee of the 
Net Proceeds in the Renewal Fund, the Trustee shall promptly request the written direction of the 
Majority Holders and shall thereupon apply such Net Proceeds, after making any transfer to the 
Rebate Fund as directed pursuant to the Tax Regulatory Agreement and the Indenture, to the 
rebuilding, replacement, repair and restoration of the Facility, or for deposit in the Redemption 
Account of the Bond Fund, as directed by the Majority Holders (or if no such direction shall be 
received within ninety (90) days after request therefor by the Trustee shall have been made, for 
deposit in the Redemption Account of the Bond Fund). 

(d) The Trustee is authorized by the Indenture to apply the amounts in the Renewal 
Fund to the payment (or reimbursement to the extent the same have been paid by or on behalf of 
the Institution or the Issuer) of the costs required for the rebuilding, replacement, repair and 
restoration of the Facility upon written instructions from the Institution.  The Trustee is further 
authorized and directed to issue its checks for each disbursement from the Renewal Fund upon a 
requisition submitted to the Trustee and signed by an Authorized Representative of the 
Institution.  Each such requisition shall be accompanied by bills, invoices or other evidences or 
documentation (including, without limitation, a title continuation or other evidence that no 
mechanics or other liens have been filed) satisfactory to the Trustee.  The Trustee shall be 
entitled to rely on such requisition.  The Trustee shall keep and maintain adequate records 
pertaining to the Renewal Fund and all disbursements therefrom and shall furnish copies of same 
to the Issuer and the Institution upon reasonable written request therefor. 

(e) The date of completion of the restoration of the Facility shall be evidenced to the 
Issuer and the Trustee by a certificate of an Authorized Representative of the Institution stating 
(i) the date of such completion, (ii) that all labor, services, machinery, equipment, materials and 



E-5 
 

supplies used therefor and all costs and expenses in connection therewith have been paid for or 
arrangement for payment, reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee, has been made, (iii) that the 
Facility has been rebuilt, replaced, repaired or restored to substantially its condition immediately 
prior to the Loss Event, or to a condition of at least equivalent value, operating efficiency and 
function, (iv) that all property constituting part of the Facility is subject to the terms of the Loan 
Agreement, subject to Permitted Encumbrances, (v) the Rebate Amount applicable with respect 
to the Net Proceeds and the earnings thereon (with a statement as to the determination of the 
Rebate Amount and a direction to the Trustee of any required transfer to the Rebate Fund), and 
(vi) that the restored Facility is ready for occupancy, use and operation for its intended purposes.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, such certificate shall state (x) that it is given without prejudice to 
any rights of the Institution against third parties which exist at the date of such certificate or 
which may subsequently come into being, (y) that it is given only for the purposes of this section 
of the Indenture and the Loan Agreement, and (z) that no Person other than the Issuer or the 
Trustee may benefit therefrom.  Such certificate shall be accompanied by (i) a certificate of 
occupancy (either temporary or permanent, provided that if is a temporary certificate of 
occupancy, the Institution will proceed with due diligence to obtain a permanent certificate of 
occupancy), if required, and any and all permissions, licenses or consents required of 
governmental authorities for the occupancy, operation and use of the Facility for the purposes 
contemplated by the Loan Agreement; (ii) a certificate of an Authorized Representative of the 
Institution that all costs of rebuilding, repair, restoration and reconstruction of the Facility have 
been paid in full, together with releases of mechanics’ liens by all contractors and materialmen 
who supplied work, labor, services, materials or supplies in connection with the rebuilding, 
repair, restoration and reconstruction of the Facility (or, to the extent that any such costs shall be 
the subject of a bona fide dispute, evidence to the Trustee that such costs have been appropriately 
bonded or that the Institution shall have posted a surety or security at least equal to the amount of 
such costs); and (iii) a search prepared by a title company, or other evidence satisfactory to the 
Trustee, indicating that there has not been filed with respect to the Facility any mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s or any other lien in connection with the rebuilding, replacement, repair and 
restoration of the Facility and that there exist no encumbrances other than those encumbrances 
consented to by the Issuer and the Trustee. 

(f) All investment income or earnings on amounts held in the Renewal Fund shall be 
deposited upon receipt by the Trustee into the Renewal Fund. 

(g) Any surplus remaining in the Renewal Fund after the completion of the 
rebuilding, replacement, repair and restoration of the Facility shall, after making any transfer to 
the Rebate Fund as directed pursuant to the Tax Regulatory Agreement and the Indenture, be 
transferred by the Trustee to the Redemption Account of the Bond Fund. (Section 5.03) 

Payments into Bond Fund. 

The Trustee shall promptly deposit the following receipts into the Bond Fund: 

(a) The interest accruing on any Series of Bonds from the date of original issuance 
thereof to the date of delivery, which shall be credited to the Interest Account of the Bond Fund 
and applied to the payment of interest on such Series of Bonds. 
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(b) Amounts disbursed from the Project Fund for the payment of interest on the 
Bonds during the period of Project Work, which shall be credited to the Interest Account of the 
Bond Fund and applied to the payment of interest on the Bonds; 

(c) Excess or remaining amounts in the Project Fund required to be deposited (subject 
to any transfer required to be made to the Rebate Fund in accordance with directions received 
pursuant to the Tax Regulatory Agreement and the Redemption Account of the Bond Fund 
pursuant to the Indenture or the first sentence of subsection (f) under the heading “Project Fund”, 
which shall be kept segregated from any other moneys within such Account, or (ii) in the Bond 
Fund pursuant to the second sentence of subsection (f) under the heading “Project Fund”. 

(d) Loan payments received by the Trustee pursuant to the Loan Agreement, which 
shall be deposited in and credited, to the extent necessary, first to the Interest Account and 
second to the Principal Account of the Bond Fund. 

(e) Advance loan payments received by the Trustee pursuant to the Loan Agreement, 
which shall be deposited in and credited to the Redemption Account of the Bond Fund. 

(f) Reserved. 

(g) The excess amounts referred to under the heading “Application of Bond Fund 
Moneys”, which shall be deposited in and credited to the Interest Account of the Bond Fund. 

(h) Any amounts transferred from the Redemption Account pursuant to the Indenture, 
which shall be deposited to the Interest Account and the Principal Account of the Bond Fund, as 
the case may be and in such order of priority, and applied solely to such purposes. 

(i) Amounts in the Renewal Fund required by the Indenture to be deposited (subject 
to any transfer required to be made to the Rebate Fund in accordance with directions received 
pursuant to the Tax Regulatory Agreement and the Indenture) to the Redemption Account of the 
Bond Fund pursuant to the Indenture. 

(j) All other receipts when and if required by the Loan Agreement or by the 
Indenture or by any other Security Document to be paid into the Bond Fund, which shall be 
credited (except as provided in the Indenture) to the Redemption Account of the Bond Fund. 
(Section 5.04) 

Application of Bond Fund Moneys. 

 (a) The Trustee shall (i) on each Interest Payment Date pay or cause to be paid out of 
the Interest Account in the Bond Fund the interest due on the Bonds, and (ii) further pay out of 
the Interest Account of the Bond Fund any amounts required for the payment of accrued interest 
upon any purchase or redemption of Bonds. 

 (b) The Trustee shall on each principal payment date on the Bonds pay or cause to be 
paid to the respective Paying Agents therefor out of the Principal Account of the Bond Fund, the 
principal amount, if any, due on the Bonds, upon the presentation and surrender of the requisite 
Bonds. 
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(c) Reserved. 

 (d) Amounts in the Redemption Account of the Bond Fund shall be applied, at the 
written direction of the Institution, as promptly as practicable, to the purchase of Bonds at prices 
not exceeding the Redemption Price thereof, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.  
Any amount in the Redemption Account not so applied to the purchase of Bonds by forty-five 
(45) days prior to the next date on which the Bonds are so redeemable shall be applied to the 
redemption of Bonds on such redemption date.  Any amounts deposited in the Redemption 
Account and not applied within twelve (12) months of their date of deposit to the purchase or 
redemption of Bonds (except if held in accordance with the Indenture) shall be transferred to the 
Interest Account.  The Bonds to be purchased or redeemed shall be selected by the Trustee in the 
manner provided in the Indenture.  Amounts in the Redemption Account to be applied to the 
redemption of Bonds shall be paid to the respective Paying Agents on or before the redemption 
date and applied by them on such redemption date to the payment of the Redemption Price of the 
Bonds being redeemed plus interest on such Bonds accrued to the redemption date. 

 (e) In connection with purchases of Bonds out of the Bond Fund as provided under 
this heading, the Institution shall arrange and the Trustee shall execute such purchases (through 
brokers or otherwise, and with or without receiving tenders) at the written direction of the 
Institution.  The payment of the purchase price shall be made out of the moneys deposited in the 
Redemption Account of the Bond Fund and the payment of accrued interest shall be made out of 
moneys deposited in the Interest Account of the Bond Fund. 

(f) Reserved. 

(g) Reserved. 

 (h) Moneys in the Redemption Account of the Bond Fund which are not set aside or 
deposited for the redemption or purchase of Bonds shall be transferred by the Trustee to the 
Interest Account or to the Principal Account of the Bond Fund in the order of priority set forth in 
under the heading “Payments into Bond Fund”. (Section 5.05) 

Payments into Rebate Fund; Application of Rebate Fund. 

(a) The Rebate Fund and the amounts deposited therein shall not be subject to a 
security interest, pledge, assignment, lien or charge in favor of the Trustee, any Bondholder or 
any other Person. 

(b) The Trustee, upon the receipt of a certification of the Rebate Amount from an 
Authorized Representative of the Institution, shall deposit in the Rebate Fund within sixty (60) 
days following each Computation Date, an amount such that the amount held in the Rebate Fund 
after such deposit is equal to the Rebate Amount calculated as of such Computation Date.  If 
there has been delivered to the Trustee a certification of the Rebate Amount in conjunction with 
the completion of the Project pursuant to the Loan Agreement or the restoration of the Facility 
pursuant to the Indenture, at any time during a Bond Year, the Trustee shall deposit in the Rebate 
Fund at that time an amount such that the amount held in the Rebate Fund after such deposit is 
equal to the Rebate Amount calculated at the completion of the Project or the restoration of the 
Facility as aforesaid.  The amount deposited in the Rebate Fund pursuant to the previous 
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sentences shall be withdrawn from the Project Fund or the Renewal Fund, as applicable.  If the 
amount on deposit in the Rebate Fund following such deposit is less than the Rebate Amount, the 
Trustee shall promptly deliver a notice stating the amount of such deficiency to the Institution.  It 
is provided in the Loan Agreement that promptly upon receipt of such notice, the Institution shall 
deliver the amount necessary to make up such deficiency to the Trustee for deposit in the Rebate 
Fund. 

(c) If within sixty (60) days following any Computation Date, the amount on deposit 
in the Rebate Fund exceeds the Rebate Amount, the Trustee, upon the receipt of written 
instructions from an Authorized Representative of the Institution, shall withdraw such excess 
amount and deposit it in the Project Fund until the completion of the Project as provided in the 
Loan Agreement, or, after the completion of the Project, deposit it in the Interest Account of the 
Bond Fund. 

(d) The Trustee, upon the receipt of written instructions from an Authorized 
Representative of the Institution, shall pay to the United States, out of amounts in the Rebate 
Fund, (i) not less frequently than once each five (5) years after the Closing Date, an amount such 
that, together with prior amounts paid to the United States, the total paid to the United States is 
equal to 90% of the Rebate Amount with respect to the Bonds as of the date of such payment and 
(ii) notwithstanding the provisions of the Indenture, not later than thirty (30) days after the date 
on which all Bonds have been paid in full, 100% of the Rebate Amount as of the date of 
payment. (Section 5.07) 

Investment of Funds and Accounts. 

(a) Amounts in any Fund or Account established under the Indenture may, if and to 
the extent then permitted by law, be invested only in Qualified Investments provided that any 
Qualified Investment shall not have a maturity date greater than five (5) years from the date of 
the making of such investment unless such Qualified Investment may be put at par at any time at 
the option of the owner thereof.  Any investment authorized under the Indenture is subject to the 
condition that no portion of the proceeds derived from the sale of the Bonds shall be used, 
directly or indirectly, in such manner as to cause any Bond to be an “arbitrage bond” within the 
meaning of Section 148 of the Code.  In particular, unexpended Bond proceeds transferred from 
the Project Fund to the Redemption Account of the Bond Fund pursuant to the Indenture may not 
be invested at a Yield which is greater than the Yield on the applicable Series of Bonds.  Such 
investments shall be made by the Trustee only at the written request of an Authorized 
Representative of the Institution; and if such investment is to be in one or more certificates of 
deposit, investment agreements or guaranteed investment contracts, then such written request 
shall include written assurance to the effect that such investment complies with the Tax 
Regulatory Agreement.  Any investment under the Indenture shall be made in accordance with 
the Tax Regulatory Agreement, and the Institution shall so certify to the Trustee with each such 
investment direction as referred to below.  Such investments shall mature in such amounts and at 
such times as may be necessary to provide funds when needed to make payments from the 
applicable Fund.  Net income or gain received and collected from such investments shall be 
credited and losses charged to (i) the Rebate Fund with respect to the investment of amounts held 
in the Rebate Fund, (ii) the Bond Fund with respect to the investment of amounts held in the 
Bond Fund, (iii) the Project Fund with respect to the investment of amounts held in the Project 
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Fund, and (iv) the Renewal Fund with respect to the investment of amounts held in the Renewal 
Fund. 

(b) At the written request of an Authorized Representative of the Institution no sooner 
than ten (10) days prior to each Loan Payment Date under the Loan Agreement, the Trustee shall 
notify the Institution of the amount of such net investment income or gain received and collected 
subsequent to the last such loan payment and the amount then available in the various Accounts 
of the Bond Fund. 

(c) Upon the written direction of an Authorized Representative of the Institution, the 
Trustee shall sell at the best price reasonably obtainable, or present for redemption or exchange, 
any obligations in which moneys shall have been invested to the extent necessary to provide cash 
in the respective Funds or Accounts, to make any payments required to be made therefrom, or to 
facilitate the transfers of moneys or securities between various Funds and Accounts as may be 
required from time to time pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture.  The Trustee shall not be 
liable for losses incurred as a result of actions taken in good faith in accordance with subsection.  
As soon as practicable after any such sale, redemption or exchange, the Trustee shall give notice 
thereof to the Issuer and the Institution. 

(d) Neither the Trustee nor the Issuer shall be liable for any loss arising from, or any 
depreciation in the value of any obligations in which moneys of the Funds and Accounts shall be 
invested in accordance with the Indenture.  The investments authorized under this heading shall 
at all times be subject to the provisions of applicable law, as amended from time to time. 

(e) In computing the amount in any Fund or Account, obligations purchased as an 
investment of moneys therein shall be valued at fair market value as determined by the Trustee 
one month prior to each Interest Payment Date. 

The fair market value of Qualified Investments shall be determined as follows: 

(ii) as to investments the bid and asked prices of which are published on a 
regular basis in The Wall Street Journal (or, if not there, then in The New York Times), 
the average bid and asked prices for such investments so published on or most recently 
prior to such time of determination; 

(iii) as to investments the bid and asked prices of which are not published on a 
regular basis in The Wall Street Journal or The New York Times, the average bid price at 
such nationally recognized government securities dealers (selected by the Trustee in its 
absolute discretion) at the time making a market in such investments or as quoted in the 
Interactive Data Service; and 

(iv) as to certificates of deposit and bankers acceptances and other 
investments, the face amount thereof, plus accrued interest. 

If more than one provision of this definition of “fair market value” shall apply at any time 
to any particular investment, the fair market value thereof at such time shall be determined in 
accordance with the provision establishing the lowest value for such investment. (Section 5.09) 
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Non-presentment of Bonds. 

 In the event any Bond shall not be presented for payment when the principal thereof 
becomes due, either at maturity, or at the date fixed for redemption thereof, or otherwise, and 
funds sufficient to pay any such Bond shall have been made available to the Trustee for the 
benefit of the Holder or Holders thereof, together with interest to the date on which principal is 
due, all liability of the Issuer to the Holder thereof for the payment of such Bond shall forthwith 
cease, terminate and be completely discharged, and thereupon it shall be the duty of the Trustee 
to pay such funds to the Person entitled thereto or if the Person is not known to the Trustee, to 
hold such funds, without liability for interest thereon, for the benefit of the Holder of such Bond, 
who shall thereafter be restricted exclusively to such funds, for any claim of whatever nature on 
his part under the Indenture or on, or with respect to, such Bond.  Such amounts so held shall, 
pending payment to the Holder of such Bond, (y) be subject to any rebate requirement as set 
forth in the Tax Regulatory Agreement or the Indenture, and (z) shall be uninvested, or, if 
invested, invested or re-invested only in Government Obligations maturing within thirty (30) 
days.  Funds remaining with the Trustee as above and unclaimed for the earlier of two (2) years 
or one month less than the applicable statutory escheat period shall be paid to the Institution.  
After the payment of such unclaimed moneys to the Institution, the Holder of such Bond shall 
thereafter look only to the Institution for the payment thereof, and all obligations of the Trustee 
or such Paying Agent with respect to such moneys shall thereupon cease. (Section 5.12) 

Creation of Liens; Indebtedness. 

The Issuer shall not create or suffer to be created, or incur or issue any evidences of 
indebtedness secured by, any lien or charge upon or pledge of the Trust Estate, except the lien, 
charge and pledge created by the Indenture and the other Security Documents. (Section 7.05) 

Issuer Tax Covenant. 

The Issuer covenants that it shall not take any action within its control, nor refrain from 
taking any action reasonably requested by the Institution or the Trustee, that would cause the 
interest on the Bonds to become includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes; 
provided, however, the breach of this covenant shall not result in any pecuniary liability of the 
Issuer and the only remedy to which the Issuer shall be subject shall be specific performance. 
(Section 7.08) 

Events of Default; Acceleration of Due Date. 

(a) Each of the following events is defined as and shall constitute an “Event of 
Default”: 

(i) Failure in the payment of the interest on any Bond when the same shall 
become due and payable; 

(ii) Failure in the payment of the principal or redemption premium, if any, of, 
any Bonds, when the same shall become due and payable, whether at the stated maturity 
thereof or upon proceedings for redemption thereof or otherwise, or interest accrued 
thereon to the date of redemption after notice of redemption therefor or otherwise; 
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(iii) Failure of the Issuer to observe or perform any covenant, condition or 
agreement in the Bonds or under the Indenture on its part to be performed (except as set 
forth in subsections (a)(1) or (2)) of this heading and (A) continuance of such failure for 
more than thirty (30) days after written notice of such failure has been given to the Issuer 
and the Institution specifying the nature of same from the Trustee or the Holders of more 
than twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding, 
or (B) if by reason of the nature of such failure the same can be remedied, but not within 
the said thirty (30) days, the Issuer or the Institution fails to commence and thereafter 
proceed with reasonable diligence after receipt of said notice to cure such failure or fails 
to continue with reasonable diligence its efforts to cure such failure or fails to cure such 
failure within sixty (60) days of delivery of said notice; or 

(iv) The occurrence of an “Event of Default” under the Loan Agreement or 
any other Security Document. 

(b) Upon the happening and continuance of any Event of Default, unless the principal 
of all the Bonds shall have already become due and payable, either the Trustee (by notice in 
writing to the Issuer and the Institution) or the Holders of over twenty-five percent (25%) in 
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding (by notice in writing to the Issuer, the 
Institution and the Trustee) may declare the principal or Redemption Price, if any, of all the 
Bonds then Outstanding, and the interest accrued thereon, to be due and payable immediately, 
and upon such declaration the same shall become and be immediately due and payable, anything 
in the Indenture or in any of the Bonds contained to the contrary notwithstanding. 

(c) If there shall occur an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement, the unpaid 
principal of all the Bonds (and all principal installments of loan payments under the Loan 
Agreement) and the interest accrued thereon shall be due and payable immediately without the 
necessity of any declaration or other action by the Trustee or any other Person. 

(d) The right of the Trustee or of the Holders of over twenty-five percent (25%) in 
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding to make any such declaration as aforesaid, 
however, is subject to the condition that if, at any time before such declaration, all overdue 
installments of principal of and interest on all of the Bonds which shall have matured by their 
terms and the unpaid Redemption Price of the Bonds or principal portions thereof to be 
redeemed has been paid by or for the account of the Issuer, and all other Events of Default have 
been otherwise remedied, and the reasonable and proper charges, expenses and liabilities of the 
Trustee, shall either be paid by or for the account of the Issuer or provision satisfactory to the 
Trustee shall be made for such payment and the Facility shall not have been sold or otherwise 
encumbered, and all defaults have been otherwise remedied as provided in the Indenture, then 
and in every such case any such default and its consequences shall ipso facto be deemed to be 
annulled, but no such annulment shall extend to or affect any subsequent default or impair or 
exhaust any right or power consequent thereon. 

(e) Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Issuer has granted to the Institution full 
authority for the account of the Issuer to perform any covenant or obligation the non-
performance of which is alleged in any notice received by the Institution to constitute a default 
under the Indenture, in the name and stead of the Issuer with full power to do any and all things 



E-12 
 

and acts to the same extent that the Issuer could do and perform any such things and acts with 
power of substitution.  The Trustee agrees to accept such performance by the Institution as 
performance by the Issuer. (Section 8.01) 

Enforcement of Remedies. 

(a) Upon the occurrence and continuance of any Event of Default, then and in every 
case the Trustee may proceed, and upon the written request of the Holders of over twenty-five 
percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding shall proceed, to protect 
and enforce its rights and the rights of the Bondholders under the Bonds, the Loan Agreement, 
the Indenture and under any other Security Document forthwith by such suits, actions or special 
proceedings in equity or at law, or by proceedings in the office of any board or officer having 
jurisdiction, whether for the specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained in the 
Indenture or in any other Security Document or in aid of the execution of any power granted in 
the Indenture or in any other Security Document or for the enforcement of any legal or equitable 
rights or remedies as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem most effectual to protect 
and enforce such rights or to perform any of its duties under the Indenture or under any other 
Security Document.  In addition to any rights or remedies available to the Trustee under the 
Indenture or elsewhere, upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default the Trustee 
may take such action, without notice or demand, as it deems advisable. 

(b) In the enforcement of any right or remedy under the Indenture or under any other 
Security Document, the Trustee shall be entitled to sue for, enforce payment on and receive any 
or all amounts then or during any default becoming, and any time remaining, due from the 
Issuer, for principal, interest, Redemption Price, or otherwise, under any of the provisions of the 
Indenture, of any other Security Document or of the Bonds, and unpaid, with interest on overdue 
payments at the rate or rates of interest specified in the Bonds, together with any and all costs 
and expenses of collection and of all proceedings under the Indenture, under any such other 
Security Document and under the Bonds, without prejudice to any other right or remedy of the 
Trustee or of the Bondholders, and to recover and enforce judgment or decree against the Issuer, 
but solely as provided in the Indenture and in the Bonds, for any portion of such amounts 
remaining unpaid, with interest, costs and expenses, and to collect (but solely from the moneys in 
the Bond Fund and other moneys available therefor to the extent provided in the Indenture) in 
any manner provided by law, the moneys adjudged or decreed to be payable.  The Trustee shall 
file proof of claim and other papers or documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to 
have the claims of the Trustee and the Bondholders allowed in any judicial proceedings relative 
to the Institution or the Issuer or their creditors or property. 

(c) Regardless of the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Trustee, if requested in 
writing by the Holders of over twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of the 
Bonds then Outstanding, and furnished with reasonable security and indemnity, shall institute 
and maintain such suits and proceedings as it may be advised shall be necessary or expedient to 
prevent any impairment of the security under the Indenture or under any other Security 
Document by any acts which may be unlawful or in violation of the Indenture or of such other 
Security Document or of any resolution authorizing any Bonds, and such suits and proceedings 
as the Trustee may be advised shall be necessary or expedient to preserve or protect its interests 
and the interests of the Bondholders; provided, that such request shall not be otherwise than in 
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accordance with the provisions of law and of the Indenture and shall not be unduly prejudicial to 
the interests of the Holders of the Bonds not making such request. (Section 8.02) 

Application of Revenues and Other Moneys After Default. 

(a) All moneys received by the Trustee pursuant to any right given or action taken 
under the provisions of the Indenture or under any other Security Document shall, after payment 
of the cost and expenses of the proceedings resulting in the collection of such moneys and of the 
expenses, liabilities and advances incurred or made by the Trustee, be deposited in the Bond 
Fund and all moneys so deposited and available for payment of the Bonds shall be applied, 
subject to the Indenture, as follows: 

 (ii) Unless the principal of all of the Bonds shall have become or have been 
declared due and payable, 

 First - To the payment to the Persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest 
then due on the Bonds, in the order of the maturity of the installments of such interest 
and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any particular 
installment, then to the payment ratably, according to the amounts due on such 
installment, to the Persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or privilege; and 

 Second - To the payment to the Persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal or 
Redemption Price, if any, of any of the Bonds or principal installments which shall have 
become due (other than Bonds or principal installments called for redemption for the 
payment of which moneys are held pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture), in the 
order of their due dates, with interest on such Bonds, at the rate or rates expressed 
thereon, from the respective dates upon which they become due and, if the amount 
available shall not be sufficient to pay in full Bonds or principal installments due on any 
particular date, together with such interest, then to the payment ratably, according to the 
amount of principal due on such date, to the Persons entitled thereto without any 
discrimination or privilege. 

 (iii) If the principal of all the Bonds shall have become or have been declared 
due and payable, to the payment to the Bondholders of the principal and interest (at the 
rate or rates expressed in the Bonds) then due and unpaid upon the Bonds and if 
applicable to the Redemption Price of the Bonds without preference or priority of 
principal over interest or of interest over principal, or of any installment of interest over 
any other installment of interest, or of any Bond over any other Bond, ratably, according 
to the amounts due respectively for principal and interest, to the Persons entitled thereto 
without any discrimination or preference. 

 (iv) If the principal of all the Bonds shall have been declared due and payable, 
and if such declaration shall thereafter have been rescinded and annulled under the 
provisions of the Indenture, then, subject to the provisions of subsection (a)(ii) of this 
heading, which shall be applicable in the event that the principal of all the Bonds shall 
later become due and payable, the moneys shall be applied in accordance with the 
provisions of subsection (a)(i) of this heading. 
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(b) Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to the provisions under this heading, 
such moneys shall be applied at such times, and from time to time, as the Trustee shall 
determine, having due regard to the amount of such moneys available for application and the 
likelihood of additional moneys becoming available for such application in the future.  Whenever 
the Trustee shall apply such funds, it shall fix the date (which shall be an Interest Payment Date 
unless it shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to be made and 
upon such date interest on the amounts of principal to be paid on such dates shall cease to accrue; 
provided, however, that if the principal or Redemption Price of the Bonds Outstanding, together 
with accrued interest thereon, shall have been declared to be due and payable pursuant to terms 
under the heading “Events of Default: Acceleration of Due Date”, such date of declaration shall 
be the date from which interest shall cease to accrue.  The Trustee shall give such written notice 
to all Bondholders as it may deem appropriate of the deposit with it of any such moneys and of 
the fixing of any such date, and shall not be required to make payment to the Holder of any Bond 
until such Bond shall be presented to the Trustee for appropriate endorsement or for cancellation 
if fully paid. (Section 8.03) 

Majority Holders Control Proceedings. 

Anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the Majority Holders shall 
have the right, at any time, by an instrument or instruments in writing executed and delivered to 
the Trustee, to direct the method and place of conducting all proceedings to be taken in 
connection with the enforcement of the terms and conditions of the Indenture, or for the 
appointment of a receiver or any other proceedings under the Indenture; provided, that such 
direction shall not be otherwise than in accordance with the provisions of law and of the 
Indenture. (Section 8.05) 

Individual Bondholder Action Restricted. 

 (a) No Holder of any Bond shall have any right to institute any suit, action or 
proceeding at law or in equity (i) with respect to the Bonds, the Indenture or any other Security 
Document, (ii) for the enforcement of any provisions of the Bonds, the Indenture or of any other 
Security Document, (iii) for the execution of any trust under the Indenture or (iv) for any remedy 
under the Bonds, the Indenture or under any other Security Document, unless such Holder shall 
have previously given to the Trustee written notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default as 
provided in the Indenture, and the Holders of over twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate 
principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have filed a written request with the 
Trustee, and shall have offered it reasonable opportunity either to exercise the powers granted in 
the Bonds, the Indenture or in such other Security Document or by the laws of the State or to 
institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name, and unless such Holders shall have 
offered to the Trustee adequate security and indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities 
to be incurred therein or thereby, and the Trustee shall have refused to comply with such request 
for a period of sixty (60) days after receipt by it of such notice, request and offer of indemnity, it 
being understood and intended that no one or more Holders of Bonds shall have any right in any 
manner whatever by his, its or their action to affect, disturb or prejudice the pledge created by 
the Indenture, or to enforce any right under the Indenture except in the manner provided under 
the Indenture; and that all proceedings at law or in equity to enforce any provision of the Bonds 
or the Indenture shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner provided in the Indenture 
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and, subject to the provisions of the Indenture, be for the equal benefit of all Holders of the 
Outstanding Bonds. 

 (b) Nothing in the Indenture, in any other Security Document or in the Bonds 
contained shall affect or impair the right of any Bondholder to payment of the principal or 
Redemption Price, if applicable, of, and interest on any Bond at and after the maturity thereof, or 
the obligation of the Issuer to pay the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, of, and 
interest on each of the Bonds to the respective Holders thereof at the time, place, from the source 
and in the manner in the Indenture and in said Bonds expressed. (Section 8.06) 

Notice of Default. 

The Trustee shall promptly mail to the Issuer, to registered Holders of Bonds and to the 
Institution by first class mail, postage prepaid, written notice of the occurrence of any Event of 
Default.  The Trustee shall not, however, be subject to any liability to any Bondholder by reason 
of its failure to mail any notice required under this heading. (Section 8.10) 

Waivers of Default. 

The Trustee shall waive any default under the Indenture and its consequences and rescind 
any declaration of acceleration only upon the written request of the Majority Holders; provided, 
however, that there shall not be waived without the consent of the Holders of all the Bonds 
Outstanding (a) any default in the payment of the principal of any Outstanding Bonds at the date 
specified therein or (b) any default in the payment when due of the interest on any such Bonds, 
unless, prior to such waiver, all arrears of interest, with interest (to the extent permitted by law) 
at the rate borne by the Bonds on overdue installments of interest in respect of which such 
default shall have occurred, and all arrears of payment of principal when due, as the case may be, 
and all expenses of the Trustee in connection with such default shall have been paid or provided 
for, or in case any proceeding taken by the Trustee on account of any such default shall have 
been discontinued or abandoned or determined adversely to the Trustee, then and in every such 
case the Institution, the Issuer, the Trustee and the Bondholders shall be restored to their former 
positions and rights under the Indenture, respectively, but no such waiver or rescission shall 
extend to any subsequent or other default, or impair any right consequent thereon. (Section 8.11) 

Resignation or Removal of Trustee. 

The Trustee may resign and thereby become discharged from the trusts created under the 
Indenture for any reason by giving written notice by first class mail, postage prepaid, to the 
Issuer, to the Institution and to the Holders of all Bonds not less than sixty (60) days before such 
resignation is to take effect, but such resignation shall not take effect until the appointment and 
acceptance thereof of a successor Trustee pursuant to the terms under the header “Successor 
Trustee”. 

The Trustee may be removed at any time by an instrument or concurrent instruments in 
writing filed with the Trustee and signed by the Issuer or the Majority Holders or their attorneys-
in-fact duly authorized.  Such removal shall become effective either upon the appointment and 
acceptance of such appointment by a successor Trustee or at the date specified in the instrument 
of removal.  The Trustee shall promptly give notice of such filing to the Issuer and the 
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Institution.  No removal shall take effect until the appointment and acceptance thereof of a 
successor Trustee pursuant to the terms of the heading “Successor Trustee”. 

If the Trustee shall resign or shall be removed, such Trustee must transfer and assign to 
the successor Trustee, not later than the date of this acceptance by the successor Trustee of its 
appointment as such, or thirty (30) days from the date specified in the instrument of removal or 
resignation, if any, whichever shall last occur, (i) all amounts (including all investments thereof) 
held in any Fund or Account under the Indenture, together with a full accounting thereof, (ii) all 
records, files, correspondence, registration books, Bond inventory, all information relating to the 
Indenture and to Bond payment status (i.e., outstanding principal balances, principal payment 
and interest payment schedules, pending notices of redemption, payments made and to whom, 
delinquent payments, default or delinquency notices, deficiencies in any Fund or Account 
balance, etc.) and all such other information (in whatever form) relating to all Funds and 
Accounts in the possession of the Trustee being removed or resigning, and (iii) all Security 
Documents and other documents or agreements, including, without limitation, all Uniform 
Commercial Code Financing Statements, all insurance policies or certificates, letters of credit or 
other instruments provided to the Trustee being removed or resigning (clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), 
together with the Trust Estate, being collectively referred to as the “Trust Corpus”). (Section 
9.07) 

Successor Trustee. 

(a) If at any time the Trustee shall be dissolved or otherwise become incapable of 
acting or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent, or if a receiver, liquidator or conservator 
thereof, or of its property, shall be appointed, or if any public officer shall take charge or control 
of the Trustee or of its property or affairs, the position of Trustee shall thereupon become vacant.  
If the position of Trustee shall become vacant for any of the foregoing reasons or for any other 
reason or if the Trustee shall resign, the Institution shall cooperate with the Issuer and the Issuer 
shall appoint a successor Trustee and shall use its best efforts to obtain acceptance of such trust 
by the successor Trustee within sixty (60) days from such vacancy or notice of resignation.  
Within twenty (20) days after such appointment and acceptance, the Issuer shall notify in writing 
the Institution and the Holders of all Bonds. 

(b) In the event of any such vacancy or resignation and if a successor Trustee shall 
not have been appointed within sixty (60) days of such vacancy or notice of resignation, the 
Majority Holders, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing, signed by such 
Bondholders or their attorneys-in-fact thereunto duly authorized and filed with the Issuer, may 
appoint a successor Trustee which shall, immediately upon its acceptance of such trusts, and 
without further act, supersede the predecessor Trustee.  If no appointment of a successor Trustee 
shall be made pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this heading, within ninety (90) days of 
such vacancy or notice of resignation, the Holder of any Bond then Outstanding, the Issuer or 
any retiring Trustee or the Institution may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction to appoint 
a successor Trustee.  Such court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as such court may 
deem proper, appoint a successor Trustee. 

(c) Any Trustee appointed under this heading shall be a national banking association 
or a bank or trust company duly organized under the laws of any state of the United States 



E-17 
 

authorized to exercise corporate trust powers under the laws of the State and authorized by law 
and its charter to perform all the duties imposed upon it by the Indenture and each other Security 
Document.  At the time of its appointment, any successor Trustee shall (x) have a capital stock 
and surplus aggregating not less than $100,000,000 and (y) have an investment grade rating of at 
least “Baa3” or “P 3”. 

(d) Any predecessor Trustee shall transfer to any successor Trustee appointed under 
this heading as a result of a vacancy in the position the Trust Corpus by a date not later than 
thirty (30) days from the date of the acceptance by the successor Trustee of its appointment as 
such.  Where no vacancy in the position of the Trustee has occurred, the transfer of the Trust 
Corpus shall take effect in accordance with the provisions under the heading “Resignation or 
Removal of Trustee”. 

(e) Every successor Trustee shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its 
predecessor, and also to the Issuer, an instrument in writing accepting such appointment, and 
thereupon such successor Trustee, without any further act, deed, or conveyance, shall become 
fully vested with all moneys, estates, properties, rights, immunities, powers and trusts, and 
subject to all the duties and obligations, of its predecessor, with like effect as if originally named 
as such Trustee; but such predecessor shall, nevertheless, on the written request of its successor 
or of the Issuer, and upon payment of the compensation, expenses, charges and other 
disbursements of such predecessor which are due and payable pursuant to the Indenture, execute 
and deliver an instrument transferring to such successor Trustee all the estate, properties, rights, 
immunities, powers and trusts of such predecessor and the Trust Corpus; and every predecessor 
Trustee shall deliver all property and moneys, together with a full accounting thereof, held by it 
under the Indenture to its successor.  Should any instrument in writing from the Issuer be 
required by any successor Trustee for more fully and certainly vesting in such Trustee the estate, 
properties, rights, immunities, powers and trusts vested or intended to be vested in the 
predecessor Trustee, any such instrument in writing shall, on request, be executed, acknowledged 
and delivered by the Issuer.  Any successor Trustee shall promptly notify the Issuer and the 
Paying Agent of its appointment as Trustee. 

(f) Any company into which the Trustee may be merged or converted or with which 
it may be consolidated or any company resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation 
to which it shall be a party or any company to which the Trustee may sell or transfer all or 
substantially all of its corporate trust business, provided such company shall be a national 
banking association or a bank or trust company duly organized under the laws of any state of the 
United States and shall be authorized by law and its charter to perform all the duties imposed 
upon it by the Indenture and each other Security Document shall be the successor to such Trustee 
without the execution or filing of any paper or the performance of any further act. (Section 9.08) 

Defeasance. 

(a) If the Issuer shall pay or cause to be paid, or there shall otherwise be paid, to the 
Holders of all Bonds the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, of, interest and all other 
amounts due or to become due thereon or in respect thereof, at the times and in the manner 
stipulated therein and in the Indenture, and all fees and expenses and other amounts due and 
payable under the Indenture and the Loan Agreement, and any other amounts required to be 
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rebated to the federal government pursuant to the Tax Regulatory Agreement or the Indenture, 
shall be paid in full, then the pledge of any loan payments, revenues or receipts from or in 
connection with the Security Documents or the Facility under the Indenture and the estate and 
rights thereby granted, and all covenants, agreements and other obligations of the Issuer to the 
Bondholders under the Indenture shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void and be 
discharged and satisfied and the Bonds shall thereupon cease to be entitled to any lien, benefit or 
security under the Indenture, except as to moneys or securities held by the Trustee or the Paying 
Agents as provided below in this subsection.  At the time of such cessation, termination, 
discharge and satisfaction, (1) the Trustee shall cancel and discharge the lien of the Indenture and 
execute and deliver to the Institution all such instruments as may be appropriate to satisfy such 
liens and to evidence such discharge and satisfaction, and (2) the Trustee and the Paying Agents 
shall pay over or deliver to the Institution or on its order all moneys or securities held by them 
pursuant to the Indenture which are not required (i) for the payment of the principal or 
Redemption Price, if applicable, or interest on Bonds not theretofore surrendered for such 
payment or redemption, (ii) for the payment of all such other amounts due or to become due 
under the Security Documents, or (iii) for the payment of any amounts the Trustee has been 
directed to pay to the federal government under the Tax Regulatory Agreement or the Indenture. 

(b) Bonds or interest installments for the payment or redemption of which moneys (or 
Defeasance Obligations which shall not be subject to call or redemption or prepayment prior to 
maturity and the full and timely payment of the principal of and interest on which when due, 
together with the moneys, if any, set aside at the same time, will provide funds sufficient for such 
payment or redemption) shall then be set aside and held in trust by the Trustee or Paying Agents, 
whether at or prior to the maturity or the redemption date of such Bonds, shall be deemed to have 
been paid within the meaning and with the effect expressed in subsection (a) of this heading, if 
(i) in case any such Bonds are to be redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, all action necessary 
to redeem such Bonds shall have been taken and notice of such redemption shall have been duly 
given or provision satisfactory under the requirements of the Indenture to the Trustee shall have 
been made for the giving of such notice, and (ii) if the maturity or redemption date of any such 
Bond shall not then have arrived, (y) provision shall have been made by deposit with the Trustee 
or other methods satisfactory to the Trustee for the payment to the Holders of any such Bonds of 
the full amount to which they would be entitled by way of principal or Redemption Price, and 
interest and all other amounts then due under the Security Documents to the date of such 
maturity or redemption, and (z) provision satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made for the 
mailing of a notice to the Holders of such Bonds that such moneys are so available for such 
payment on such maturity or redemption date. (Section 10.01) 

Limitation on Modifications. 

The Indenture shall not be modified or amended in any respect except as provided in and 
in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the Indenture. (Section 11.01) 

Supplemental Indentures Without Bondholder’s Consent. 

(a) The Issuer and the Trustee may, from time to time and at any time, enter into 
Supplemental Indentures without the consent of the Bondholders for any of the following 
purposes: 
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 (i) To cure any formal defect, omission or ambiguity in the Indenture or in 
any description of property subject to the lien of the Indenture, if such action in the 
Opinion of Counsel is not materially adverse to the interests of the Bondholders. 

 (ii) To grant to or confer upon the Trustee for the benefit of the Bondholders 
any additional rights, remedies, powers, authority or security which may lawfully be 
granted or conferred and which are not contrary to or inconsistent with the Indenture as 
theretofore in effect. 

 (iii) To add to the covenants and agreements of the Issuer in the Indenture 
other covenants and agreements to be observed by the Issuer which are not contrary to or 
inconsistent with the Indenture as theretofore in effect. 

 (iv) To add to the limitations and restrictions in the Indenture other limitations 
and restrictions to be observed by the Issuer which are not contrary to or inconsistent 
with the Indenture as theretofore in effect. 

 (v) To confirm, as further assurance, any pledge under, and the subjection to 
any lien or pledge created or to be created by, the Indenture, of the properties of the 
Facility, or revenues or other income from or in connection with the Facility or of any 
other moneys, securities or funds, or to subject to the lien or pledge of the Indenture 
additional revenues, properties or collateral. 

 (vi) To modify or amend such provisions of the Indenture as shall, in the 
opinion of Nationally Recognized Bond Counsel, be necessary to assure that the interest 
on the Bonds not be includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

 (vii) To effect any other change under the Indenture which, in the judgment of 
the Trustee, is not to the material prejudice of the Trustee or the Bondholders. 

 (vii) To modify, amend or supplement the Indenture or any Supplemental 
Indenture in such manner as to permit the qualification thereof under the Trust Indenture 
Act of 1939 or any similar federal statute hereafter in effect or to permit the qualification 
of the Bonds for sale under the securities laws of the United States of America or of any 
of the states of the United States of America, and, if they so determine, to add to the 
Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture such other terms, conditions and provisions as 
may be permitted by said Trust Indenture Act of 1939 or similar federal statute. 

(b) Before the Issuer and the Trustee shall enter into any Supplemental Indenture 
pursuant to this heading, there shall have been filed with the Trustee an opinion of Nationally 
Recognized Bond Counsel stating that such Supplemental Indenture is authorized or permitted 
by the Indenture and complies with its terms, and that upon execution it will be valid and binding 
upon the Issuer in accordance with its terms. (Section 11.02) 

Supplemental Indentures With Bondholders’ Consent. 

(a) Subject to the terms and provisions contained in the Indenture, the Majority 
Holders shall have the right from time to time, to consent to and approve the entering into by the 
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Issuer and the Trustee of any Supplemental Indenture as shall be deemed necessary or desirable 
by the Issuer for the purpose of modifying, altering, amending, adding to or rescinding, in any 
particular, any of the terms or provisions contained in the Indenture.  Nothing contained in the 
Indenture shall permit, or be construed as permitting, (i) a change in the times, amounts or 
currency of payment of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, or interest on any 
Outstanding Bonds, a change in the terms of redemption or maturity of the principal of or the 
interest on any Outstanding Bonds, or a reduction in the principal amount of or the Redemption 
Price of any Outstanding Bond or the rate of interest thereon, or any extension of the time of 
payment thereof, without the consent of the Holder of such Bond, (ii) the creation of a lien upon 
or pledge of the Trust Estate other than the liens or pledge created by the Indenture and the other 
Security Documents, (iii) a preference or priority of any Bond or Bonds over any other Bond or 
Bonds, (iv) a reduction in the aggregate principal amount of Bonds required for consent to such 
Supplemental Indenture, or (v) a modification, amendment or deletion with respect to any of the 
terms set forth in this subsection, without, in the case of items (ii) through and including (v) of 
this subsection, the written consent of one hundred percent (100%) of the Holders of the 
Outstanding Bonds. 

(b) If at any time the Issuer shall determine to enter into any Supplemental Indenture 
for any of the purposes of the terms of this heading, it shall cause notice of the proposed 
Supplemental Indenture to be mailed, postage prepaid, to all Bondholders.  Such notice shall 
briefly set forth the nature of the proposed Supplemental Indenture, and shall state that a copy 
thereof is on file at the offices of the Trustee for inspection by all Bondholders. 

(c) Within one year after the date of such notice, the Issuer and the Trustee may enter 
into such Supplemental Indenture in substantially the form described in such notice only if there 
shall have first been filed with the Trustee (i) the written consents of the Majority Holders or the 
Holders of not less than 100%, as the case may be, in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 
then Outstanding and (ii) an opinion of Nationally Recognized Bond Counsel stating that such 
Supplemental Indenture (A) is authorized or permitted by the Indenture and complies with its 
terms, and that upon execution it will be valid and binding upon the Issuer in accordance with its 
terms and (B) will not cause the interest on any Series of Bonds to become includable in gross 
income for federal income tax purposes.  Each valid consent shall be effective only if 
accompanied by proof of the holding, at the date of such consent, of the Bonds with respect to 
which such consent is given.  A certificate or certificates by the Trustee that it has examined such 
proof and that such proof is sufficient in accordance with the Indenture shall be conclusive that 
the consents have been given by the Holders of the Bonds described in such certificate or 
certificates.  Any such consent shall be binding upon the Holder of the Bonds giving such 
consent and upon any subsequent Holder of such Bonds and of any Bonds issued in exchange 
therefor (whether or not such subsequent Holder thereof has notice thereof), unless such consent 
is revoked in writing by the Holder of such Bonds giving such consent or a subsequent Holder 
thereof by filing such revocation with the Trustee prior to the execution of such Supplemental 
Indenture. 

(d) If the Holders of not less than the percentage of Bonds as set forth in this heading 
shall have consented to and approved the execution thereof as provided in the Indenture, no 
Holder of any Bond shall have any right to object to the execution of such Supplemental 
Indenture, or to object to any of the terms and provisions contained in the Indenture or the 
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operation thereof, or in any manner to question the propriety of the execution thereof, or to 
enjoin or restrain the Issuer from executing the same or from taking any action pursuant to the 
provisions thereof. 

(e) Upon the execution of any Supplemental Indenture pursuant to the provisions of 
the Indenture, the Indenture shall be deemed to be modified and amended in accordance 
therewith, and the respective rights, duties and obligations under the Indenture of the Issuer, the 
Trustee and all Holders of Bonds then Outstanding shall thereafter be determined, exercised and 
enforced under the Indenture, subject in all respects to such modifications and amendments. 
(Section 11.03) 

Amendments of Related Security Documents Not Requiring Consent of the Bondholders. 

The Issuer and the Trustee may, without the consent of or notice to the Bondholders, 
consent (if required) to any amendment, change or modification of any of the Related Security 
Documents for any of the following purposes:  (i) to cure any ambiguity, inconsistency, formal 
defect or omission therein; (ii) to grant to or confer upon the Trustee for the benefit of the 
Bondholders any additional rights, remedies, powers, authority or security which may be 
lawfully granted or conferred; (iii) to subject thereto additional revenues, properties or collateral; 
(iv)  to evidence the succession of a successor Trustee or to evidence the appointment of a 
separate or co-Trustee or the succession of a successor separate or co-Trustee; (v) to make any 
change required in connection with a permitted amendment to a Related Security Document or a 
permitted Supplemental Indenture; and (vi) to make any other change that, in the judgment of the 
Trustee (which, in exercising such judgment, may conclusively rely, and shall be protected in 
relying, in good faith, upon an Opinion of Counsel or an opinion or report of engineers, 
accountants or other experts) does not materially adversely affect the Bondholders.  The Trustee 
shall have no liability to any Bondholder or any other Person for any action taken by it in good 
faith pursuant to terms set forth in this heading.  Before the Issuer or the Trustee shall enter into 
or consent to any amendment, change or modification to any of the Related Security Documents, 
there shall be filed with the Trustee an opinion of Nationally Recognized Bond Counsel to the 
effect that such amendment, change or modification will not cause the interest on any of the 
Bonds to cease to be excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under the 
Code. (Section 12.02) 

Amendments of Related Security Documents Requiring Consent of Bondholders. 

Except as provided under the Indenture, the Issuer and the Trustee shall not consent to 
any amendment, change or modification of any of the Related Security Documents, without 
mailing of notice and the written approval or consent of the Majority Holders given and procured 
as in the heading “Supplemental Indentures with Bondholder’s Consent”; provided, however, 
there shall be no amendment, change or modification to (i) the obligation of the Institution to 
make loan payments with respect to the Bonds under the Loan Agreement or the Promissory 
Note or (ii) the Tax Regulatory Agreement, without the delivery of an opinion of Nationally 
Recognized Bond Counsel to the effect that such amendment, change, modification, reduction or 
postponement will not cause the interest on any Series of Bonds to become includable in gross 
income for federal income tax purposes.  If at any time the Institution shall request the consent of 
the Trustee to any such proposed amendment, change or modification, the Trustee shall cause 
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notice of such proposed amendment, change or modification to be mailed in the same manner as 
is provided in the Indenture with respect to Supplemental Indentures.  Such notice shall briefly 
set forth the nature of such proposed amendment, change or modification and shall state that 
copies of the instrument embodying the same are on file at the principal office of the Trustee for 
inspection by all Bondholders.  The Trustee may, but shall not be obligated to, enter into any 
such amendment, change or modification to a Related Security Document which affects the 
Trustee’s own rights, duties or immunities under such Related Security Document or otherwise.  
Before the Trustee shall enter into or consent to any amendment, change or modification to any 
of the Related Security Documents, there shall be filed with the Trustee an opinion of Nationally 
Recognized Bond Counsel to the effect that such amendment, change or modification will not 
cause the interest on any of the Bonds to cease to be excluded from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes under the Code. (Section 12.03) 

No Pecuniary Liability of Issuer or Members; No Debt of the State or the City. 

Every agreement, covenant and obligation of the Issuer under the Indenture is predicated 
upon the condition that any obligation for the payment of money incurred by the Issuer shall not 
create a debt of the State or the City and neither the State nor the City shall be liable on any 
obligation so incurred, and the Bonds shall not be payable out of any funds of the Issuer other 
than those pledged therefor but shall be a limited revenue obligation of the Issuer payable by the 
Issuer solely from the loan payments, revenues and receipts pledged to the payment thereof in 
the manner and to the extent in the Indenture specified and nothing in the Bonds, in the Loan 
Agreement, in the Indenture or in any other Security Document shall be considered as pledging 
any other funds or assets of the Issuer.  The Issuer shall not be required under the Indenture or 
the Loan Agreement or any other Security Document to expend any of its funds other than (i) the 
proceeds of the Bonds, (ii) the loan payments, revenues and receipts and other moneys pledged 
to the payment of the Bonds, (iii) any income or gains therefrom, and (iv) the Net Proceeds with 
respect to the Facility.  No provision, covenant or agreement contained in the Indenture or in the 
Bonds or any obligations therein imposed upon the Issuer or the breach thereof, shall constitute 
or give rise to or impose upon the Issuer a pecuniary liability or a charge upon its general credit.   

All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the Issuer contained 
in the Indenture shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and 
obligations of the Issuer and not of any member, director, officer, employee or agent of the 
Issuer in his individual capacity, and no recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal or 
Redemption Price, if any, of, or interest on the Bonds or for any claim based thereon or under the 
Indenture against any member, director, officer, employee or agent of the Issuer or any natural 
person executing the Bonds.  Neither the Bonds, the interest thereon, nor the Redemption Price 
thereof shall ever constitute a debt of the State or of the City and neither the State nor the City 
shall be liable on any obligation so incurred, and the Bonds shall not be payable out of any funds 
of the Issuer other than those pledged therefor. (Section 13.07) 

Priority of Indenture Over Liens. 

 The Indenture is given in order to secure funds to pay for the Project and by reason 
thereof, it is intended that the Indenture shall be superior to any laborers’, mechanics’ or 
materialmen’s liens which may be placed upon the Facility.  In compliance with Section 13 of 
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the Lien Law, the Issuer will receive the advances secured by the Indenture and will hold the 
right to receive such advances as a trust fund to be applied first for the purpose of paying the cost 
of improvements and that the Issuer will apply the same first to the payment of the costs of 
improvements before using any part of the total of the same for any other purpose. (Section 
13.08) 
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APPENDIX F 

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 

This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the “Disclosure Agreement”) is dated as of December 
28, 2017 and is executed and delivered by The Chapin School, LTD. (the “Borrower”) and The Bank of 
New York Mellon (the “Dissemination Agent”) in connection with the issuance of $25,000,000  Build 
NYC Resource Corporation Revenue Refunding Bonds (The Chapin School, LTD. Project), Series 2017 
(the “Bonds”).  The Bonds are being issued pursuant to an Indenture of Trust, dated as of December 1, 
2017 (the “Indenture”), between Build NYC Resource Corporation (the “Issuer”) and The Bank of New 
York Mellon, as Trustee (the “Trustee”).  The proceeds of the Bonds are being loaned by the Issuer to the 
Borrower pursuant to a Loan Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2017, between the Issuer and the 
Borrower (the “Loan Agreement”).   

For valuable consideration, the receipt of which is acknowledged, the Dissemination Agent and 
the Borrower covenant and agree as follows: 

SECTION  1. Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement.  This Disclosure Agreement is being 
executed and delivered by the Borrower and the Dissemination Agent for the benefit of the Bondholders 
and the beneficial owners of the Bonds, and in order to assist the Participating Underwriter in complying 
with the Rule.  The Borrower and the Dissemination Agent acknowledge that the Issuer has undertaken 
no responsibility with respect to any reports, notices or disclosures provided or required under this 
Disclosure Agreement, and has no liability to any Person, including any Holder of the Bonds, with respect 
to any such reports, notices or disclosures. 

SECTION  2. Definitions.  In addition to the definitions set forth in the Indenture and in the 
Loan Agreement, which apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement unless otherwise 
defined in this Section or above, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 

“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Borrower pursuant to, and as 
described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement. 

“Bondholder” or the term “Holder”, when used with reference to a Bond or Bonds, shall mean 
any person who shall be the registered owner of any Bond and any beneficial owner thereof. 

“Disclosure Representative” shall mean the Chief Financial Officer of the Borrower or his or her 
designee, or such other person as the Borrower shall designate in writing to the Dissemination Agent from 
time to time. 

“Dissemination Agent” shall mean the initial Dissemination Agent hereunder, which is The Bank 
of New York Mellon, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the Borrower and 
which has filed with the Trustee a written acceptance of such designation. 

“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure Agreement. 

“MSRB” shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established pursuant to Section 
15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or any successor thereto or to the functions of the 
MSRB contemplated by this Disclosure Agreement. 
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“Official Statement” shall mean the final Official Statement, dated December 20, 2017, prepared 
for use in connection with the offering and sale of the Bonds to the public by the Participating 
Underwriter, including all appendices thereto, and as the same may be amended from time to time. 

“Participating Underwriter” shall mean the original underwriter of the Bonds required to comply 
with the Rule in connection with the offering of the Bonds. 

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as the same may be amended from time to time. 

“Tax-exempt” shall mean that interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes, whether or not such interest is includable as an item of tax preference or otherwise 
includable directly or indirectly for purposes of calculating any other tax liability, including any 
alternative minimum tax or environmental tax. 

SECTION  3. Provision of Annual Reports. 

(a) The Borrower shall, within 180 days of the end of its fiscal year, commencing 
with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, provide or cause the Dissemination Agent to provide, to the 
MSRB an Annual Report which is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure 
Agreement.  On or prior to said date (except that in the event the Borrower elects to have the 
Dissemination Agent file such report, five (5) Business Days prior to such date) such Annual Report shall 
be provided by the Borrower to the Dissemination Agent together with either (i) a letter authorizing the 
Dissemination Agent to file the Annual Report with the MSRB, or (ii) a certificate stating that the 
Borrower has provided the Annual Report to the MSRB and the date on which such Annual Report was 
provided.  In each case, the Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate 
documents comprising a package, and may cross-reference other information as provided in Section 4 of 
this Disclosure Agreement; provided that the audited financial statements of the Borrower may be 
submitted separately from the balance of the Annual Report; and provided further that if audited financial 
statements of the Borrower are not available in accordance with the dates described above, unaudited 
financial statements shall be provided and such audited financial statements shall be submitted as soon as 
practicable after the audited financial statements become available.  The Borrower shall promptly notify 
the Dissemination Agent of any change in the Borrower’s fiscal year. 

(b) If by 15 days prior to the date specified in subsection (a) for providing the 
Annual Report to the MSRB, the Dissemination Agent has not received a copy of the Annual Report, the 
Dissemination Agent shall contact the Borrower to request a report regarding compliance with the 
provisions governing the Annual Report. 

(c) If the Dissemination Agent is unable to verify that an Annual Report has been 
provided to the MSRB by the date required in subsection (a), the Dissemination Agent shall send a 
reminder notice to the Borrower and shall send a notice to the MSRB in substantially the form attached as 
Exhibit A hereto. 

(d) The Dissemination Agent shall file a report with the Borrower and the Trustee (if 
the Dissemination Agent is not the Trustee) certifying that the Borrower has filed a report (directly or 
through the Dissemination Agent) purporting to be an Annual Report pursuant to this Disclosure 
Agreement, and stating the date it was provided (if such report was provided). 

SECTION  4. Content of Annual Reports.  The Borrower’s Annual Report shall contain or 
incorporate by reference the following: 
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(a) audited financial statements (including footnotes) of the Borrower, which 
financial statements may be individual, combined or consolidated, prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting/auditing principles as in effect from time to time, consistently applied unless 
otherwise explained in footnotes to the financial statements provided, consisting of: 

(i) statement of financial position as of the close of the most recent 
fiscal year of the Borrower (with comparative totals for the immediately 
preceding fiscal year); 

(ii) statement of activities for the most recent fiscal year of the 
Borrower (with comparative totals for the immediately preceding fiscal year); 
and 

(iii) statement of cash flows for the most recent fiscal year of the 
Borrower (with comparative totals for the immediately preceding fiscal year); 
and 

operating data of the Borrower for such preceding fiscal year, prepared from the records of the Borrower, 
regarding the tabular financial and operating data included in the Official Statement in “Appendix A” 
under the following headings: “Enrollment Trends,” “Applications and Admission Trends” and 
“Scholastic Aptitude and Achievement Test Scores,” together with a narrative explanation, if necessary to 
avoid misunderstanding, regarding the presentation of financial and operating data concerning the 
Borrower and the financial and operating condition of the Borrower; provided, however, that the 
references above to specific section headings of Appendix A of the Official Statement used in connection 
with the Bonds as a means of identification shall not prevent the Borrower from reorganizing such 
material in subsequent official statements or Annual Reports. 

(b) Any or all of the items listed above may be incorporated by reference from other 
documents, including financial statements provided under (a) above, the original Official Statement for 
the Bonds, or other official statements of debt issues with respect to which the Borrower is an “obligated 
person” (as defined by the Rule), which have been (i) made available to the public on the MSRB’s 
Electronic Municipal Markets Access (EMMA) System, the current internet web address of which is 
www.emma.msrb.org, or (ii) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  If the document 
incorporated by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from the MSRB.  The 
Borrower shall clearly identify each such other document so incorporated by reference. 

SECTION  5. Reporting of Listed Events. 

(a) The Borrower shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, give notice of the 
occurrence of any of the following Listed Events relating to the Bonds to the MSRB in a timely manner 
not later than ten (10) Business Days after the occurrence of any such Listed Event: 

(1) Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

(2) Non-payment related defaults, if material; 

(3) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting 
financial difficulties; 

(4) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting 
financial difficulties; 
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(5) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers or their 
failure to perform; 

(6) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal 
Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, 
Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material 
notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or 
other material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds; 

(7) Modifications to the rights of the Bondowners, if 
material; 

(8) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

(9) Defeasances; 

(10) Release, substitution or sale of property securing 
repayment of the Bonds, if material; 

(11) Rating changes; 

(12) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of 
the Borrower (or any other obligated person, as defined in the Rule); 

Note to clause (12):  For the purposes of the event identified in clause 
(12) above, the event is considered to occur when any of the following 
occur:  the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for 
the Borrower (or any other obligated person, as defined in the Rule) in a 
proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding 
under state or federal law in which a court or government authority has 
assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the 
Borrower (or any other obligated person, as defined in the Rule), or if 
such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing 
body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision 
and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order 
confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a 
court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over 
substantially all of the assets or business of the Borrower (or any other 
obligated person, as defined in the Rule); 

(13) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or 
acquisition involving the Borrower (or any other obligated person, as 
defined in the Rule) or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of 
the Borrower (or any other obligated person, as defined in the Rule), 
other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive 
agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive 
agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if 
material; and 

(14) Appointment of a successor or additional Trustee or the 
change of the name of the Trustee, if material. 
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(b) The Dissemination Agent shall, promptly after obtaining actual knowledge of the 
occurrence or possible occurrence of any of the Listed Events set forth in subsection (a) above, contact 
the Disclosure Representative and inform such person of the event.  “Actual knowledge” for purposes of 
this subsection (b) shall mean actual knowledge of an officer of the Corporate Trust Administration of the 
Dissemination Agent. 

(c) Whenever the Borrower obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event 
set forth in clauses (2), (7), (8) (relating to Bond calls only), (10), (13) or (14) of subsection (a) above, 
whether because of a notice from the Dissemination Agent pursuant to subsection (b) or otherwise, the 
Borrower shall as soon as possible determine if such event would constitute material information for 
Bondholders, and if such event is determined by the Borrower to be material, the Borrower shall, or shall 
cause the Dissemination Agent to, give notice of such event to the MSRB not later than ten (10) Business 
Days after the occurrence of such event. 

(d) If the Borrower elects to have the Dissemination Agent file notice of any Listed 
Event, the Borrower will provide the notice to the Dissemination Agent within five (5) Business Days 
after the occurrence of the Listed Event, along with an instruction to file the notice with the MSRB. 

SECTION  6. Termination of Reporting Obligation. 

(a) The Borrower’s and the Dissemination Agent’s obligations under this Disclosure 
Agreement shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the 
Bonds.  If the Borrower’s obligations under the Loan Agreement are assumed in full by some other entity, 
such person shall be responsible for compliance with this Disclosure Agreement in the same manner as if 
it were the Borrower. The original Borrower shall have no further responsibility hereunder only to the 
extent that the Borrower ceases to be an obligated person with respect to the Bonds within the meaning of 
the Rule. 

(b) In addition, the Borrower’s obligations under the provisions of this Disclosure 
Agreement shall terminate (in whole or in part, as the case may be) in the event that (1) the Borrower 
delivers to the Dissemination Agent and the Trustee an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel or 
counsel expert in federal securities laws, addressed to the Dissemination Agent and the Trustee, to the 
effect that those portions of the Rule which require the provisions of this Disclosure Agreement, or any of 
such provisions, do not or no longer apply to the Bonds, whether because such portions of the Rule are 
invalid, have been repealed, or otherwise, as shall be specified in such opinion (but such termination of 
the Borrower’s obligations shall be effective only to the extent specifically addressed by such opinion), 
and (2) the Dissemination Agent delivers copies of such opinion to (i) the MSRB, (ii) the Trustee (if other 
than the Dissemination Agent), and (iii) Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, as the Participating Underwriter.  
The Dissemination Agent shall so deliver such opinion promptly. 

SECTION  7. Dissemination Agent. 

(a) The Borrower may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination Agent 
to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement, and may discharge any such 
Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent.  If at any time there is 
not any other designated Dissemination Agent, the Trustee shall be the Dissemination Agent. 

(b) The Dissemination Agent, or any successor thereof, may at any time resign and 
be discharged of its duties and obligations hereunder by giving not less than thirty (30) days written 
notice to the Borrower and the registered owners of the Bonds, specifying the date when such resignation 
shall take effect.   
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(c) In case the Dissemination Agent, or any successor thereof, shall resign or shall be 
removed or shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent, or if a 
receiver, liquidator or conservator of the Dissemination Agent or of its property shall be appointed, or if 
any public officer shall take charge of control of the Dissemination Agent, or of its property or affairs, the 
Borrower may forthwith appoint a Dissemination Agent to act.  The Borrower shall give or cause to be 
given written notice of any such appointment to the registered Holders of the Bonds, the Trustee (if the 
Trustee is not the Dissemination Agent), and the Issuer. 

(d) Any company into which the Dissemination Agent may be merged or with which 
it may be consolidated or any company resulting from any merger or consolidation to which it shall be a 
party or any company to which such Dissemination Agent may sell or transfer all or substantially all of its 
corporate trust business, shall be the successor to such Dissemination Agent, without any further act or 
deed. 

SECTION  8. Amendment; Waiver.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure 
Agreement, the Borrower and the Dissemination Agent may amend this Disclosure Agreement (and the 
Dissemination Agent shall agree to any amendment not modifying or otherwise affecting its duties, 
obligations or liabilities in such a way as they are expanded or increased) and any provision of this 
Disclosure Agreement may be waived, if all of the following conditions are satisfied:  (1) such 
amendment is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal 
(including regulatory) requirements, a change in law (including rules or regulations) or in interpretations 
thereof, or a change in the identity, nature or status of the Borrower or the type of business conducted 
thereby, (2) this Disclosure Agreement as so amended would have complied with the requirements of the 
Rule as of the date of this Disclosure Agreement, after taking into account any amendments or 
interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances, (3) the Borrower shall have delivered 
an opinion of counsel, addressed to the Borrower, the Issuer, the Dissemination Agent and the Trustee, to 
the same effect as set forth in clause (2) above, (4) either (i) the Borrower shall have delivered to the 
Trustee and the Dissemination Agent an opinion of counsel, or a determination by a person, in each case 
unaffiliated with the Borrower (such as bond counsel) and acceptable to the Borrower, to the effect that 
the amendment does not materially impair the interests of the Holders of the Bonds or (ii) the Holders of 
the Bonds consent to the amendment to this Disclosure Agreement pursuant to the same procedures as are 
required for amendments to the Indenture with consent of the Holders of the Bonds pursuant to the 
Indenture as in effect on the date of this Disclosure Agreement, and (5) the Borrower shall have delivered 
copies of such opinion(s) and amendment to the MSRB.  The Dissemination Agent may rely and act upon 
such opinions. 

SECTION  9. Additional Information.  Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed 
to prevent the Borrower from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set 
forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, or including any other 
information in any Annual Report or notice of the occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which 
is required by this Disclosure Agreement.  If the Borrower chooses to include any information in any 
Annual Report or notice of the occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is specifically 
required by this Disclosure Agreement, the Borrower shall have no obligation under this Disclosure 
Agreement to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of the 
occurrence of a Listed Event.  Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed to prevent The 
Bank of New York Mellon from providing a notice or disclosure as it may deem appropriate pursuant to 
any other capacity it may be acting in relation to the Bonds. 

SECTION  10. Default.  In the event of a failure of the Borrower or the Dissemination Agent to 
comply with any provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Dissemination Agent may (and, at the 
request of the Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Bonds who have 
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provided security and indemnity deemed acceptable to the Dissemination Agent, shall), or any party who 
can establish beneficial ownership of any of the Bonds, or any Bondholder may, after providing fifteen 
(15) days written notice to the Borrower to give the Borrower opportunity to comply within such fifteen-
day period, take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandamus or 
specific performance by court order, to cause the Borrower to comply with its obligations under this 
Disclosure Agreement.  A default under this Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed an Event of 
Default under the Indenture or under the Loan Agreement, and the sole remedy available to the 
Dissemination Agent, any beneficial owners of the Bonds or the Bondholders under this Disclosure 
Agreement in the event of any failure of the Borrower or the Dissemination Agent to comply with this 
Disclosure Agreement shall be an action to compel performance. 

SECTION  11. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Dissemination Agent. 

(a) The Dissemination Agent shall have only such duties as are specifically set forth 
in this Disclosure Agreement.  To the extent that the Dissemination Agent is required under the terms of 
this Disclosure Agreement to report any information, it is only required to report information that it 
receives from the Borrower in the form in which it is received, and the Dissemination Agent shall be 
under no responsibility or duty with respect to the accuracy and content of the information which it 
receives from the Borrower.  The Borrower agrees to indemnify and save the Dissemination Agent, its 
officers, directors, employees and agents harmless against any loss, expense and liability which it may 
incur arising out of or in the exercise or performance of its powers and duties hereunder, including the 
costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) of defending against any claim of 
liability, but excluding liabilities due to the Dissemination Agent’s negligence or misconduct.  The 
obligations of the Borrower under this Section shall survive resignation or removal of the Dissemination 
Agent. 

(b) Unless otherwise provided by contract with the Dissemination Agent, the 
Borrower shall pay or cause to be paid to the Dissemination Agent after reasonable notice to the Borrower 
in light of the reimbursement sought to be received, reasonable reimbursement for its reasonable 
expenses, charges, counsel fees and expenses  and other disbursements and those of its attorneys, agents, 
and employees, incurred in and about the performance of its powers and duties hereunder.  The Borrower 
shall indemnify and save the Dissemination Agent harmless against any expenses and liabilities which it 
may incur in the exercise and performance of its powers and duties hereunder which are not due to its 
negligence, misconduct, or default.  None of the provisions contained in this Disclosure Agreement shall 
require the Dissemination Agent to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur financial liability in 
the performance of any of its duties or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers.  The obligations of 
the Borrower under this Section to compensate the Dissemination Agent, to pay or reimburse the 
Dissemination Agent for reasonable expenses, disbursements, charges and counsel fees and to indemnify 
and hold harmless the Dissemination Agent shall survive the termination of this Disclosure Agreement. 

(c) In no event shall the Dissemination Agent be liable for incidental, indirect, 
special, consequential or punitive damages (including, but not limited to, lost profits), even if the 
Dissemination Agent has been advised of the likelihood of such loss or damage and regardless of the form 
of action. 

SECTION  12. Transmission of Notices, Documents and Information.   

(a)  Unless otherwise required by the MSRB, all notices, documents and information 
provided to the MSRB pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement shall be provided to the MSRB’s Electronic 
Municipal Markets Access (EMMA) System, the current internet web address of which is 
www.emma.msrb.org.   
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(b) All notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shall be provided 
in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB and shall be accompanied by identifying information 
as prescribed by the MSRB. 

SECTION  13. Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the 
Issuer, the Borrower, the Trustee, the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriter, parties who 
can establish beneficial ownership of the Bonds and the Holders from time to time of the Bonds, and shall 
create no rights in any other person or entity. 

SECTION  14. Counterparts.  This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same 
instrument. 

SECTION  15. Notices.  The parties hereto may be given notices required hereunder at the 
addresses set forth for them in the Loan Agreement or the Indenture. 

SECTION  16. Applicable Law.  This Disclosure Agreement shall be governed by the laws of 
the State of New York, and by applicable federal laws. 

BORROWER: 

THE CHAPIN SCHOOL, LTD. 

By:    
Name: Marc Bogursky 
Title: Chief Financial Officer 

 

DISSEMINATION AGENT: 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON 

By:    
Name: Joseph M. Lawlor 
Title: Vice President 

 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

To Continuing Disclosure Agreement 

NOTICE TO MSRB OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 

Name of Bond Issue:  $25,000,000 Build NYC Resource Corporation Revenue Refunding Bonds (The 
Chapin School, LTD. Project), Series 2017 

Name of Borrower:  The Chapin School, LTD. 

Date of Issuance:  December 28, 2017 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that The Chapin School, LTD. (the “Borrower”) has not 
yet provided an Annual Report with respect to the above-named Bonds as required by the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement by and between the Borrower and The Bank of New York Mellon (the 
“Dissemination Agent”) dated as of December 28, 2017.  The Borrower has informed the Dissemination 
Agent that the Annual Report will be filed with the Dissemination Agent by                               . 

Dated:____________________ 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, 
    as Dissemination Agent 

By:_________________________________ 

Name: ___________________________ 
Title: ____________________________ 

 

cc: Borrower 
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APPENDIX G 

Proposed Form of Opinion of Bond Counsel  

December 28, 2017 

Build NYC Resource Corporation 
New York, New York  

Re: $25,000,000 Build NYC Resource Corporation 
Revenue Refunding Bonds (The Chapin School, LTD. Project), Series 2017 

 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have acted as bond counsel to the Build NYC Resource Corporation (New York, New 
York) (the “Issuer”), in connection with the issuance on the date hereof by the Issuer of its 
Revenue Refunding Bonds (The Chapin School, LTD. Project), Series 2017 in the aggregate 
principal amount of $25,000,000 (the “Bonds”).  The Bonds are authorized to be issued pursuant 
to: 

(i)  Section 1411 of the New York Not-for-Profit Corporation Law (the “Act”),  

(ii)  the Bond Resolution duly adopted by the Issuer on December 12, 2017 (the 
“Resolution”), and  

(iii)  the Indenture of Trust, dated as of December 1, 2017 (the “Indenture”), by and 
between the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee for the benefit of the Owners of 
the Bonds (the “Trustee”).  The Bonds were issued to finance and/or refinance the costs of 
improving, renovating, furnishing and equipping of certain facilities (as defined in the Loan 
Agreement referenced below) (collectively, the “Project”). 

The Issuer will loan the proceeds of the Bonds to The Chapin School, LTD., a New York 
not-for-profit education corporation exempt from federal taxation pursuant to Section 501(c)(3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Institution”), pursuant to the terms of a 
Loan Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”), dated as of December 1, 2017, between the Issuer and 
the Institution.  The Institution has evidenced its obligations to make loan payments to the Issuer 
by the issuance and delivery of a certain Promissory Note, dated December 28, 2017 (the “Note”), 
from the Institution to the Issuer and endorsed by the Issuer to the Trustee. 

The Issuer and the Institution have entered into a Tax Regulatory Agreement, dated the 
date hereof (the “Tax Regulatory Agreement”), in which the Issuer and the Institution have made 
certain representations and covenants, established certain conditions and limitations and created 
certain expectations, relating to compliance with the requirements imposed by the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC (the 
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“Underwriter”) has agreed to purchase the Bonds from the Issuer pursuant to the terms of a Bond 
Purchase Agreement, dated December 20, 2017 (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”), among the 
Issuer, the Underwriter and the Institution.  

Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings 
assigned thereto in Section 1.01 of the Indenture. 

The Bonds are dated the date hereof, and bear interest from the date thereof pursuant to the 
respective terms of the Bonds.  The Bonds are subject to prepayment or redemption prior to 
maturity, as a whole or in part, at such time or times, under such circumstances and in such manner 
as is set forth in the Bonds and the Indenture. 

As bond counsel, we have examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified 
to our satisfaction, of such instruments, certificates and documents (including all documents 
constituting the Record of Proceedings with respect to the issuance of the Bonds) as we have 
deemed necessary or appropriate for the purposes of the opinions rendered below.  In such 
examination, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, the authenticity and due 
execution of all documents submitted to us as originals and the conformity to the original 
documents of all documents submitted to us as copies.  As to any facts material to our opinion, 
without having conducted any independent investigation, we have relied upon, and assumed the 
accuracy and truthfulness of, the aforesaid instruments, certificates and documents. 

In rendering the opinions set forth below, we have relied upon, among other things, certain 
representations and covenants made by the parties in this transaction including: (i) the Institution 
in (a) the Bond Purchase Agreement; (b) the Tax Regulatory Agreement; (c) the Loan Agreement; 
(d) the Official Statement, dated December 20, 2017 (the “Official Statement”); (e) the 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated December 28, 2017 (the “Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement”) between the Institution and the Trustee; and (f) the Bond Counsel Questionnaire 
submitted to us by the Institution, as amended and supplemented (the “Bond Counsel 
Questionnaire”); and (ii) the Issuer in (a) the Bond Purchase Agreement; (b) the Indenture; (c) the 
Tax Regulatory Agreement; (d) the Loan Agreement; (e) the Certificate of Determination, dated 
the date hereof; and (f) the General Certificate of the Issuer, dated the date hereof.  We call your 
attention to the fact that there are certain requirements with which the Issuer and the Institution 
must comply after the date of issuance of the Bonds in order for the interest on the Bonds to remain 
excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes.  Copies of the aforementioned 
documents are included in the Record of Proceedings. 

In addition, in rendering the opinions set forth below, we have relied upon the opinions of 
the General Counsel of the Issuer, Meredith J. Jones, Esq., counsel to the Institution, Orrick, 
Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, New York, New York, and counsel to the Trustee, Paparone Law 
PLLC, New York, New York, all of even date herewith.  Copies of the aforementioned opinions 
are contained in the Record of Proceedings. 

 
Based upon and subject to the foregoing, we are of the opinion that: 

1. The Issuer is a duly organized and existing corporate entity constituting a local 
development corporation of the State of New York. 
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2. The Issuer is duly authorized to issue, execute, sell and deliver the Bonds, for the 
purpose of paying the costs described above. 

3. The Resolution has been duly adopted by the Issuer and is in full force and effect. 

4. The Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Tax Regulatory Agreement and the Bond 
Purchase Agreement have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Issuer, and are 
legal, valid and binding obligations of the Issuer, enforceable against the Issuer in accordance with 
their respective terms. 

5. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Issuer and are 
legal, valid and binding special obligations of the Issuer payable solely from the revenues derived 
from the Loan Agreement, enforceable against the Issuer in accordance with their respective terms.   

6. The Bonds do not constitute a debt of the State of New York or of The City of New 
York and neither the State of New York nor The City of New York will be liable thereon. 

7. The Code sets forth certain requirements which must be met subsequent to the 
issuance and delivery of the Bonds for interest thereon to be and remain excluded from gross 
income for Federal income tax purposes.  Noncompliance with such requirements could cause the 
interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income for Federal income tax purposes retroactive 
to the date of issue of the Bonds.  Pursuant to the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Tax 
Regulatory Agreement, the Issuer and the Institution have covenanted to maintain the exclusion 
from gross income of the interest on the Bonds pursuant to Section 103 of the Code.  In addition, 
the Issuer and the Institution have made certain representations and certifications in the Indenture, 
the Loan Agreement and the Tax Regulatory Agreement.  We are also relying on the opinion of 
counsel to the Institution, as to the status of the Institution as an organization described in Section 
501(c)(3) of the Code and exempt from Federal income tax under Section 501(a) of the Code.  We 
have not independently verified the accuracy of those certifications and representations or that 
opinion. 

Under existing law, assuming compliance with the tax covenants described herein and the 
accuracy of the aforementioned representations and certifications, interest on the Bonds is 
excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Code.  We 
are also of the opinion that such interest is not treated as a preference item in calculating the 
alternative minimum tax imposed under the Code with respect to individuals and corporations.  
Interest on the Bonds is, however, included in the adjusted current earnings of certain corporations 
for purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations. 

8. Interest on the Bonds is exempt from personal income taxes imposed by the State 
of New York or any political subdivision of the State of New York (including The City of New 
York), assuming compliance with the tax covenants and the accuracy of the representations and 
certifications described in paragraph 7 herein. 

Except as stated in the paragraphs 7 and 8 we express no opinion as to any other Federal, 
state or local tax consequences of the ownership or disposition of the Bonds.  Furthermore, we 
express no opinion as to any Federal, state or local tax law consequences with respect to the Bonds, 
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or the interest thereon, if any action is taken with respect to the Bonds or the proceeds thereof upon 
the advice or approval of other counsel. 

The foregoing opinions are qualified to the extent that the enforceability of the Bonds, the 
Bond Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Tax Regulatory Agreement 
may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws or enactments now or hereafter enacted 
by the State of New York or the United States affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights and 
by restrictions on the availability of equitable remedies and to the extent, if any, that enforceability 
of the indemnification provisions of such documents may be limited under law.  We express no 
opinion with respect to the availability of any specific remedy provided for in any of the bond 
documents. 

In rendering the foregoing opinions, we are not passing upon and do not assume any 
responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, sufficiency or fairness of any documents, 
information or financial data supplied by the Issuer, the Institution or the Trustee in connection 
with the Bonds, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Tax 
Regulatory Agreement, the Official Statement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement and the 
Project, and we make no representation that we have independently verified the accuracy, 
completeness, sufficiency or fairness of any such documents, information or financial data. In 
addition, we express no opinion herein with respect to the accuracy, completeness, sufficiency or 
fairness of the Official Statement, with respect to the Bonds. 

We express no opinion herein with respect to the registration requirements under the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the registration or qualification requirements under the Trust 
Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, the registration, qualification or other requirements of State 
Securities laws or the availability of exemptions therefrom. 

We express no opinion as to the sufficiency of the description of the Facility Realty or the 
Facility Personalty contained in the Loan Agreement or as to the adequacy, perfection or priority 
of any security interest in any collateral securing the Bonds. 

Furthermore, we express no opinion as to the Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  We 
express no opinion with respect to whether the Issuer and the Institution (i) have complied with 
environmental laws, (ii) have obtained any or all necessary governmental approvals, consents or 
permits, or (iii) have complied with the New York Labor Law or other applicable laws, rules, 
regulations, orders and zoning and building codes, all in connection with the improvement, 
renovation, equipping, furnishing and operation of the Facility. 

 
The opinions expressed herein may be relied upon by the addressees and may not be relied 

upon by any other person without our prior written consent.   
 

Very truly yours, 
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